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In the opinion of the Directors of Mackay Sugar Limited: 
 
1. The consolidated financial statements and notes as set out on pages 2 to 139 are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

a. Comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
b. Give a true and fair view of the Groupôs financial position as at 31 May 2019 and of its performance 

for the financial year ended on that date; and 
 
2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 
3. At the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group 

entities identified in note 32 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may 
become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those Group 
entities pursuant to ASIC Instrument 2016/785. 

 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 

        
 
MR Day         PA Manning 
Director (Chairman)        Director (Deputy Chairman) 
 
Dated: 21 August 2019 
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 Consolidated Group 
Note   

 May 
 2019 
 $ô000 

  
 May 
 2018 
 $ô000 

Revenue from operating activities   

Revenue  ............................................................................................... 2(a)  405 098  450 894 

Finance revenue .................................................................................... 2(b)  325  356 

Total revenue .............................................................................................   405 423  451 250 

   

Changes in inventories of finished goods ....................................................   (564)  (3 748) 

Cost of sales ................................................................................................   (221 212)  (249 457) 

Gross profit ................................................................................................   183 647  198 045 

   

Revenue from non-operating activities .................................................. 2(c)  1  307 

   

Maintenance expenses ................................................................................   (53 820)  (50 887) 

Operating expenses ....................................................................................   (83 636)  (84 584) 

Administration expenses .............................................................................   (44 335)  (45 385) 

Distribution and marketing expenses ..........................................................   (8 095)  (8 339) 

Depreciation.............................................................................. 16(e), 17(b)  (14 588)  (16 602) 

Finance costs......................................................................................... 3(a)  (15 468)  (13 301) 

Other expenses ..................................................................................... 3(b)  (2 193)  (277) 

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV ..................................... 14(a)(iv)  -  (6 900) 

Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment ........................ 16(c)  (164 404)  (2 933) 

Loss on impairment of investment property ........................................ 17(e)  (656)  - 

Share of profits of associate and joint venture ............................................   13 355  10 429 

   

Profit/(loss) before income tax .................................................................   (190 192)  (20 427) 

   

Income tax expense .................................................................................. 4  -  - 

Profit/(loss) for the year ............................................................................   (190 192)  (20 427) 

   

Profit attributable to:   

Members of the Company ...........................................................................   (190 192)  (20 427) 

Non-controlling interests ééééééééééééééééééééé.  -  - 

Profit for the year éééééééééééééééééééééééé.  (190 192)  (20 427) 
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 Consolidated Group 
Note   

 May 
 2019 
 $ô000 

  
 May 
 2018 
 $ô000 

   

Profit/(loss) for the year  ..............................................................................   (190 192)  (20 427) 

   

Other comprehensive income or loss   

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment ........................ 16(d)  -  - 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   

Gain on remeasurement of financial assets ................................................   1 674  885 

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges ...............................................   (15 531)  9 073 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign associated company .........   812  (1 032) 

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associated company ........   273  361 

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of the joint venture ...............   (2 025)  (150) 

  (14 797)  9 137 

Income tax expense relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/(loss) ............................................................................................. 4 

 -  - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax .......................   (14 797)  9 137 

   

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year....................................   (204 989)  (11 290) 

   

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:   

Members of the Company ...........................................................................   (204 989)  (11 290) 

Non-controlling interestsééééééééééééééééééééé.  -  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the yearé.éééééééé.  (204 989)  (11 290) 
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 Consolidated Group 
Note   

 May 
 2019 
 $ô000 

  
 May 
 2018 
 $ô000 

Assets   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  ...................................................................... 8  16 924  14 793 

Trade and other receivables ...................................................................... 9  15 495  21 384 

Other financial assets .............................................................................. 15  4 269  15 707 

Inventories ............................................................................................... 10  12 797  13 308 

Assets held-for-sale ................................................................................. 11  -  - 

Other assets ............................................................................................ 18  1 419  452 

Total current assets  50 904  65 644 

 

Non-current assets 

  

Trade and other receivables ...................................................................... 9  593  550 

Other financial assets .............................................................................. 15  32 493  34 796 

Investments accounted for using the equity method ............................... 12  85 382  81 315 

Property, plant and equipment ................................................................ 16  137 698  304 853 

Investment properties .............................................................................. 17  2 391  3 074 

Total non-current assets ...........................................................................   258 557  424 588 

Total assets ................................................................................................   309 461  490 232 

   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables ........................................................................ 19  40 708  45 055 

Interest bearing liabilities ......................................................................... 20  182 939  162 671 

Other liabilities ......................................................................................... 21  1 235  3 835 

Other financial liabilities ........................................................................... 22  415  364 

Employee benefits ................................................................................... 23  11 017  10 547 

Total current liabilities  236 314  222 472 

 

Non-current liabilities 

  

Interest bearing liabilities ......................................................................... 20  251  3 017 

Other liabilities ......................................................................................... 21  41 165  29 529 

Other financial liabilities ........................................................................... 22  29 002  27 473 

Employee benefits ................................................................................... 23  2 729  2 752 

Total non-current liabilities ......................................................................   73 147  62 771 

Total liabilities ............................................................................................   309 461  285 243 

Net assets ...................................................................................................   0  204 989 

   

Equity   

Issued capital ........................................................................................... 24  16 498  16 498 

Reserves .................................................................................................. 25  17 053  31 850 

Retained profit .............................................................................................   (33 551)  156 641 

Total equity.................................................................................................   0  204 989 
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Note 

Ordinary 
share 
capital 

Retained 
profit 

Financial 
assets 

revaluation 
reserve 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Hedging 
reserve 

Total 

  $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 

Consolidated Group           

Balance at 1 June 2017   16 498  177 068  6 107  -  3 732  12 874  216 279 

Dividends ................................................................................... 7  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners .................   -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company  ..............   -  (20 427)  -  -  -  -  (20 427) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):               

Remeasurement of financial assets ............................................   -  -  885  -  -  -  885 

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company......   -  -  -  -  (1 032)  -  (1 032) 

Cash flow hedges: gains allocated to equity ................................   -  -  -  -  -  9 073  9 073 

Share of associated companyôs hedging reserve movements.....   -  -  -  -  -  361  361 

Share of joint ventureôs hedging reserve movements ..................   -  -  -  -  -  (150)  (150) 

Total comprehensive income for the year ...................................   -  (20 427)  885  -  (1 032)  9 284  (11 290) 

Balance at 31 May 2018  16 498  156 641  6 992  -  2 700  22 158  204 989 

Dividends ................................................................................... 7  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners .................   -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company  ..............   -  (190 192)  -  -  -  -  (190 192) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):               

Remeasurement of financial assets ............................................   -  -  1 674  -  -  -  1 674 

Adjustments from translation of foreign associated company......   -  -  -  -  812  -  812 

Cash flow hedges: losses allocated to equity ..............................   -  -  -  -  -  (15 531)  (15 531) 

Share of associated companyôs hedging reserve movements.....   -  -  -  -  -  273  273 

Share of joint ventureôs hedging reserve movements ..................   -  -  -  -  -  (2 025)  (2 025) 

Total comprehensive income for the year ...................................   -  (190 192)  1 674  -  812  (17 283)  (204 989) 

Balance at 31 May 2019  16 498  (33 551)  8 666  -  3 512  4 875  0 
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 Consolidated Group 

 Note 

  
 May 
 2019 
 $ô000 

  
 May 
 2018 
 $ô000 

Cash flow from operating activities   

Receipts from sugar sales and other sales ........................................................   432 085  500 202 

Payments to cane suppliers ...............................................................................   (244 017)  (284 067) 

Payments to other suppliers and employees .....................................................   (205 240)  (205 082) 

Distributions received from associated entities ..................................................   13 236  10 624 

Interest received .................................................................................................   325  356 

Other revenue ....................................................................................................   17 627  10 061 

Finance costs .....................................................................................................   (14 077)  (12 098) 

Net cash provided by operating activities ............................................ 28(a)  (61)  19 996 

   

Cash flow from investing activities   

Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment ...............................   (13 872)  (12 281) 

Distributions received/(Contributions made) to associated entities ...................   (1 440)  1 957 

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment ..........................................   1  44 

Proceeds on sale of property held for sale ........................................................   -  280 

Proceeds on sale of subsidiary ..........................................................................   -  50 

Net cash used in investing activities .............................................................   (15 311)  (9 950) 

   

Cash flow from financing activities   

Proceeds from interest bearing activities ...........................................................   188 259  37 338 

Repayment of interest bearing activities ............................................................   (163 259)  (42 962) 

Lease liability payments .....................................................................................   (1 160)  (294) 

Decrease in growersô loans ................................................................................   441  479 

Decrease in interest bearing deposits ................................................................   (144)  (30) 

Decrease in selected-term unsecured notes .....................................................   (6 634)  (8 048) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .....................................   17 503  (13 517) 

   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .....................................   2 131  (3 471) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ................................. 8  14 793  18 264 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year...................................... 8  16 924  14 793 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies 
 
This financial report covers the economic entity of Mackay Sugar Limited and its controlled entities (referred to 
as the óGroupô). The economic entity is an unlisted public Company, limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. 
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. Material accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently 
applied unless stated otherwise.  
 
These financial statements are consolidated financial statements required to be prepared by Mackay Sugar 
Limited due to the operations of a controlled entity during the year. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
Going concern  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates 
future profit expectations and cash flow projections. It also assumes the continuing support from financiers 
and the continuity of normal business activities. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Accounting policies 
 
(a)  Principles of Consolidation 
 
The parent of the Group is Mackay Sugar Limited. Entities (including structured entities) over which the parent 
directly or indirectly exercises control are called ñsubsidiariesò. The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries. The parent controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 30. 
 
The assets, liabilities and results of subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the 
Group from the date that control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued 
from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on 
transactions between Group companies are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are referred to as ñnon-
controlling interestsò. The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in subsidiaries on a case-by-case 
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interestsô proportionate share of the subsidiaryôs net assets. 
Non-controlling interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position, 
statement of profit or loss, and statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Business combinations 
 
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.  
 
A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from 
the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
(including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions). 
 
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to 
fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified 
as existing at acquisition date.  
 
All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations other than those associated with the issue 
of a financial instrument are recognised as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  Goodwill on acquisition of associates 
is included in investments in associates.  
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Companyôs cash-generating units or Groups 
of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored but where such level is 
not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill related to the disposed entity. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(b)  Income tax 
 
The Group has implemented the tax consolidation legislation.  As a consequence, the entities that make up 
the Group are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The income tax expense/(income) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and deferred 
tax expense/(income). 
 
Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current tax 
liabilities/(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the relevant taxation 
authority. 
 
The company has a nil deferred tax expense charged to profit or loss as a result of movements in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities being exactly offset by the recognition of unused prior year tax losses as required to 
achieve a nil deferred tax effect on profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the accounts for presentation purposes and the excess 
of deferred tax assets over deferred tax liabilities has not been recognised as an asset due to management 
uncertainty on whether it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of 
the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With respect to 
non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of investment 
property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the 
basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where; (a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (b) the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of respective asset and liability will occur in future years in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
(c)  Inventories 

 
Finished goods inventory (raw sugar, molasses and large-scale generation certificates (LGCs)) is measured 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of finished goods includes the cost of cane purchases, 
direct materials, direct labour and fixed and variable production overheads, but excluding administration 
overheads. As these costs are not separately identifiable as to raw sugar, molasses and LGCs, the costs are 
allocated based on the relative sales value at the completion of production. 
 
Consumable stores, spares and chemicals are valued on the average cost method and no overheads are 
included.  These inventories are not written down below cost unless it is expected that the finished products in 
which they will be incorporated will be sold for materially less than the cost. 
 
(d)  Property held-for-sale 
 
Property held for development and sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes 
the cost of acquisition, development, foreign currency movements, borrowing costs and holding costs until 
completion of development. Borrowing costs, foreign currency movements and holding charges incurred after 
development are expensed. Profits are brought to account on the signing of an unconditional contract of sale. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(e)  Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held-for-sale and discontinued operations 
 
When the Group intends to sell a non-current asset or a Group of assets (a disposal Group), and if sale within 
12 months is highly probable, the asset or disposal Group is classified as óheld-for-saleô and presented 
separately in the statement of financial position. 
 
Liabilities are classified as óheld as saleô and presented as such in the statement of financial position if they 
are directly associated with a disposal Group. 
 
Assets classified as óheld-for-saleô are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts immediately prior to 
their classification as held-for-sale and their fair value less the estimated cost to sell.  However, some óheld-
for-saleô assets such as financial assets or deferred tax assets continue to be measured in accordance with 
the Groupôs accounting policy for those assets.  No assets classified as óheld-for-saleô are subject to 
depreciation or amortisation subsequent to their classification as óheld-for-saleô. 
 
(f)  Property, plant and equipment 
 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value, as indicated, less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and equipment 
The carrying amount of milling plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on a fair value 
basis using an appropriate valuation technique. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset. 
 
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Groupôs entities includes the cost of materials, direct labour 
and borrowing costs.  Subsequent costs are included in the assetôs carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the statement of profit and loss in the financial year in which they are incurred. 
 
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment are credited to a 
revaluation reserve in shareholders equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are 
charged against the revaluation reserve in equity; all other decreases are charged to the income statement. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation of the milling plant is calculated using the output based method. In applying the output based 
method for allocating depreciable amount, Mill factory plant and equipment and railway assets have been 
depreciated on the basis of tonnes of cane crushed by each Company mill during the 2017 crushing season. 
 
The depreciable amount for asset categories buildings, computer and office equipment and mobile plant, but 
excluding freehold land, are depreciated on a straight line basis over the assets estimated useful lives to the 
Group, commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. The depreciation rates used for these 
classes of assets are: 
 

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate 
Buildings 1 - 6% 
Plant and Equipment 2 - 33% 

 
The assetsô residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets.  However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of 
the lease or the lease will be extended, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their 
useful lives. 
 
An assetôs carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assetôs carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 
and losses are included in the statement of profit and loss.  When revalued assets are sold, amounts included 
in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when development commences and are 
included in the costs of that stage where required. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal 
of plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site. Such costs have 
been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an 
undiscounted basis. 
 
(g)  Research and development expenditure 
 
Research, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable 
area of interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped 
through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage 
that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the 
decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised on a 
systematic basis matched to the future economic benefits over the useful life of the project. 
 
A regular review is undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 
 (h)  Investment properties 
 
Investment property, comprising freehold land and residential buildings is held for strategic purposes and 
generates long term rental yields. Investment property is measured on the cost basis less depreciation and 
impairment losses. All residential property is recognised as investment property, unless the property is 
strategic to the operations of the milling business. 
 
(i)  Leases  
 
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, 
but not the legal ownership, that are transferred to entities within the Groupôs entities, are classified as finance 
leases. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair 
value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are 
allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the year. 
 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(j)  Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 

derecognised on a trade date basis, i.e. when the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset or liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are derecognised when the right to receive or pay cash flows has expired or 

been transferred. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss. The group classifies its financial assets and liabilities as either at 

amortised cost or fair value. 

The classification of financial assets depends on the basis of both: 

¶ the entityôs business model for managing the financial assets and 

¶ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 

 

Based on above criteria, financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost (AC), 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), (except 
for financial assets that are irrevocably designated to be measured at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition) 

 

 (i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets or liabilities at FVTPL are derivatives or financial assets or liabilities designated as at FVTPL. 
Equity instruments that are held for trading fall under this category. The effective portion of the fair value gain 
or loss on derivative instruments designated in cash flow hedge relationships is recognised directly in equity. 
The Groupôs accounting policy in this regard is explained in Note 1 (j) (vi) Derivative financial instruments. 

 

 (ii) Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost 

A financial asset or liability is classified at amortised cost if it is acquired by the Group where the objective is 
to collect or pay contractual cash flows on specified dates for payments of principal and interest. 

 

A financial asset is classified at amortised cost if the business model objective is to hold the assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows on specified dates for payments of principal and interest. For financial liabilities, 
amortised cost is the default classification category (with certain exceptions where FVTPL classification is 
allowed).  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, trade payables 
and loans.  

 

 (iii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

The Groupôs investments in certain equity securities that are not held for trading are designated as FVTOCI. 
The investments are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these equity investments are measured at fair value with any change 
recorded through the equity reserve. Reclassification of amounts recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity to profit or loss is not permitted at any time. Such investments are not subject to 
impairment requirements. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with AASB 118 
óRevenueô. This treatment has been selected for Groupôs investments in unlisted entities ï Sugar Terminals 
Limited and Racecourse Projects Pty Limited that are deemed to be strategic equity investments and not held 
for trading. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 (iv) Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are nonïderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.  Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial asset is derecognised. 
 
 (v)  Financial liabilities 
 
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial liability. Non-derivative financial liabilities other than 
financial guarantees are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial 
liability is derecognised. 
 
 (vi) Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross 
currency swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 35(c). 
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship. 
 
Hedge accounting 
 
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and 
non-derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of 
net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted 
for as cash flow hedges. 
 
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging 
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group 
documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. Note 35 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes. 
 
Fair value hedges 
 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in 
profit or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in profit or loss in the line item relating to the 
hedged item. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or 
when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Cash flow hedges 
 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow 
hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
and is included in the óother gains and lossesô line item. 
 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to 
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised 
hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of 
the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or 
when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or 
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
 (vii) Impairment 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. A 
financial asset (or a Group of financial assets) is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events (a ñloss eventò) having occurred, which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s).  

Where an indicator of impairment exists or where annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount (i.e. greater of an assetôs fair value less costs to sell, or 
value in use).  An Impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds the recoverable amount. 

 
 (viii) Financial guarantees 
 
Where material, financial guarantees issued that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due are recognised as 
financial liabilities at fair value on initial recognition. 
 
The fair value of financial guarantee contracts is assessed using the probability-weighted discounted cash 
flow approach.  The probability has been based on: 
 

- the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting during the next reporting period; 
- the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due to the guaranteed party 

defaulting; and 
- the maximum loss exposure if the guaranteed party were to default. 

 
Guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation in accordance with 
AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less, 
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation in accordance with AASB 118: Revenue.  Where the entity gives 
guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AASB 118. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(k)  Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that any assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exits, an impairment test is carried out on an asset by comparing the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being either the assetôs fair value less the estimated cost to sell or value-in-
use, which is compared to the assetôs carrying value. Any excess of the assetôs carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed in the profit and loss statement, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116: 
Property Plant and Equipment).  Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease 
in accordance with that other Standard.   
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 
 
(l)  Investments in associates 
 
Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence through holding, directly or indirectly, 
20% or more of the voting power of the associate company. Investments in associates are accounted for in 
the financial statements by applying the equity method of accounting, whereby the investment is initially 
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Groupôs share of net assets 
of the associate company. In addition, the Groupôs share of the profit or loss of the associate company is 
included in the Groupôs profit or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of the investment includes goodwill relating to the associate. Any discount on 
acquisition, whereby the Groupôs share of the net fair value of the associate exceeds the cost of investment, 
is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the investment is acquired. 
 
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the 
extent of the Groupôs interest in the associate. 
 
When the Groupôs share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. When the associate subsequently makes profits, the Group will 
resume recognising its share of those profits once its share of the profits equals the share of the losses not 
recognised. 
 
(m)  Interests in joint arrangements 
 
A ñjoint arrangementò is an arrangement in which the Group shares control jointly with one or more other 
parties by way of a contractual agreement and unanimous consent is required from all parties to the 
agreement with respect to decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement. 
 
A joint arrangement that is structured through a separately identifiable entity and provides the Group and the 
other parties to the arrangement with rights to the net assets of the entity is classified as a ñjoint ventureò by 
the Group. The Groupôs interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
and classified as ñinvestments accounted for using the equity methodò in the Groupôs statement of financial 
position. In accordance with the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost 
and adjusted thereafter for any post-acquisition changes in the Groupôs share of net assets of the joint 
venture, including operating profits or losses, other comprehensive income and other changes in the joint 
ventureôs equity. Distributions received from a joint venture are deducted from the carrying amount of the 
investment. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
The Groupôs share of the profit or loss of a joint venture is presented in the Groupôs statement of profit or loss 
as ñshare of profit of investments accounted for using the equity methodò. When the Groupôs share of losses 
in a joint venture equals the carrying amount of its interest in the joint venture (which includes any long term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the Groupôs net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not 
recognise any further losses in respect of the joint venture unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the joint venture. The accounting policies of joint ventures are changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.  
 
Where a joint arrangement has contractual agreements whereby the parties to the arrangement have direct 
interests in each asset and direct exposure to each liability of the arrangement, such an arrangement is 
classified by the Group as a ñjoint operationò, irrespective of whether the arrangement is structured through a 
separate vehicle. The Groupôs interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint operations are 
included in the respective line items of the Groupôs financial statements. The Group recognises gains and 
losses resulting from sales it makes to a joint operation only to the extent of the other partiesô interests in the 
joint operation. When such sales provide evidence of impairment or reduction in net realisable value, that loss 
is recognised immediately. When the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not recognise its 
share of the gains and losses from the joint arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 
However, when such purchases provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be 
purchased or of an impairment loss of those assets, the Group recognises its share of those losses. 
 
(n)  Intangibles other than goodwill 
 
Research and development 
 
Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred. Development 
costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project will deliver future economic 
benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably. 
 
Development costs have a finite life and are amortised on a systematic basis matched to the future economic 
benefits over the finite useful life of the project. 
 
(o)  Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Groupôs functional and presentation 
currency.   
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. 
 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when 
fair values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in 
the income statement. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(p)  Employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Provision is made for the Group's obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits 
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the 
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, 
salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected 
to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
 
The Group's obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The Group's 
obligations for employees' annual leave, long service leave, travel leave, some allowances and preserved 
sick leave entitlements are recognised as employee benefits in the statement of financial position. 
 
Other long-term employee benefits 
 
Provision is made for employees' annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. 
Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be 
made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, 
durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on Australian corporate bonds that have maturity dates that 
approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for 
other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur. 
 
The Group's obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current employee benefits in 
its statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are 
presented as current employee benefits. 
 
Contributions made by the Groupôs entities to employee superannuation funds are charged as expenses 
when incurred.  The Group does not currently have any defined benefit superannuation schemes which would 
require an asset or liability to be recognised for the difference between the employer established defined 
benefit superannuation planôs accrued benefits and the net value of the plans assets. 
 
 
(q)  Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Groupôs entities have a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 
measured. Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at 
the end of the reporting period. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(r)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 
 
(s)  Fair value of assets and liabilities 
 
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring 
basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 
 
Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the 
measurement date. 
  
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used 
to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the 
specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are 
determined using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. 
 
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability 
(ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such 
a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (ie the 
market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the 
liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs).  Where no market information is 
available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to 
the financial statements. 
 
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's ability to 
use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use. 
 
The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based 
payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer 
of such financial instrument, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held 
as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where 
significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements. 
 
Valuation techniques 
 

The Group selects and uses one or more valuation techniques to measure the fair values of a particular asset 
or liability. The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily 
depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques 
selected by the Group are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches: 
 
Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 

Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses  into 
a single discounted present value. 
 

Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service 
capacity. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the 
Group gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly available information on 
actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the 
asset or liability are considered ñobservableò, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and 
therefore are developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
ñunobservableò. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
The Group adopts a ñfair value hierarchyò to categorise the fair value measurements derived from the 
valuation techniques into three levels (as described below). The purpose of this classification is to indicate the 
relative subjectivity of the fair values derived. This classification is made by prioritising the inputs used in each 
valuation technique on the basis of the extent to which such inputs are observable.  
 

Level 1 
 

Level 1 fair values are considered 
to be the best indication (and 
therefore the most reliable 
evidence) of fair value. Inputs 
used to measure Level 1 fair 
values are unadjusted quoted 
prices for identical 
assets/liabilities in active markets 
(eg Australian Securities 
Exchange) where transactions 
take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing 
basis. 

Level 2 
 
Inputs used to measure Level 2 
fair values are inputs (other than 
quoted prices included in Level 1) 
that are observable either directly 
or indirectly. Level 2 inputs 
include: 
 

¶ quoted prices for similar 
assets/liabilities in active 
markets; 

 

¶ quoted prices for similar or 
identical assets/liabilities in 
non-active markets; 

 

¶ foreign exchange rates; 
 

¶ market interest rates; 
 

¶ yield curves observable at 
commonly quoted intervals; 

 

¶ implied volatilities; and 
 

¶ credit spreads. 

Level 3 
 
Level 3 fair values use 
unobservable inputs specific to 
the particular asset or liability 
because observable inputs are 
not available for such asset or 
liability. 

 
The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following circumstances: 
 

¶ if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or 3) or vice versa; or 
 

¶ if significant inputs that were previously unobservable (Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice 
versa. 

 
When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy (ie transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the event or change in 
circumstances occurred.  
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(t)  Revenue and other income 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

(i) Sale of goods ï Raw Sugar and Molasses products 

The Group manufactures and sells raw sugar and molasses products to various customers. Revenue is 
recognised when control of the product has transferred to the customer. Control passes when the product is 
delivered to the customerôs refinery, their designated storage facility (including when requested as part of a bill 
and hold arrangement), or a shipping vessel or transport vehicle organised by the customer. Control only 
transfers when it has been assessed that the customer has full discretion to whom they sell and at what price 
and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customerôs acceptance of the product.  In certain 
cases, the Group enters into swap arrangements with other suppliers in relation to products.  Under a swap 
arrangement, performance obligations are satisfied when products are delivered to the third party that is 
subject to the swap arrangement. 

Product held on behalf of customers before physical delivery, and where control has been determined to have 
transferred to the customer, is accounted for as a óbill-and-hold arrangementô. In these arrangements, 
customers do not have the storage capacity themselves to store the product, the tonnages are able to be 
separated when required,  the product is ready for physical transfer to the customer at any time, and the 
Group  does not have the ability to use the product or direct it to another customer. The performance 
obligation to arrange storage and handling and insurance as part of a bill and hold arrangement is satisfied 
over time from when the product is received in the storage facility up to the time that it is requested by the 
customer. No amounts are charged separately for storage and handling in bill and hold transactions, however 
total revenue relating to storage and handling in bill and hold transactions is separated based on its stand-
alone selling price.  

The contracts generally specify for a minimum and/or maximum nominated quantity to be supplied over the 
contract period.  Consideration is received on the basis of a price per tonne of product delivered during the 
relevant delivery period.    Where control has not yet transferred to the customer, the products are accounted 
for as finished goods inventory while they are held in storage by the Company. A product specifications 
warranty is provided specifying that the product will meet certain minimum quality parameters. Rather than 
return products, when the product is not fit for the purposes a commercial arrangement is negotiated (e.g. 
refund) rather than returning product. No provision for returns is recognised, with any price adjustments being 
reflected against revenue. Inventory is not recorded for products that are delivered within a few hours of 
production. As part of the refinery process, sugar syrups are returned from the customer, and utilised by the 
Company in future production and deducted from the tonnes invoiced each week.  

The pricing mechanism for delivery of raw sugar and molasses contains variable consideration. A settlement 
mechanism exists where amounts are invoiced to customers as the raw sugar and molasses are delivered, but 
adjustments are reflected over the contract period based on actual production quantities and variable prices 
which are based on fluctuating world sugar/molasses prices and exchange rates. In some cases, penalties or 
premiums can be applied based on the quality of the product supplied. In certain swap arrangements, an 
administration fee is charged to customers to arrange delivery of product to third party customers. As the 
contracts progress over the contract period, the variable consideration is reduced as quantities and prices are 
finalised.  The outstanding variable consideration is assessed in detail at balance dates to ensure there is no 
significant over statement of the variable consideration recognised. The allocation of transaction price to 
performance obligations is based on the specific pricing mechanism for the product which is specified in the 
contract, subject to the variable consideration adjustment attributed to the delivered product. For bill and hold 
transactions, a portion of proceeds from delivery to customers is separated to reflect the relative stand-alone 
selling price related to storage and handling of the products. 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

21 

Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

(i) Sale of goods ï Raw Sugar and Molasses products 

For some customers, progress payments are received as the product is supplied.  Revenue is accrued at 
balance dates up to the final estimated sale amount expected to be received for the using a detailed model 
which assesses and updates all components of variable consideration which make up the contract molasses 
and sugar prices.  Where product has been delivered and only the finalisation of pricing remains before full 
consideration is received, the variable consideration is accrued as a receivable.  Unbilled amounts for 
products that have been delivered to customers are recognised as a contract asset.   

(ii) Sale of goods - Electricity/Power 

The Group produces and sells various types of power such as electricity and steam to customers.  Revenue is 
recognised when control of the electricity has transferred to the customer. Control passes as soon as the 
electricity is generated as it is unable to be stored and is immediately consumed by the customer when it is 
delivered into the customerôs electricity grid or manufacturing facilities.  The electricity supplied is therefore not 
returnable or refundable once delivered.  

The electricity products are delivered to the customer on a continuous basis over the contract periods.  
Consideration is received on the basis of a price per unit of electricity delivered during the relevant delivery 
period.  Each unit delivered is generally homogenous in nature and a set uniform price per unit is received 
over the total quantity delivered.    Accordingly, the performance obligations in the contracts are accounted for 
as a number of series of distinct goods transferred over time based on the customer, the product and the 
location of connection.  Variable consideration is minimal as pricing is generally fixed at the beginning of the 
contract period and billing occurs on a regular basis.    A contract asset will exist during the month for the 
quantity of electricity (MWH) that has been supplied but not yet invoiced.  A contract receivable will exist at the 
end of each month for the quantity of electricity (MWH) that has been invoiced up until payment is received 
during the following month. 

The agreement includes generator and power performance standards that the electricity generator is required 
to meet.  The warranties in the contract are essentially assurances that the electricity services provided will 
meet certain agreed upon standards to ensure that the electricity is able to be used in the customerôs power 
grid.  The warranties are not additional goods or services and are therefore not separate performance 
obligations. 

Although part of the same contract, both units of electricity and LGCs (refer below) are based on an annual 
market price contract negotiations, which represent the stand-alone selling prices for each performance 
obligation. 

(iii) Sale of goods ï Large-scale generation certificates (LGCôs) 

As part of its electricity generation, the Group creates and sells LGCôs to customers.  The LGCs are óLarge-
scale generation certificatesô created under the óRenewable Energy (Electricity) Act 2000ô for generating 
eligible renewable energy. Revenue is recognised when control of the LGCôs has transferred to the customer. 
Control passes when the LGC certificates are registered and transferred to the customer. The LGCs are 
created on a continuous basis over the contract periods, but are registered and transferred to the customer in 
batches.  Accordingly, revenue is recognised only at the point in time in which the registration and transfer 
process takes place.  The registration and transfer process takes place a number of months after the LGCs 
are created. The LGCs transferred are not returnable or refundable once delivered. The LGCs created but not 
yet transferred to the customer at balance dates are accounted for as finished goods inventory. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

The price charged is based on the terms specified in the power purchase agreement. Where an agreement is 
referenced to market price, the variable consideration is resolved on delivery of the LGC.  Revenue for the 
outstanding LGCs that have been transferred to the customer is recognised immediately. A contract asset will 
exist during period that LGCs have been transferred to the customer but not yet invoiced. Payment is typically 
received within the following month. 

(iv) Rendering of Services 

The Group provides various services associated with its operations to customers such as transport, storage 
and handling services and support services to customerôs manufacturing facilities. These services include the 
supply of steam, electricity, potable water, process water, removing process refinery low value syrups, storage 
of spare parts and materials, and supply of ad hoc maintenance services.  Revenue from providing services is 
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. Services are not returnable or 
refundable once consumed.  Revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the 
reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the customer receives and uses 
the benefits simultaneously.  Some contracts include multiple deliverables.  For these contracts, the 
transaction prices are allocated to each separate performance obligation based on their stand-alone selling 
prices.   

Service delivery quantities and timing are determined by the customer who simultaneously receives, 
consumes, and obtains benefits of the service immediately upon delivery. The contract includes a condition on 
the Company that to the best of its knowledge, information and belief, each of the services are fit for the 
purpose for which they are intended to be used and are provided in accordance with the agreement between 
the parties. 

Customers are generally invoiced weekly or monthly for the services provided during those periods. The 
transaction prices for the each of the separate performance obligations are clearly set out in the contract and 
are updated and agreed with the customer when required.  Depending on the service provided, the services 
provided are measured using either :(i) The cumulative units of services provided to the customer to date; or 
(ii) The time period to date over which the service has been provided to the customer.  Revenue that is 
outstanding at balance dates is accrued as a receivable, with amounts typically due during the following 
month.  A contract asset will exist during the month for the services that have been provided but not yet 
invoiced.   

(v) Financing components 

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised 
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the 
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.  

(vi) Contract acquisition costs and fulfilment costs 

The Group has not capitalised any contract acquisition costs on the basis that the costs incurred relating to 
arranging contracts (including marketing and administration) are costs that would have been incurred 
regardless of whether the contract was obtained.  The Group has also not capitalised any fulfilment costs on 
entering into contracts as the costs incurred did not enhance the entityôs resources that will be used to satisfy 
future performance obligations. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(u)  Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed in 
the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
(v)  Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain 
unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts 
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 
 
(w)  Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
Borrowing costs that relate to the initial recognition of a financial asset or financial liability are classified as 
transaction costs and are included in the fair value of the asset or liability.  These transaction costs are 
amortised in the income statement over the life of the asset or liability.  All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in the income statement in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
(x)  Goods and services tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in 
the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(y)  Equity, reserves and dividend payments 
 
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 
 
Share premium includes any premium received on issue of share capital.  Any transaction costs associated 
with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefits. 
 
The revaluation reserve within equity comprises gains and losses due to the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment.  Foreign currency translation differences arising on the translation of the Groupôs foreign entities 
are included in the foreign currency translation reserve.  Gains and losses on certain financial instruments are 
included in reserves for available-for-sale financial assets and cash-flow hedges respectively. 
 
Retained earnings include all current and prior year retained profits. 
 
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in óother liabilitiesô when the dividends have 
been approved in a general meeting prior to the reporting date. 
 
All transactions with owners of the Company are recorded separately within equity. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(z)  Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as income over 
the periods necessary to match the grant to the costs they are compensating. Grants relating to assets are 
credited to deferred income at fair value and are credited to income over the expected useful life of the asset 
on a straight-line basis. 
 
(aa)  Segment reporting 
 
The Group has four operating segments: Raw Sugar Milling, Refined Sugar, Commodity Trading and Other 
Investments.  In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Groupôs product and 
service lines, which represent the main products and services provided by the Group. 
 
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines requires different 
technologies and other resources as well as marketing approaches.  All inter-segment transfers are carried 
out at armôs length prices.  Inter-segment transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms and 
conditions. 
 
The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under AASB 8 are the same as those used 
in its financial statements. 

Disaggregation of revenue 

Entities are required to disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into categories that depict how 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.  
Contracts can be disaggregated into various categories for example type of goods or services, geographic 
regions, market or type of customer, type of contract, contract duration or sales channel. 
 
In determining which categories are applicable to the group, it has been determined that the types of goods or 
services together with the timing of transfer of goods or services were the appropriate categories to reflect the 
impact of revenue from contracts with customers. 

 
(i) Type of goods or services 
 

¶ The types of goods or services have been identified as being Raw sugar sales; Electricity sales; 
Molasses sales; Sundry sales; Transport, storage and handling services; and Refinery services. 

 
(ii) The timing of transfer have been categorised into at a point in time or over time 
 

¶ Revenue is recognised at a point of time for all of the Groupôs revenue streams with the exception of 
electricity export sales, refinery services, and transport, storage and handling services which are 
recognised over time. 

 
(bb)  Comparative figures 
 
Where required by Accounting Standards or changes in disclosure format, comparative figures have been 
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial reporting period. 
 
(cc)  Rounding amounts 
 
The Company has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Instrument 2016/191 and accordingly, amounts 
in the financial report and Directorsô report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(dd)  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates 
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various 
factors, including expectations of future events, which management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual 
results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
Critical judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations has been applied to all 
revenue contracts and in particular the transactions for products that have not been delivered to the customer at 
the period end in determining whether control has passed to the customer. Management are satisfied that the 
terms of the agreement are clear in that control passes to the customer as and when the sugar is delivered to the 
terminal as the customer has the right to draw the sugar as and when they require and have exclusive rights to 
the sugar. 
 
Key sources of uncertainty ï variable consideration:  
Some the groupôs revenue contracts have significant variable consideration outstanding at balance dates.  A 
significant amount of estimated revenue is therefore required to be recognised for these contracts.  Under the 
variable consideration constraint, management are required to constrain variable consideration recognition to an 
amount that would not result in a significant reversal of revenue in subsequent accounting periods.  As the 
variable consideration is subject to factors outside of the groupôs control, such as fluctuating global world sugar 
and molasses prices and exchange rates, significant judgement is required in assessing the amount of variable 
consideration to be recognised. 
 
Provision for impairment of receivables 

 
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The 
level of provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, 
historical collection rates and specific knowledge of the individual debtorôs financial position. 
 
Provision for impairment of inventories 

 
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The 
level of the provision is assessed by taking into account the recent inventory usage, the ageing of inventories 
and other factors that affect inventory obsolescence.  
 
Measurement of fair values 
 
A number of the Groupôs accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
 
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.  This 
includes a team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including 
level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the CFO. 
 
The team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.  If third party 
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team 
assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the 
requirements of the accounting standards, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such 
valuations should be classified.  Significant valuation issues are reported to the Groupôs Audit and Finance 
Committee. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as much as 
possible.  Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows: 
 
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
 
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.  The Group recognises 
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change 
has occurred. 
 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the notes relating to 
the items that have been measured at fair value. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
 
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a 
result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase 
where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 
that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
 
The Group assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible 
assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the entity and to the particular asset that 
may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
This involves fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions. 
 
Income tax 
 
The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations 
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The 
entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the entityôs current understanding of the 
tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences 
will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unrecognised tax losses only if 
the entity considers it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses.  
 
Long service leave provision 
 
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of 
the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken 
into account. 
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Note 1:  Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets acquired, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the entity taking into consideration all 
available information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business 
combination accounting is retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may 
have an impact on the assets and liabilities, depreciation and amortisation reported.  
 
 
(ee)  New and revised accounting requirements applicable to the current annual reporting period 
 
The Group has adopted all new Standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) which became mandatorily applicable to the annual financial report for the first time. New and 
revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are mandatorily effective for the first time for 
the current year include: 
 

Å AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Effective Date of Amendments to 

AASB 10 and AASB 128 

Å AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Å AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers 

Å AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Effective Date of AASB 15 

Å AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Clarifications to AASB 15 Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers  

Å AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2014) 

Å AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

Å AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) ï 

Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) 

Å AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Classification and Measurement of 

Share-based Payment Transactions 

Å AASB 2016-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

with AASB 4 Insurance Contracts 

Å AASB Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

Å AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Transfers of Investment Property, 

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle and Other Amendments 

Å AASB 2017-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Clarifications to AASB 4 

Å AASB 2017-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ï Effective Date of Amendments to 

AASB 10 and AASB 128 and Editorial Corrections 

 

The Group has adopted all new standards and interpretations issued by the AASB which became mandatorily 
applicable from 1 June 2018 that are relevant to the entity. 
 
The Group early adopted óAASB 9 Financial Instruments (2010)ô during the year ended 31 May 2015.  The 
additional provisions introduced by óAASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2014)ô did not have a material 
impact on the amounts recognised in the Groupôs financial statements. 
 
Due to the adoption of óAASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customersô in the current reporting period, the 
Group had to change its accounting policies and make retrospective adjustments to the amounts reported in 
previous periods.  The impact of the adoption of AASB 15 and the new accounting policies are disclosed in notes 
1(t), (hh) and (ii) of this report.  The other new or amended standards listed above did not have a material impact 
on the Groupôs accounting policies or on the amounts recognised in the Groupôs financial statements. 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(ff)  New accounting standards for application in future years 
 
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Group.  At the date 
of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but 
not effective and not early adopted by the Group. 
 
The Group has not early applied the following new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements.  The below table includes all standards issued by the AASB that are effective in future 
financial periods, except standards that are solely related to óNot-for-profitô entities which are not applicable to the 
Group. 
 

 
New or amended standards 

 
Summary of the 
requirements 

 
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements 
 

 
AASB 16 Leases 

 
This standard replaces AASB 
117 Leases.  The standard 
requires all leases to be 
accounted for óon-balance 
sheetô by lessees, other than 
short-term and low value 
asset leases.  The standard 
also provides new guidance 
on the application of the 
definition of a lease and on 
sale and lease back 
accounting. 
 
The standard is effective 
1st January 2019.  
 

 
AASB 16 will be required to 
be first adopted and applied 
for the year ending 31st May 
2020.  The Group has 
assessed the impact on its 
consolidated financial 
statements resulting from the 
application of AASB 16.  
Refer to note 1(gg) for the full 
details of this impact 
assessment. 
 
The standard will also require 
extensive disclosures to be 
made in relation to the 
Groupôs leasing contracts. 
 
 
 

 
AASB Interpretation 23 
Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatments 
 
AASB 2017-4 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments 
 
 
 

 
This interpretation clarifies 
how the recognition and 
measurement requirements 
of AASB 112 Income Taxes 
are applied where there is 
uncertainty over income tax 
treatments. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
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New or amended standards 

 
Summary of the 
requirements 

 
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements 
 

 
AASB 17 Insurance 
Contracts 
 
 
 
 

 
This standard replaces AASB 
4 and requires all insurance 
contracts to be accounted for 
in a consistent manner and 
requires insurance 
obligations to be accounted 
for using current values.  The 
standard introduces new 
contract measurement 
principles and contains a 
lower level of aggregation, 
changes to contract 
boundaries and valuation 
approaches. 
 
The standard is effective 
1st January 2021. 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2022, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 
AASB 1059 Service 
Concession Arrangements: 
Grantors 
 
AASB 2018-5 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Deferral of 
AASB 1059  
 

 
This new standard requires a 
grantor to recognise a service 
concession asset in a service 
concession arrangement 
where it controls the asset. 
A corresponding financial 
liability and/or grant of right 
liability is also recognised 
depending on the nature of 
the consideration exchanged. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2020. 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2021, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 
AASB 2017-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Long-term 
Interests in Associates and 
Joint Ventures  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AASB 2017-7 amends AASB 
128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures to clarify that an 
entity is required to account 
for long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture, 
which in substance form part 
of the net investment in the 
associate or joint venture but 
to which the equity method is 
not applied, using AASB 9 
Financial instruments before 
applying the loss allocation 
and impairment requirements 
in AASB 128. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
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New or amended standards 

 
Summary of the 
requirements 

 
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements 
 

 
AASB 2014-10 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Sale or 
Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 
 
AASB 2015-10 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 
and AASB 128 
 
AASB 2017-5 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 
and AASB 128 and Editorial 
Corrections 
  
 
 
 
 

 
The standard addresses an 
inconsistency between 
AASB10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and 
AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures. On a sale or 
contribution of assets to a 
joint venture or associate, or 
loss of control when joint 
control or significant influence 
is retained in a transaction 
involving an associate or a 
joint venture, any gain or loss 
recognised will depend on 
whether the assets or 
subsidiary constitute a 
business as defined in 
AASB3 Business 
Combinations. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2022. 
 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2023, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 

 
AASB 2017-6 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Prepayment 
Features with Negative 
Compensation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This standard amends AASB 
9 (2014) to permit entities to 
measure at amortised cost or 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
particular financial assets that 
would otherwise have 
contractual cash flows that 
are solely payments of 
principal and interest but do 
not meet that condition only 
as a result of a prepayment 
feature.  This is subject to 
meeting other conditions, 
such as the nature of the 
business model relevant to 
the financial asset.  
Otherwise, the financial 
assets would be measured at 
fair value through profit or 
loss. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 
 
 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
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New or amended standards 

 
Summary of the 
requirements 

 
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements 
 

 
AASB 2018-1 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Annual 
Improvements 2015-2017 
Cycle 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This standard makes a 
number of relatively minor 
amendments to AASB 3 
Business Combinations, 
AASB11 Joint Arrangements, 
AASB 12 Income Taxes, and 
AASB 23 Borrowing Costs. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 
AASB 2018-3 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements 
 

 
This standard makes 
amendments to AASB 16 
Leases and AASB 1058 
Income of Not-for-Profit 
Entities.  The amendments 
establish reduced disclosure 
requirements for entities 
preparing general purpose 
financial statements under 
Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 
 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 
AASB 2018-2 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Plan 
Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This standard amends AASB 
119 Employee Benefits to 
specify how an entity 
accounts for defined benefit 
plans when a plan 
amendment, curtailment or 
settlement occurs during a 
reporting period.  The 
amendments require an 
entity to use the assumptions 
used for the remeasurement 
of the net defined benefit 
liability/asset to determine the 
current service cost and the 
net interest for the remainder 
of the reporting period after a 
plan event occurs. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2019. 
 
 
 

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2020, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
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New or amended standards 

 
Summary of the 
requirements 

 
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements 
 

 
AASB 2018-6 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Definition of a 
Business 
 
 
 

 
This standard amends AASB 
3 to clarify the definition of a 
business, assisting entities to 
determine whether a 
transaction should be 
accounted for as a business 
combination or as an asset 
acquisition. 
  
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2020. 
   

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2021, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 
AASB 2018-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards ï Definition of 
Material 
 
 
 

 
This standard principally 
amends AASB 101 and 
AASB 108 by refining the 
definition of material in the 
standards.  The amendments 
clarify the definition of 
material and its application by 
improving the wording and 
aligning the definition across 
the Australian Accounting 
Standards and other 
publications.  The 
amendments also include 
some supporting 
requirements in AASB 101 in 
the definition to give it more 
prominence and clarify the 
explanation accompanying 
the definition of material. 
 
The amendments are 
effective 1st January 2020. 
   

 
When these amendments 
are first adopted for the year 
ending 31st May 2021, there 
will be no material impact on 
the transactions and 
balances recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 

 

The Group does not currently intend to adopt any of these pronouncements before their effective dates. 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(gg)  Estimated impact of the adoption of AASB 16: Leases 
 
The Group is required to adopt AASB 16: Leases from 1 June 2019.  AASB 16 establishes a comprehensive 
framework for determining whether, how much, and when a lease is recognised in the balance sheet.  It 
replaces existing leases recognition guidance, including AASB 117. 
 
The Group has assessed the estimated impact that the initial application of AASB 16 will have on its 
consolidated financial statements as set out below.  The actual impacts of adopting the standard at 1 June 
2019 may change because the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first 
set of financial statements that include the date of initial application. 
 
 
(i) Adjustment to Opening balances at 1 June 2019 on initial application  
 
The total estimated adjustment to the opening balances of the Groupôs assets, liabilities and equity at 1 June 
2019 is expected to be not material.   A full assessment of contracts has yet to be finalised, but at the date of 
this report the only adjustment expected to be required at balance date for the full year is a change in the 
accounting treatment for the leasing or hire purchase of forklifts, vehicles and rental premises.  The estimated 
total value that would likely be required to be recognised as additional assets and liabilities at 1 June 2019 in 
relation to these contracts is not expected to exceed $250,000. 
 
There is not expected to be any changes in reserves as a result of the transition to AASB 16. 
 
A summary of the major implications and accounting changes to the Groupôs consolidated financial accounts 
resulting from the transition to AASB 16 is as follows: 
 
 
(ii) Leases currently treated as operating leases which are expensed as and when the cost is incurred 
could be required to be capitalised with the ROU (right of use) assets and lease liability being reflected 
on the balance sheet 
 
The Group has a number of contracts and agreements in relation to the leasing of plant and equipment, rental 
of premises and vehicles.  The Group also has some service contracts which have significant assets 
employed in the fulfilment of those services.  These contracts will need to be assessed to determine whether 
they meet the criteria of the new leases standard which will require them to be recognised on the balance 
sheet and amortised over the life of the contract and no longer expensed as the cost is incurred. 
 
Under AASB 16, leases will be recognised on the balance sheet of a customer if the customer has the right to 
control the use of the identified asset during the period of use; and the supplier does not have the substantive 
right to substitute the asset; and the asset is physically distinct. Risk and reward is no longer a criteria as to 
whether a lease is an operating lease or a finance lease. 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(gg)  Estimated impact of the adoption of AASB 16 (continued) 
 
(iii) Leasing of assets  
 
The Group leases various assets.  Under AASB 117, these are currently recognised as an operating lease and 
expensed to profit and loss as the cost is incurred.  
 
Under AASB 16, the total consideration in the contract will be recognised on the balance sheet as a ROU 
asset and corresponding lease liability.  The asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the asset and the 
lease payment will be allocated between the interest and principal amount of the liability based on an implicit 
rate of interest.  If the implicit rate cannot be determined then the lessee will use its incremental borrowing 
rate. 
 
Based on the Groupôs assessment, the volume and value of lease contracts expected to meet the criteria of a 
lease under AASB 16 is not material.  Therefore, the Group does not expect the application of AASB 16 to 
result in significant differences in the recognition for the leasing of these assets and services. 
 
 
(iv) Impact on financial ratios and debt covenants 
 
The new standard will affect most financial ratios including but not limited to gearing, EBIT and EBITDA. This 
could impact loan covenant calculations, credit ratings and borrowing costs. 
 
 
(v) Impact of AASB 16 on the lessor 
 
The impact on the Group is not expected to be material.  AASB 16 does affect the lessor but not to the extent 
it impacts on the lessee. The lessor continues to account for leases in the same manner as before with minor 
amendments to the classification of the asset as to whether the asset is recognised as a lease asset or 
whether the asset is recognised as the underlying asset. 
 
 
(vi)  Exemptions 
 
Companies may apply the practical expedient not to recognise a short term lease of twelve months or less as 
a ROU asset and lease liability and to continue recognising the lease payment in the profit and loss statement 
on a straight line basis. 
  
The other practical expedient available to a company is to continue recognising low value assets in the profit 
and loss and not recognising the asset and liability on the balance sheet.  The threshold in determining a low 
value asset is not prescriptive and is determined by the Company.  This is to avoid minor value leases such as 
office furniture and equipment having to be capitalised.  
 
 
(vii)  Key judgements 
 
Key judgements and estimates will need to be made to determine whether an arrangement contains a lease 
under the definition of AASB 16 in determining the lease term, discount rate and whether the arrangement 
requires the lease component to be separated out from the arrangement.  This detailed analysis has yet to be 
finalised and could impact the financial statements. 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(gg)  Estimated impact of the adoption of AASB 16 (continued) 
 
(viii) Transition 
 
At the time of preparation of this report, the Group is still assessing the transition method to be adopted on the 
transition to AASB 16.  The transition method, together with the required transition disclosures, will be detailed 
in the Groupôs financial accounts for the half-year period ended 30 November 2019 expected to be released in 
early February 2020. 
 
The initial adoption can be accounted for using two different methods: 
 
(1) Fully retrospective which will require a third balance sheet to be presented in the financial statements to 
show the restated opening balances of the comparative period. 
 
(2) Modified retrospective which requires recognition of the right of use asset and liability as at the date of 
initial application of AASB 16.  The right of use (ROU) asset and lease liability are determined as if AASB 16 
had been applied from the commencement of the lease.  Any difference between the liability and the asset 
recognised on 1 June 2019 is adjusted to opening retained earnings.  The prior year comparatives are not 
required to be restated in the financial report and the level of disclosure required under AASB 108 is 
significantly less than the full retrospective method. 
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(hh) Impact of adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the Groupôs 
financial statements for the financial period, including the relevant transition disclosures and changes to the 
comparative amounts presented in this report. 
 
Transition to AASB 15 
 
AASB15 provides a choice between full retrospective adoption (apply retrospectively to each prior reporting 
period, adjustment is at the start of the earliest comparative period presented, comparative period shows all 
contracts and there is a choice of 4 expedients available) or modified retrospective adoption (Cumulative effect 
shown as an adjustment to retained earnings, adjustment is at the date of initial application, comparative periods 
show amounts of open contracts only and there is only 1 expedient available). 
 
The Group has applied the full retrospective method of adoption of AASB 15 and has elected to apply the 
following practical expedients: 
 
Practical expedient 1: For completed contracts, an entity need not restate contracts that begin and end within the 
same annual reporting period, or are complete at the beginning of the earliest year presented. 
 
Practical expedient 3: For contracts that were modified before the beginning of the earliest period presented, an 
entity shall reflect the aggregate effect of all modifications that occur before the beginning of the earliest period 
presented when identifying satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations, determining the transaction price 
and allocating the transaction price to performance obligations.  
 
Practical expedient 4: For all reporting periods before the date of initial application, an entity need not disclose 
the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations and an explanation of 
when the entity expects to recognise that amount as revenue. 
 
The Group has not applied the following practical expedient: 
 
Practical expedient 2: For completed contracts that have variable consideration, an entity may use the 
transaction price at the date the contract was completed rather than estimating variable consideration amounts in 
the comparative reporting period. 
 
 
Changes to comparative amounts and opening balances on Transition to AASB 15 
 
As a result of the changes in the Groupôs accounting policies, prior year financial statements had to be restated.  
The following tables present the adjustments recognised for each individual line item in the financial statements.  
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.  As a result, the sub-totals and totals 
disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided. 
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(hh) Impact of adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 
 
Adjustments on transition to AASB 15: 
 
The following tables present the changes that were required on transition to AASB 15 in determining the opening 
asset, liability and equity balances as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 June 2018). 
 

    Statement of financial position 31 May 2017 AASB 15 AASB 15 31 May 2017 

(extract)  As originally Adjustments Adjustments Restated 

  Presented 
 

Explanation   

  $'000 $'000 Reference $'000 

  
    Current assets 

   
  

Trade and other receivables  33 091  (2 108)  1  30 983 

Inventories  14 687  2 108  1  16 795 

Total current assets  78 946  -    78 946 

Net assets / Total equity  216 279  -    216 279 

  

   
  

Details of adjustments: 

   
  

(1) Change in timing of LGC revenue    (2 108)     

 
 
 
Statement of financial position 31 May 2018 AASB 15 AASB 15 31 May 2018 

(extract) As originally Adjustments Adjustments Restated 

  presented 
 

Explanation   

  $ô000 $ô000 Reference $ô000 

  
   

  

Current assets 

   
  

Trade and other receivables  21 711  (327)  1  21 384 

Inventories  12 981  327  1  13 308 

Total current assets  65 644  -    65 644 

Net assets / Total equity  204 989  -    204 989 

  

   
  

Details of adjustments: 

   
  

(1) Change in timing of LGC revenue    (327)     
 
 
The above retrospective changes required by AASB 15 to the previous financial years ended 31 May 2017 
and 31 May 2018 did not result in any change to the opening retained earnings at 1 June 2017 and 1 June 
2018. 
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(hh) Impact of adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 
 
 
Restatement of comparatives for the financial year ended 31 May 2018: 

 

Statement of profit or loss (extract) 31 May 2018 AASB 15 AASB 15 31 May 2018 

For the financial period ended 31 May 2018 As originally Adjustments Adjustments Restated 

  presented 
 

Explanation   

   $'000  $'000 Reference       $'000 

  
   

  

Revenue from operating activities 

   
  

Revenue  448 851  2 043  1,2,3   450 894 

Total revenue  449 207  2 043     451 250 

      

Changes in inventories of finished goods  (1 967)  (1 781)  1,2     (3 748) 

Gross profit  197 783   262 

 
  198 045  

  
   

  

Maintenance expenses  (50 699)  (188)  3   (50 887) 

Operating expenses  (84 510)  (74)  3   (84 584) 

Profit for the period  (20 427)   - 

 

  (20 427) 

      

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for 
period  (11 290)    - 

 

  (11 290) 

  
   

  

Details of adjustments: 

   
  

(1) Change in timing of LGC revenue (Closing inventory)  (327) 

 
  

(2) Change in timing of LGC revenue (Opening inventory)  2 108 

 
  

(3) Change in classification of income from service contracts  262 
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(hh) Impact of adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 
 
Explanation of changes required by AASB 15: 
 
An explanation of the retrospective changes required by AASB 15 set out in the above tables is as follows: 
 
 
(1 & 2) Change in timing of revenue recognition of Large-scale generation certificates (LGCs): 
 
The Group obtains revenue from a renewable energy incentive scheme through the generation of electricity from 
sugar cane (bagasse) via LGCs.  The Group creates LGCs from its electricity generation on a continuous basis 
during the year.  The LGCs are registered and transferred to the customer in batches (usually quarterly) during 
the year.  The Group previously recognised revenue from the production of LGCs as they were created through 
the recognition of a receivable for the LGCs created but not yet registered and transferred to the customer at the 
end of the period. 
 
Under AASB 15, the Group has determined that the transfer of control to the customer occurs when the LGCs are 
registered and transferred to the customer.  Therefore, revenue can only be recognised at the point in time when 
batches of LGCs are registered and transferred to the customer.  The registration and transfer process takes 
place a number of months after the LGCs are created.  The LGCs created but not yet transferred to the customer 
as at the end of the period are required to be accounted for as finished goods inventory under AASB 15.  These 
LGCs will be recognised in the profit or loss in óChanges in inventories of finished goodsô at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.  The revenue from the sale of these LGCs is then recognised in the following period and will 
be offset by the opening stock value. 
 
A summary of the effect of the above change in revenue recognition of the LGCs created but not yet transferred to 
the customer at the end of the period is as follows: 
 
 

(1) Change in recognition from revenue to 

     finished goods inventory 

Y/E 31 May 2017 Y/E 31 May 2018 

           $ô000             $ô000 

LGC receivable under AASB118   

   - Expected sale amount  2 108  327 

   

LGC finished goods inventory value ï AASB15  2 108  327 

     Net realisable value of LGCs  2 108  327 

     Cost value of LGCs ï AASB 102  2 507  534 

   

(2) Recognition as revenue in the following 

     period  
  

Revenue ï LGC sales                 -  2 108 

   

Changes in inventories of finished goods   

   - Opening inventory value                 -  (2 108) 

   

Net change in Profit or loss for period                 -                 - 
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(hh) Impact of adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 
 
Explanation of changes required by AASB 15 (continued): 
 
(3) Change in income/expense classification of services revenue 
 
The Group provides various services to a sugar refinery located next to one of its raw sugar mills.  Under 
AASB 118, services revenue is recognised using the stage-of-completion method and revenue is recognised 
in the reporting periods in which the services are rendered.  The consideration is allocated on a relative fair 
value basis between the different services provided. 
 
Under AASB 15, the total consideration in the service contracts has been allocated to all services based on 
their stand-alone selling prices.  The stand-alone selling prices have been determined based on the list prices 
at which the Group would sell the services in separate transactions. 
 
The Group previously recognised some amounts received under the services contract as recoveries against 
the costs that were incurred in providing the services.  These amounts have been recognised as services 
revenue under AASB 15.  Some income classifications have also been changed under AASB 15 to more 
accurately reflect the type of revenue received under the contract.  A summary of the changes in classification 
within the statement of profit or loss are as follows: 
 
 

Income/expense classification  YE 31 May 2018 

  Reclassification 

  $ô000 

   

Services revenue Increase in revenue 222 

Rental revenue Increase in revenue 112 

Electricity revenue  Decrease in revenue (72) 

Net change in revenue for period   262 

   

Maintenance expenses  Increase in expenses (188) 

Operating expenses Increase in expenses (74) 

Net change in expenses for period   (262) 

   

Net change in Profit or loss for period  - 
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(ii) Explanation of application of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
The accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the year ended 31 May 2019 financial 
statements differ compared to the previously presented annual financial statements due to the adoption of 
AASB15 Revenue from contracts with Customers which replaces AASB118. 
 
The nature of the change is the manner in which revenue is recognised.  One of the key changes is that 
revenue is recognised based on control of the goods or services as opposed to the previous standard which 
was based on the transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership. Transactions previously recognised as stock 
and prepayments under AASB118 will now be recognised as revenue and contract assets or receivables 
depending on whether the product/service has been delivered.  
 
The requirements of AASB15 and how they apply to these financial statements is explained below: 

Application of the AASB15 ófive step modelô to each of the revenue streams 

The key process to the implementation of AASB15 is application of a five step model to revenue streams as set 
out below.  The Groupôs revenue streams for its revenue contracts have been identified and each of the steps in 
the 5 step model has been applied to these contracts as summarised in the table below: 

Step 1: Identify the contract with a customer 

In most cases this is straightforward.  However, a ócontractô does not have to be a formal written document, but 
can also be verbal or implied, depending on the customary form for the specific arrangement.  For the purpose of 
the standard, a contract exists if the parties rights can be identified, they agree and are committed to perform their 
respective obligations, and the payment terms can be identified.  Hence, although there is no written contract in a 
standard retail sale, such transaction is still considered to arise from a contract with a customer.  Usually, each 
contract is accounted for separately, but it may be necessary to either combine or separate multiple contracts 
depending of the substance of the arrangement. 

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

At contract inception, it is necessary to identify all the distinct performance obligations within the contract.  If those 
goods or services are distinct, the promises are performance obligations and are accounted for separately. A 
good or service is distinct if the customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or together with other 
resources that are readily available to the customer.  

Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

An entity must determine the amount of consideration it expects to receive in exchange for transferring promised 
goods or services to a customer.  Usually, the transaction price is a fixed amount. However, the transaction price 
can vary because of discounts, rebates, price concessions, refunds, volume bonuses, or other factors.  An entity 
should consider the effects of variable consideration and include those elements in the transaction price.   Those 
variable elements should only be included where óit is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolvedô.  

When a contract has a significant financing element, the effects of the time value of money are taken into account 
by adjusting the transaction price and recognising interest income over the financing period.  Separately 
recognising the effect of discounting is not required if the period between the supply of the goods or services and 
payment is less than one year. 
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(ii) Explanation of application of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 

Where a contract contains more than one distinct performance obligation the transaction price determined in step 
3 is allocated to each distinct performance obligation on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price.  The 
best evidence of stand-alone selling price is the price at which the good or service is sold separately by the entity. 

If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, an entity should estimate a stand-alone value taking into 
account market conditions, entity-specific factors and information about the customer or class of customer.  This 
could be done by using an óadjusted market assessment approachô which may include referring to competitorsô 
prices for similar goods or services; or an óexpected cost plus margin approachô in which an entity estimates its 
costs to satisfy that performance obligation and then adds an appropriate margin. 

An entity should not account for components within multiple performance obligations as representing ófreeô goods 
or services and attributing no transaction price to them. 

Step 5: Recognise revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied 

An entity recognises revenue when (or as) it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer (which is when the customer obtains control of that good or service).  

A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time (typically for promises to transfer goods to a 
customer) or over time (typically for promises to transfer services to a customer). 

For revenue recognised at a point in time, AASB 15 requires the entity to determine that point in time by reference 
to when control of the goods transfer to the customer, whereas AASB 118 focuses on the transfer of risks and 
rewards of the goods.  This change may cause the timing of some revenue items to change under the new 
standard. 
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(ii) Explanation of application of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 

A summary of the application of the 5 step model to the Groupôs revenue contracts is presented below: 

Source/Stream 
of Revenue  
 

(1)Contractual 
Arrangement 
with a 
customer 
                                    
 

(2)Performance 
Obligations in 
the contract     
                
 
 

(3)Transaction 
Price                              
          

(4)Allocate the 
transaction price 
to the 
performance 
obligation 
 

(5)Recognise 
revenue as the 
performance 
obligations are 
satisfied either at 
a point in time or 
over a period of 
time 

Raw Sugar 
sales 

Sale of raw 
sugar as per 
agreement 
 

Deliver raw sugar 
to the sugar 
terminal or to the 
refinery 
 
 
 
 
 
Provide storage 
and handling 
services for bill 
and hold 
transactions 
 

Average price 
per tonne based 
on weighted 
average priced 
and unpriced 
 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the average price 
per tonne (of IPS 
tonne for certain 
suppliers) and/or 
brand allowances. 
Delivered 
 
Amount allocated 
to storage and 
handling based on 
standalone selling 
price 

Point in time  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Over time 

Molasses sales  Sale of 
molasses as 
per agreement 

Deliver molasses 
to the terminal, 
customerôs 
transport vehicle, 
or storage facility 

Average price 
per tonne 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the average price 
per tonne sold 

Point in time  

Transport and 
storage fees 

Transport 
molasses as 
per agreement 

Deliver molasses 
to customerôs 
Ethanol plant 

Service fee per 
tonne as set out 
in contract 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the contract price 
per tonne delivered 

Over time 
 

Electricity 
Export sales   

Sale of 
electricity as per 
agreement 

Supply electricity 
when required 
per agreement 

Unit price based 
on contract 
price 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the contract price 

Over time 
 

Electricity LGCs 
sales   

Sale of 
electricity LGCôs 
as per 
agreement 

Deliver LGC 
certificates per 
agreement 

Unit price based 
on contract 
price 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the contract price 

Point in time 

Refinery 
services 
revenue 

Supply services 
as per 
agreement 

Supply services 
as and when 
required per 
agreement 

Service fees per 
contract 

The transaction 
price is based on 
the services 
provided 

Over time 
 

 
 
 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue on 21 August 2019 by the board of directors. 
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Note 2: Revenue 

  Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Revenue from operating activities   

Sale of goods ..................................................................................................  392 417 438 680 

Services revenue ............................................................................................  4 805 4 594 

Dividends received ï other corporations ........................................................  2 258 2 127 

Government subsidies received .............................................................. 2(d) 845 773 

Rental revenue ...............................................................................................  619 572 

Insurance claims .............................................................................................  4 060 4 030 

Recoveries ......................................................................................................  90 58 

Other revenue .................................................................................................  4 60 

 405 098 450 894 

(b) Finance revenue   

Bank interest received ï other corporations ...................................................  324 354 

Loan interest received ï other persons ..........................................................  1 2 

 325 356 

(c) Revenue from non-operating activities   

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment ........................................  1 43 

Gain on disposal of assets held-for-sale ........................................................  - 214 

Gain on sale of subsidiary ..............................................................................  - 50 

 1 307 

(d) Government subsidies   

Government subsidies received or receivable:   

Government subsidies received in relation to capital projects .......................  3 643 2 558 

Government subsidies received allocated directly to income ........................  83 11 

 3 726 2 569 

Government subsidies received included in income:   

Government subsidies received allocated directly to income ........................  83 11 

Deferred government subsidies allocated to income .....................................  762 762 

 845 773 

Various government grants have been received for capital related projects. 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to existing 
grants as at 31 May 2019. 
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Note 3: Profit/(loss) before income tax 
  Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Profit/(loss) is arrived at after charging:   

   

(a) Finance costs   

Interest and charges on bank loans .................................................................  5 901 5 635 

Interest and charges on non-bank loans ..........................................................  1 607 61 

Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire 

 purchases contracts ...................................................................................  

 

88 

 

106 

Interest hedging expenses/(income) ï other corporations ...............................   (45) 18 

Interest on short-term deposits ï other persons ...............................................  2 3 

Interest on selected-term unsecured notes ï related parties ...........................  17 45 

Interest on selected-term unsecured notes ï other persons ............................  280 543 

Interest on fixed-rate medium-term unsecured notes.......................................  3 875 3 665 

STL share subscription finance costs ...............................................................  3 208 2 683 

Amortisation of loan establishment fees ...........................................................  535 542 

 15 468 13 301 

   

(b) Other expenses   

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ....................................  2 061 188 

Capital working expenses .................................................................................  132 89 

 2 193 277 

   

(c) Other items included in profit/(loss) before income tax   

Ineffective cash flow hedges ï loss/(gain) ........................................................   70  (444) 

Foreign currency translation differences ï loss/(gain) .....................................   67  181 

Direct expenditure from investment property generating rental income ..........   355  470 

Rental expenses on operating leases ..............................................................   59  82 

Write-off of obsolete stock ................................................................................   35  27 

Write-off of receivablesééééééééééééééééééééééé..  24  5 

Doubtful debts expense ....................................................................................   (24)  16 

Employee redundancy expenses .....................................................................   -  - 

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia Joint Venture ......................................   -  6 900 

Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment .....................................   164 404  2 933 

Loss on impairment of investment property .....................................................   656  - 
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Note 4: Taxes 
    May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) The components of tax expense comprise   

Current tax ........................................................................................................   (10 857)  (5 287) 

Increase/(Recoupment) of prior year unrecognised tax losses ........................   10 857  5 287 

Adjustment recognised for current tax of prior periods ....................................   -  - 

Income tax expense .........................................................................................   -  - 

   

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and income tax at 
the statutory rate 

  

Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations ...........................................   (190 192)  (20 427) 

   

Tax expense / (benefit) at the statutory tax rate of 30% (2017: 30%) ..............   (57 058)  (6 128) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income: 

  

 Entertainment expenses ............................................................................   4  3 

 Increase/ (decrease) in previously unrecognised prior year tax losses .....   57 054  6 125 

   

Income tax expense  -  - 

   

The applicable weighted average tax rates  0%  0% 

 
(c) Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 

 

Income tax effect of: 

  

Cash flow hedges:   

   Gains/(losses) taken to comprehensive income............................................   (4 659)  2 722 

Revaluation of financial assets .........................................................................   502  265 

Exchange fluctuations on translation of foreign associated company..............   244  (309) 

  (3 913)  2 678 

Previously unrecognised prior year tax losses used to reduce tax expense ...   3 913  (2 678) 

Income tax expense relating to components of other comprehensive income   -  - 
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Note 4: Taxes (continued)  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(d) Unrecognised Tax Losses and Deferred Tax Assets   

The Group has accumulated tax losses for income tax purposes that are 
currently able to be carried forward to future years.  The gross accumulated 
tax losses that have not been recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as a deferred tax asset are as follows:   

Gross accumulated tax losses at beginning of the period ................................   131 953  114 666 

Add: Over-provision in prior years ....................................................................   -  - 

Add: Tax losses incurred during the period ......................................................   36 190  17 287 

Less: Tax losses utilised during the period ......................................................   -  - 

Available gross accumulated tax losses for income tax purposes at end of 
the period ..........................................................................................................   168 143  131 953 

Less: Gross tax losses recognised as a deferred tax asset to offset deferred 
tax liability .........................................................................................................   -  - 

Remaining unused gross tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised ...............................................................................................   168 143  131 953 

   

The benefits of these tax losses will only be obtained if:   

i) The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an 
amount sufficient to enable the benefits of the tax losses to be realised; 
and   

ii) The Group continues to comply with the legal conditions for deductibility 
of company tax losses; and   

iii) No future changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in 
realising the benefit of the losses.   

Taking into account the above factors as at 31 May 2019, management is 
not able to reliably assess the probability that these tax losses will be utilised 
against future taxable profits.   

The deferred tax asset for these tax losses and also other temporary taxable 
differences have only been recognised to the extent of offsetting existing 
current tax and deferred tax liabilities.   

   

The tax affected amounts (at 30%) of tax losses and other deferred tax 
balances of the company as set out in note 4(e) are as follows:   

Deferred tax asset for unused tax losses not utilised ..................................   50 443  39 586 

Deferred tax asset for other temporary differences .....................................   68 539  28 631 

Total deferred tax asset for temporary differences .....................................   118 982  68 217 

Deferred tax asset required to offset deferred tax liability ...........................   (8 537)  (27 052) 

Remaining deferred tax asset (at 30%) not yet recognised ........................   110 445  41 165 

   

These unrecognised tax losses and deductible temporary differences do not 
expire under current tax legislation.   
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Note 4: Taxes (continued)  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(e) Recognised Deferred Tax Asset and Deferred Tax Liabilities:   

Deferred tax asset:   

Deferred tax assets are temporary differences attributable to the 
following:   

Employee benefits .......................................................................................   4 124  3 989 

Property, plant and equipment ....................................................................   36 357   - 

Provision for obsolescence .........................................................................   60  60 

Investments .................................................................................................   9 313  13 775 

Land and investment property .....................................................................   1 528  527 

Accrued expenses .......................................................................................   225  161 

Revenue received in advance .....................................................................   12 640  9 221 

Tax loss carry-forwards ...............................................................................   50 443  39 586 

Cash flow hedges ........................................................................................   4 292  898 

  118 982  68 217 

Less deferred tax assets not yet recognised (refer 4(d) above) .................   (110 445)  (41 165) 

  8 537  27 052 

Movements in recognised deferred tax assets:   

Opening balance .........................................................................................   27 052  22 768 

Charged to profit or loss or other comprehensive income to offset 

deferred tax liability movement ....................................................................  

 

 (18 515)  4 284 

Charged to equity ........................................................................................   -  - 

Closing balance ...........................................................................................   8 537  27 052 

   

Deferred tax liability:   

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to:   

Inventories ...................................................................................................   915  904 

Accrued revenue .........................................................................................   23  - 

Property, plant and equipment ....................................................................   -  11 626 

Investments .................................................................................................   6 148  5 768 

Cash flow hedges ........................................................................................   1 451  8 754 

  8 537  27 052 

Movements in deferred tax liability:   

Opening balance .........................................................................................   27 052  22 768 

Charged to profit or loss or other comprehensive income ..........................   (18 515)  4 284 

Charged to equity ........................................................................................   -  - 

Closing balance ...........................................................................................   8 537  27 052 

Net deferred tax asset/deferred tax liability after offset at end of year   -  - 
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Note 5: Key management personnel compensation 

 
(a) Details of key management personnel 
 
Directors and executives who have held office during the financial year were: 
 
Directors 

M.R. Day Chairman (executive)  

P.A. Manning Deputy Chairman (non-executive) 

A.R. Bartolo Director (non-executive) 

 (Appointed 30th October 2018) 

L.M. Blackburn Director (non-executive) 

L.G. Bugeja Director (non-executive) 

A.S. Cappello Director (non-executive) 

R.M. Findlay Director (non-executive) 

J.P. Grech Director (non-executive) 

 (Retired 30th October 2018) 

M.C. Maughan Director (non-executive) 

M.J. Sage Director QCS (non-executive)  

  
 
Executives 

M.R. Day Chief Executive Officer 

P.J. Gill General Manager ï Commercial and Legal 

T.J. Doolan General Manager ï Milling Operations 

 (For the period 1st June 2018 to 6th July 2018) 

D.J. Said Chief Financial Officer 

J.M. Walton Manager ï Cane Supply & Logistics 

P.J. Miskin General Manager ï Mossman Mill 

C.J. Mansfield Group Manager ï HR/HSE 

T.B. Lloyd Group Asset Manager (From 6th July 2018) 

P.I. Flanders Farleigh Factory Manager (From 6th July 2018) 

M.L. Gayton Racecourse Factory Manager (From 6th July 2018) 

C. Wood Marian Factory Manager (From 6th July 2018) 
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Note 5: Key management personnel compensation (continued) 
 
(b) Compensation of key management personnel 
 
The aggregate compensation for key management personnel during the financial year was as follows: 
 
  May 

 2019 
 $ô000 

 May 
 2018 
 $ô000 

Short-term benefits   

     Salary and fees .....................................................................................   2 901  2 304 

     Bonuses ................................................................................................   -  - 

     Non-cash benefits .................................................................................   28  5 

     Other .....................................................................................................   179  91 

     Termination ...........................................................................................   88  295 

Post-employment benefits .........................................................................   302  256 

Other long-term benefits ............................................................................   64  (80) 

Total benefits and payments ..................................................................   3 562  2 871 

 
The Companyôs executive team was restructured on 6th July 2018 following the retirement of the General 
Manager ï Milling Operations.  Four existing positions (Group Asset Manager and the Factory Managers 
for the three Mackay mills) are now included in the executive team.  This change has resulted in an 
additional three executives being included in the key management personnel for the majority of the 2019 
financial period compared to the previous 2018 financial period.       
 
 
 
(c) Key management personnel options and rights holdings 
 
Key management personnel are not entitled to any options or rights holdings.  There were no transactions 
in options and rights and no holdings of options or rights by any key management personnel during the 
financial year. 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

51 

Note 5: Key management personnel compensation (continued) 
 
(d) Key management personnel shareholdings 
 
The number of shares in Mackay Sugar held by key management personnel or their related parties during 
the financial year was as follows: 
 
Investment shares 
 

 

Balance at 

the beginning 

of the year 

Changes 
during the  

year  

Balance at 
the end of 

the year 

A.R. Bartolo .................................................................................................  409 435 - 409 435 

L.M. Blackburn .............................................................................................  179 787 - 179 787 

L.G. Bugeja ..................................................................................................  347 924 - 347 924 

A.S. Cappello ...............................................................................................  480 119 37 778 517 897 

J.P. Grech ....................................................................................................  1 134 177 - 1 134 177 

P.A. Manning ...............................................................................................  100 000 - 100 000 

D.J. Said ...................................................................................................... . 41 282 - 41 282 

 2 692 724 37 778 2 730 502 

 
The shares are not issued as a result of any remuneration or option benefits.  The above key management 
personnel (personally or through associated entities) also hold one voting share for each eligible farming 
enterprise which entitles them to vote on any shareholdersô poll (refer to note 24: Issued capital). 
 
(e) Other key management personnel transactions 
 
There have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the tables 
above.  For details of other transactions with key management personnel, refer to note 34: Related party 
transactions. 
 
There have been no loans provided to key management personnel and therefore no transactions or 
balances exist in relation to loans to key management personnel during the financial year. 
 
 
Note 6: Auditorsô remuneration 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Auditing and reviewing of the financial reports .................................................  172 168 

Taxation services ..............................................................................................  17 20 

Consulting fees .................................................................................................  31 21 

 220 209 
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Note 7: Dividends and franking account: 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(i)  Dividends declared during the year:   

Nil   

  

(ii) Dividends paid during the year:   

Nil   

    

(iii) Dividends declared but not paid at year-end:   

 Nil 

 

  

(iv) Balance of the franking account at the end of the year ............................   5 189  5 189 

The franking account will be reduced subsequent to the year-end as a 
result of the fully franked dividend declared per (iii) above ......................  

 

 - 

 

 - 

  5 189  5 189 

Note 8: Cash and cash equivalents    

    

Cash at bank and on hand ..........................................................................   16 924  14 793 

    

    

Note 9: Trade and other receivables    

Current    

Trade receivables ........................................................................................   11 938  11 941 

Other receivables ........................................................................................   2 709  8 109 

Growersô loans .............................................................................................   848  1 358 

Less: provision for impairment of receivables .............................................   -  (24) 

   15 495  21 384 

Non-Current    

Growersô loans .............................................................................................    593  550 
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Note 9: Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
The movement in the provision for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was 
as follows: 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 
 $ô000 

Opening balance ..............................................................................................  

Reversal of impairment losses .........................................................................  

Impairment losses recognised during the year .................................................  

Amounts written off as bad debts .....................................................................  

 

 24 

 - 

 - 

 (24) 

 

 8 

 (3) 

 24 

 (5) 

Closing balance ................................................................................................   -  24 

 
 
As at 31 May 2019, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables is in the 
geographic region of Australia with wholesale customers as the main counterparty.  
 
Management believes that any unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are still 
collectible in full, based on historical payment behaviour and analysis of customer credit risk. 

 
 
Note 10: Inventories   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Finished goods ............................................................................................   171  735 

Spares and consumables ............................................................................   12 826  12 773 

Less: provision for impairment of spares and consumables .......................   (200)  (200) 

   12 797  13 308 

 

Note 11: Assets held-for-sale 

  

    

Investment property held-for-sale .....................................................................   -  - 

  -  - 
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Note 12: Investments accounted for using the equity method 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Associated companies .................................................................................13  36 265  35 029 

(b) Interests in joint ventures .............................................................................14  49 117  46 286 

Total investments accounted for using the equity method ............................ 20(b)  85 382  81 315 

 
Note 13: Associated companies 
 
An interest is held in the following associated companies: 
 

Name 
Principal 
activities 

Country of 
incorporation 

Shares 
Ownership 

interest 
Carrying amount of 

investment 

    May 

2019 

May 

2018 

   May 

   2019 

   May 

   2018 

    % %    $ô000    $ô000 

Unlisted:        

New Zealand Sugar 
Company Pty Ltd 
(NZSC) 

Sugar refining New Zealand Ordinary 25 25 32 863 31 982 

Sugar North Limited Sugar services Australia Ordinary - 25 - 30 

Oriana Shipping Co Pte 
Ltd 

Shipping 
Transportation 

services 
Singapore Ordinary 25 25 3 402 3 017 

M&M Molasses Pty Ltd 
Molasses 
services 

Australia Ordinary 40 40 - - 

      36 265 35 029 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Movements during the year in equity accounted investments in the 
associated companies: 

  

Balance at the beginning of the year  .....................................................................   35 029  37 080 

Acquisitions.............................................................................................................   -  - 

Share of associateôs profit after income tax ...........................................................   4 981  4 504 

Share of associateôs reserve movements arising during the year  .........................   281  336 

Dividend revenue ....................................................................................................   (4 830)  (5 884) 

Foreign currency translation adjustment ................................................................   804  (1 007) 

Balance at the end of the year  ..............................................................................   36 265  35 029 
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Note 13: Associated companies (continued) 

 
(b) New Zealand Sugar Company Pty Ltd:   

(i) Other information   

 
Mackay Sugar has determined that it has significant influence over the company as it has a 25% ownership 
interest in the entity and 25% control of the voting rights in the company subject to some protective veto 
rights.  Mackay Sugar has applied the equity method in accounting for its share in the associated company.  
The date of the end of the reporting period of the associated company is 31 December.  This date differs 
from the Mackay Sugar reporting period as the end of reporting period date has been determined based on 
the reporting period of the shareholder with the majority share and control of the company.  The associated 
company is considered to be material to Mackay Sugar. 
 
The associated companyôs activities are to manufacture, transport, store, market, and distribute refined 
sugar, syrups, raw sugar for human consumption and similar products and by-products.  The business is 
strategic to the Group due to the vertical integration that is able to be achieved with the production of 
refined sugar from its raw sugar, and the diversity of its marketing for the refined sugar business by having 
access to the New Zealand market.  The associated company operates via its refinery and distribution 
facilities throughout New Zealand and exports to other countries in the vicinity. 
 
Under the companyôs constitution, the entity is limited in its borrowing capacity with a maximum borrowing 
limit of NZD$25 million.  The company also has limited facilities available for trading accounts for sugar 
futures margin calls and foreign exchange hedging.  Profits of the company are returned to shareholders, 
based on their relevant ownership interest, on an annual basis to the extent that the funding requirements 
of the company will allow. 
 
Under the companyôs constitution, there is a grant of a call option to acquire the other investorôs share of 
the company if they become a defaulting party under certain terms of the constitution.  There were no 
circumstances which resulted in a defaulting party under the constitution during the financial year. 
 
The associated company is a private company and is not listed on any exchange and no quoted market 
price is available for the investment. 
 
There were no contingent liabilities relating to its interest in the associated company as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The summarised financial information of the associated company presented below is based on the New 
Zealand-Accounting-Standards financial statements of the associated company to 31 December 2018 and 
the Management-accounting financial statements to 31 May 2019.  The NZ Equivalents to IFRS financial 
statements to 31 December 2018 and Management-accounting financial statements to 31 May 2019 have 
been reviewed and adjusted for any material differences to the Australian Accounting Standards.  The 
measurement currency of the associated company is New Zealand dollars and has been converted to 
Australian dollars in Mackay Sugarôs accounts as at 31 May 2019. 
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Note 13: Associated companies (continued) 
 
(b) (ii)  New Zealand Sugar Company Pty Ltd ï Summarised financial information: 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Profit or loss items   
Revenue .................................................................................................................  189 335 195 593 

Interest Income .......................................................................................................   418  210 

Depreciation and amortisation ................................................................................  (7 611) (6 793) 

Interest expense .....................................................................................................   -  - 

Profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing operations ....................................   26 982  24 497 

Income tax expense ...............................................................................................  (7 680) (6 941) 

Profit/(loss) after income tax from discontinued operations ...................................   -  - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) .......................................................................   1 126  1 346 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) ........................................................................   20 428  18 902 

   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................................   8 005  34 947 

Total current assets ................................................................................................   71 062  84 504 

Total non-current assets .........................................................................................   70 889  70 218 

   

Current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   1 996  6 070 

Total current liabilities .............................................................................................   7 422  25 058 

   

Non-current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   93  166 

Total non-current liabilities ......................................................................................   3 077  1 735 

 
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the 
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements: 
 

  

Net assets of the Associate ....................................................................................  131 452 127 929 

Carrying amount of investment in entity ï 25% share ............................................   32 863  31 982 

Dividends received from entity ...............................................................................   4 707  4 589 
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Note 13: Associated companies (continued) 

 

(c) (i) Oriana Shipping Co. Pte Ltd ï other information 

 
Mackay Sugar has determined that it has significant influence over the company as it has a 25% ownership 
interest in the entity and 25% control of the voting rights in the company subject to some protective veto rights.  
Mackay Sugar has applied the equity method in accounting for its share in the associated company.  The date of 
the end of the reporting period of the associated company is 31 December.  This date differs from the Mackay 
Sugar reporting period as the end of reporting period date has been determined based on the reporting period of 
the shareholder with the majority share and control of the company.  The associated company is considered to 
be material to Mackay Sugar. 
 
The associated companyôs activities are to provide refined sugar transport services to the Sugar Australia Joint 
Venture through the use of the MV Pioneer BIBO shipping vessel, the ownership and operations of which were 
transferred from the Sugar Australia joint venture.  The business is strategic to the Group due to the enhanced 
refined sugar export delivery the company is able to provide the refined sugar business.  The associated 
company operates the shipping vessel out of Singapore, transporting refined sugar from Australia to other 
Asia/Pacific regions. 
 
The associated company is funded by long term shareholder loans and does not have access to its own 
corporate borrowing facilities.  Profits of the company are returned to shareholders, based on their relevant 
ownership interest, on an annual basis to the extent that the funding requirements of the company will allow. 
 
The associated company is a private company and is not listed on any exchange and no quoted market price is 
available for the investment. 
 
There were no contingent liabilities relating to its interest in the associated company as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The summarised financial information of the associated company presented below is based on the Singapore-
Accounting-Standards financial statements of the associated company for the year ended 31 December 2018.  
The Groupôs share of the financial effect of the remaining 5 months activity to 31 May 2019 has been determined 
to be not material to the Group and has not been adjusted for.  The Singapore Equivalents to IFRS financial 
statements to 31 December 2018 have been reviewed and adjusted for any material differences to the Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The measurement currency of the associated company is United States dollars and has 
been converted to Australian dollars in Mackay Sugarôs accounts as at 31 May 2019. 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

58 

Note 13: Associated companies (continued) 
 
(c) (ii) Oriana Shipping Co. Pte Ltd ï Summarised financial information 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Profit or loss items   
Revenue .................................................................................................................   9 223  8 326 

Interest Income .......................................................................................................   -  - 

Depreciation and amortisation ................................................................................  (1 524) (1 386) 

Interest expense .....................................................................................................  (27) (22) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing operations ....................................   433  440 

Income tax expense ...............................................................................................  (7) (1) 

Profit/(loss) after income tax from discontinued operations ...................................   -  - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) .......................................................................   -  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) ........................................................................   426  439 

   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................................   3 510  2 113 

Total current assets ................................................................................................   6 826  3 995 

Total non-current assets .........................................................................................   7 874  8 604 

   

Current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   -  - 

Total current liabilities .............................................................................................   1 092  532 

   

Non-current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   -  - 

Total non-current liabilities ......................................................................................   -  - 

 
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the 
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements: 
 

  

Net assets of the Associate ....................................................................................   13 608  12 067 

Carrying amount of investment in entity ï 25% share ............................................   3 402  3 017 

Dividends received from entity ...............................................................................   -  - 
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Note 13: Associated companies (continued) 
 

(d) Sugar North Limited ï other information 

 
Mackay Sugar has determined that it has significant influence over the company as it has 25% of the share 
ownership and voting power in the company.  Mackay Sugar has applied the equity method in accounting for its 
share in the company.  The date of the end of the reporting period of the company is 30 June.  This date differs 
from the Mackay Sugar reporting period due to the company being acquired by Mackay Sugar subsequent to 
formation and when the reporting date was already determined.  The company is not considered to be material to 
Mackay Sugar. 
 
The company ceased operations during the financial year and was wound-up on 31 July 2018. 
 
 
(e) M&M Molasses Pty Ltd ï other information 
 
Mackay Sugar has determined that it has significant influence over the company as it has 40% of the share 
ownership and voting power in the company.  Mackay Sugar has applied the equity method in accounting for its 
share in the company.  The date of the end of the reporting period of the company is 31 December.  This date 
differs from the Mackay Sugar reporting period due to the company being acquired by Mackay Sugar subsequent 
to formation and when the reporting date was already determined.  The company is not considered to be material 
to Mackay Sugar. 
 
(f) Summarised presentation of aggregate financial information for all individually immaterial associates 
(Sugar North Limited, M&M Molasses Pty Ltd): 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Carrying amount of interests in investments  .........................................................   -  30 

Profit or loss from continuing operations before tax ...............................................   50  5 

Post-tax profit or loss from discontinued operations ..............................................   -  - 

Other comprehensive income.................................................................................   -  - 

Total comprehensive income ..................................................................................   50  5 
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Note 14: Joint ventures 

 

(a) Interest in joint venture (JV) entities 
 

Name 
Principal 
activities 

Country of 
incorporation 

Shares 
Ownership 

interest 
Carrying amount of 

investment 

    May 

2019 

May 

2018 

May 

2019 

May 

2018 

    % % $ô000 $ô000 

Sugar Australia Pty Ltd Management 
entity 

Australia Ordinary 25 25 - - 

Sugar Australia JV Sugar refining Australia * 25 25 49 117 46 286 

 
* Interest in unincorporated entity 
 
The interest in the unincorporated joint venture entity is accounted for in the financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(i) Carrying amount of investment in joint venture entity   

Balance at the beginning of the year  ..........................................................   46 286  57 557 

Share of joint ventureôs profit after income tax ............................................   8 373  5 925 

Share of joint ventureôs reserve movements arising during the year  .........   (2 025)  (150) 

Net cash distributions paid/(received) during the year ................................   (3 517)  (10 146) 

Loss on impairment during the year ............................................... 14(a)(iv)  -  (6 900) 

Balance at the end of the year.....................................................................   49 117  46 286 

 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

61 

Note 14: Joint venture (continued) 
 
(ii) Sugar Australia Joint Venture ï Other information 
 
Mackay Sugar has determined that it has significant influence over the joint venture as it has a 25% ownership 
interest in the joint venture and 25% control of the voting rights in the joint venture subject to some protective veto 
rights.  Mackay Sugar has applied the equity method in accounting for its share in the joint venture.  The date of 
the end of the reporting period of the joint venture is 31 December.  This date differs from the Mackay Sugar 
reporting period as the end of reporting period date has been determined based on the reporting period of the joint 
venture partner with the majority share in the joint venture.  The joint venture is considered to be material to 
Mackay Sugar. 
 
The joint ventureôs activities are to manufacture, transport, store, market, and distribute refined sugar, syrups, raw 
sugar for human consumption and similar products and by-products.  The business is strategic to the Group due to 
the vertical integration that is able to be achieved with the production of refined sugar from its raw sugar.  The joint 
venture operates throughout Australia with refineries in Mackay and Melbourne, and various depot/port facilities in 
other major Australian cities. 
 
Under the joint venture agreement, the joint venture is not able to borrow funds apart from a limited bank overdraft 
and trading accounts for sugar futures margin calls and foreign exchange hedging.  All funding is to be contributed 
by the joint venture partners as cash calls to the extent of their relevant ownership interest in the joint venture.  All 
revenues and profits of the joint venture are returned to the joint venture partners based on their relevant 
ownership interest in the joint venture. 
 
Under the joint venture agreement, there is a grant of a call option to acquire the other joint venture partnerôs share 
of their interest in the joint venture if they become a defaulting party under certain terms of the agreement.  There 
were no circumstances which resulted in a defaulting party under the joint venture agreement during the financial 
year. 
 
The joint venture entity is a private entity and is not listed on any exchange and no quoted market price is available 
for the investment. 
 
The Groupôs share of contingent liabilities relating to its interest in the joint venture is $256,676 as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The Groupôs share of unrecognised commitments relating to its interest in the joint venture as at 31 May 2019 is as 
follows: 
 

¶ Operating lease commitments $1,739,683 

¶ Plant and equipment expenditure commitments $201,500 
 
The summarised financial information of the joint venture presented below is based on the óAustralian Accounting 
Standardsô financial statements of the joint venture to 31 December 2018 and the óManagement Accountingô 
financial statements to 31 May 2019.  The óManagement accountingô financial statements to 31 May 2019 have 
been reviewed by the joint ventureôs auditors and adjusted for any material differences to the Australian 
Accounting Standards. 
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Note 14: Joint venture (continued) 

 
(iii) Sugar Australia JV ï Summarised financial information: 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Profit or loss items   
Revenue .................................................................................................................  433 919 524 800 

Interest Income .......................................................................................................   82  100 

Depreciation and amortisation ................................................................................   (8 500)  (5 900) 

Interest expense .....................................................................................................   -  - 

Profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing operations ....................................   33 493  23 700 

Income tax expense ...............................................................................................   -  - 

Profit/(loss) after income tax from discontinued operations ...................................   -  - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) .......................................................................   (8 101)  (600) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) ........................................................................   25 392  23 100 

   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................................   4 000  200 

Total current assets ................................................................................................  173 051 173 072 

Total non-current assets .........................................................................................  156 900 206 500 

   

Current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   4 200  11 300 

Total current liabilities .............................................................................................   14 600  27 700 

   

Non-current liabilities   

Financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) ..............   6 300  300 

Total non-current liabilities ......................................................................................   6 600  700 

 
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the 
carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements: 

  

   

Net assets of the joint venture as per joint venture accounts .................................  308 751 351 172 

   

Net assets of the joint venture ï 25% share ...........................................................   77 188  87 793 

Less impairment write-down not included in joint venture accounts ......................   (31 507)  (41 507) 

Add accumulated depreciation adjustment not included in joint venture accounts 3 436 - 

Carrying amount of investment in entity ï 25% share ............................................   49 117  46 286 

   

Net cash distributions received from/(paid to) entity ..............................................   3 517  10 146 
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Note 14: Joint venture (continued) 
 
(iv)      Sugar Australia Joint Venture - Impairment 
 
The Sugar Australia Joint Venture investment was determined to be impaired as at 31 May 2018.   
 
The impairment was required due to an expected sustained reduction in profitability in the Joint Ventureôs refined 
sugar operations due to increased competition and supply in the Australian refined sugar market. 
 
The investment was written-down to its recoverable amount (fair value) on 31 May 2018 as follows: 
 

Valuation effective:  31 May 2018 

Carrying value based on equity method of accounting $53,186,155 

Fair value based on DCF óValue-in-useô valuation $46,286,155 

Impairment Adjustment (Write-down) $6,900,000 

 
There was no further impairment indicators during the financial year ended 31 May 2019.  As a result no 
impairment was determined to be required during the financial year ended 31 May 2019. 
 
The 31 May 2018 impairment assessment was determined by comparing the investmentôs recoverable amount 
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount as determined under the equity 
method of accounting.  The recoverable amount has been based on a óValue in useô discounted cash flow 
calculation of the Joint Ventureôs operations as determined by the Directors of Mackay Sugar Limited. 
 
The discounted cash flow model and associated calculations used to determine the fair value as at 31 May 2018 
have been performed by óEducation & Management Consulting Services Pty Ltd (EMCS)ô, independent valuers not 
related to the Group.  EMCS have the appropriate qualifications and experience in business valuations and the fair 
value measurement of organisations. 
 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts and impairment amounts of óInvestments accounted for using the equity 
methodô during the financial year is as follows:    
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Carrying amount of Equity-accounted investments at period end 

prior to impairment .......................................................................................  

  

 85 382 

  

 88 215 

Losses recognised in profit or loss:   

 Å Impairment of Sugar Australia joint venture ...................................   -  (6 900) 

Losses recognised in other comprehensive income:   

 Å Nil ....................................................................................................   -  - 

Balance at the end of the year.....................................................................   85 382  81 315 
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Note 15: Other financial assets 
 

 Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current assets    

Derivative financial assets ............................................................................. 15(a)  4 269  15 707 

Investments in equity instruments ................................................................. 15(b)  -  - 

   4 269  15 707 

Non-current assets    

Derivative financial assets ............................................................................. 15(a)  566  4 544 

Investments in equity instruments ................................................................. 15(b)  31 927  30 252 

   32 493  34 796 

(a) Derivative financial assets comprise of the following cash flow hedges:   

Interest rate swaps and collars ...............................................................................   -  514 

Diesel fuel price swaps ...........................................................................................  - 63 

Forward exchange contracts ..................................................................................   -  36 

Foreign exchange options ......................................................................................   -  - 

Sugar options..........................................................................................................   -  - 

Sugar price swaps ..................................................................................................   4 651  19 526 

Sugar futures contracts ..........................................................................................   184  112 

   4 835  20 251 

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps, 
diesel fuel price swaps, forward exchange contracts, foreign exchange options, 
sugar futures contracts, sugar options and sugar price swaps designated as 
hedges are initially recognised directly in equity and are separately included as a 
hedge reserve in the Statement of Changes in Equity. At settlement date, 
amounts included in the hedge reserve are transferred from the hedge reserve to 
income or expense. The Statement of Changes in Equity includes transfers to 
and from the hedge reserve.  Derivative financial assets are measured at fair 
value based on mark-to-market valuations at balance date. 

  

 
(b) Investments in equity instruments: 

   

Unlisted investments in equity instruments, not held for trading, recognised at fair 
value through other comprehensive income: 

  

 - shares in other corporations ....................................................................... 15(c)  31 927  30 252 

   

(c) Shares in other corporations:   

Sugar Terminals Limited shares .................................................................... 15(d)  29 506  27 831 

Racecourse Projects Pty Ltd shares ............................................................. 15(e)  2 421  2 421 

  31 927  30 252 

 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

65 

Note 15: Other financial assets (continued) 
 
(d) Sugar Terminals Limited shares  
 
The Sugar Terminals Limited shares are made up of 32,730,150 óM Classô shares which have been measured at 
fair value.  The shares trade on a restricted market which may not fully reflect their fair value. 
 
Valuation technique: 
Under the income approach, an EBITDA multiplier is applied to the trailing twelve-month EBITDA of Sugar 
Terminals Limited to determine an equity value per share of the company.  The inputs used in the fair value 
calculations have been categorised as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  This valuation methodology is consistent 
with the valuation of the STL share subscription liability (refer note 22(b)). 
 
Dividends received during the financial period in relation to the investment were $2,258,380 (2018: $2,127,460). 
 
During the period, a gain on fair value adjustment of $1,673,747 (2018: $884,687) was recognised in other 
comprehensive income via the óFinancial asset revaluation reserveô. 
 
(e) Racecourse Projects Pty Ltd shares 
 
The Racecourse Projects Pty Ltd shares are made up of 2,364,923 fully paid ordinary shares which have been 
measured at fair value.  This represents 5.65% of the shareholding in the company.  The shares are not listed on 
any public or private market exchange. 
 
The fair value has been determined through a combination of the income approach and market approach under 
level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  The company operates sugar cane farms in selected strategic areas.  The fair 
value has been determined based on cane farm valuations and sale prices in comparative areas, adjusted for the 
appropriate size and scale of the cane farming operations. 
 
No dividends were received during the financial period in relation to the investment (2018: $Nil) 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment 
    

(a) Summary of property, plant and equipment 

 Note 

  

  

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Land and buildings      

Land    

- Directorsô valuation...............................................................................................  1 587  3 555 

Total land ....................................................................................................................  1 587  3 555 

    

Buildings    

- Directorsô valuation............................................................................................... 20 661 35 221 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................................... (6 241) (5 049) 

Total buildings............................................................................................................. 14 420 30 172 

   

Plant and equipment   

Plant and machinery   

- Directorsô valuation............................................................................................... 148 907 256 715 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................................... (57 235) (46 886) 

Total plant and machinery .......................................................................................... 91 672 209 829 

   

Railways and rolling stock   

- Directorsô valuation............................................................................................... 38 041 68 292 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................................... (13 237) (10 920) 

Total railways and rolling stock................................................................................... 24 804 57 372 

   

 16(e) 132 483 300 928 

   

Capital work-in-progress .................................................................................... 16(f) 5 215 3 925 

Total property, plant and equipment ........................................................................  137 698 304 853 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
(b) Valuation methodology and assumptions 
 
Property, plant and equipment are measured under the óRevaluation modelô in accordance with óAASB 116: 
Property, Plant and Equipmentô.  The Group has determined that it has two óunits of valuationô for revaluation 
purposes as follows: 
 

¶ Mackay raw sugar milling 

¶ Mossman raw sugar milling 
 
The fair value of all property, plant and equipment classes is assessed during each financial period and 
revaluation adjustments are made when any changes in fair value or impairment have been considered to be 
material.  The last revaluation adjustment which resulted in an impairment of the Mackay and Mossman raw sugar 
milling assets was made on 30 November 2018. 
 
As at 31 May 2019, the Directors have determined, based on information from management, that a further 
revaluation of the assets was required and the Company has further impaired the assets as set out in note 16(c).  
This impairment adjustment has resulted in asset valuations lower than the fair value amount previously 
determined under the revaluation process.  The valuation approach used in the impairment determination (refer 
note 16(c)) has been considered by the Directors and management to be the most appropriate and reasonable 
valuation method as at 31 May 2019. 
 
Previous valuations of all property, plant and equipment assets have been determined through a discounted cash 
flow methodology under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
A summary of the valuation methodology, valuation techniques, and significant unobservable inputs used in 
measuring fair value as at 31 May 2018 are as follows: 
 
(i) Mackay raw sugar milling assets 
 
Asset classes: 
 
Includes milling land, buildings, plant, machinery, railways and rolling stock 
 
Valuation technique: 
 
Discounted cash flow model 
 
The valuation model considers the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated by the raw sugar 
milling operations.  The cash flow projections include specific estimates for the next ten years.  The valuation 
model is calculated on a staged discounted cash flow basis (i.e. two 5 year periods plus a terminal value reflecting 
cash flows expected beyond year 10).  The model discounts óOperating Free Cash Flow (OFCF)ô, after notional 
corporate tax, at a óWeighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)ô.  Consistent with AASB136, expectations about 
possible variations in the amount or timing of future cash flows have been incorporated by assigning probabilities 
to various scenarios. 
 
Significant unobservable inputs: 
 
Estimated future sugar price: 
 
An average of several predictive methods was used to derive the unpriced forecast future sugar prices.  These 
methods include future price estimates based on forward prices and forecasts derived from historical data and 
analysis of underlying and long term trends. 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
(i) Mackay raw sugar milling assets (continued) 
 
Estimated future cane tonnages milled: 
 
Tonnes of cane estimated for the next financial year is based on current estimates.  Future yearsô cane tonnages 
are based on expected normal weather and cane growing conditions. 
 
Estimated future milling costs: 
 
Operating expenses included in the cash flow forecast are based on the normal levels incurred for the expected 
crop size and season length.  Controllable maintenance costs are based on a number of factors including the 
amounts required to maintain milling rate, reliability and recovery.  Forecast costs are expected to be managed 
within limits to meet the desired overall cash flow levels. 
 
Weighted average cost of capital (WACC): 
 
WACC calculated to be in the range of 7.0% to 8.3% after adjustment for various risk factors, with a selected point 
estimate of 7.8%. 
 
 
(ii) Mossman raw sugar milling assets 
 
Asset classes: 
 
Includes milling land, buildings, plant, machinery, railways and rolling stock 
 
Valuation technique: 
 
Discounted cash flow model 
 
The valuation model considers the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated by the raw sugar 
milling operations.  The cash flow projections include specific estimates for the next ten years.  The valuation 
model is calculated on a staged discounted cash flow basis (i.e. two 5 year periods plus a terminal value reflecting 
cash flows expected beyond year 10).  The model discounts óOperating Free Cash Flow (OFCF)ô, after notional 
corporate tax, at a óWeighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)ô.  Consistent with AASB136, expectations about 
possible variations in the amount or timing of future cash flows have been incorporated by assigning probabilities 
to various scenarios. 
 
Significant unobservable inputs: 
 
Estimated future sugar price: 
 
An average of several predictive methods was used to derive the unpriced forecast future sugar prices.  These 
methods include future price estimates based on forward prices and forecasts derived from historical data and 
analysis of underlying and long term trends. 
 
Estimated future cane tonnages milled: 
 
Tonnes of cane estimated for the next financial year is based on current estimates.  Future yearsô cane tonnages 
are based on expected normal weather and cane growing conditions. 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
(ii) Mossman raw sugar milling assets (continued) 
 
Estimated future milling costs: 
 
Operating expenses included in the cash flow forecast are based on the normal levels incurred for the expected 
crop size and season length.  Controllable maintenance costs are based on a number of factors including the 
amounts required to maintain milling rate, reliability and recovery.  Forecast costs are expected to be managed 
within limits to meet the desired overall cash flow levels. 
 
Weighted average cost of capital (WACC): 
 
WACC calculated to be in the range of 7.0% to 8.3% after adjustment for various risk factors, with a selected point 
estimate of 7.8%. 
 
 
(iii) Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurement: 
 
Mackay and Mossman raw sugar milling assets: 
 
The estimated fair value would increase (decrease) if: 
 

¶ The estimated sugar prices per tonne were higher (lower); 

¶ The estimated cane tonnages milled were higher (lower); 

¶ The estimated milling costs were lower (higher); or 

¶ The risk-adjusted discount rates were lower (higher). 
 
There is an inter-relationship between the various unobservable inputs as follows: 
The sugar cane crop size and quality affects the quantity of tonnes of sugar produced by the mills during a season.  
Increasing cane tonnages will increase sugar revenue, depending on the sugar price, however this will be partially 
offset by an increase in the additional milling costs required to process the additional cane. 
 
 
(iv) Valuation techniques  
 
Under the income approach, a discounted cash flow model has been used for the 31 May 2018 revaluation 
adjustments.  The model determines a fair value by calculating a present value from the net cash flows expected 
to be generated by the milling operations.  The forecast cash flows used in the model have been developed using 
the Groupôs own data, as there is no reasonably available information that indicates that market participants would 
use different assumptions. 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
 
As at 31 May 2019, the Directors have determined, based on information from management, that the property, 
plant and equipment assets were impaired on the basis of an independent third party transaction for the 
recapitalisation of the Company on 31 July 2019.  Refer to note 29 for more details in relation to the 
recapitalisation transaction.  The Directors and management have determined that the recapitalisation transaction 
provides the most appropriate indicator of fair value of the property, plant and equipment assets as at 31 May 
2019. 
 
The property, plant and equipment assets were impaired on 31 May 2019 on the above basis as follows: 
 

Impairment effective 31 May 2019 Mackay assets Mossman assets Total assets 

Value of assets pre-impairment $301 651 470 $450 912 $302 102 382 

Fair Value amount $137 699 063 Nil $137 699 063 

Impairment write-down $163 952 407 $450 912 $164 403 319 

 
A reconciliation of the revaluation and impairment amounts of property, plant and equipment during the financial 
year is as follows:    
 

 

  May 

2019 

 $ô000 

May 

2018 

$ô000 

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at period end prior to revaluation 
and impairment ................................................................................................................................  

  
 302 102 

  
   307 786 

   
Losses recognised in profit or loss:   
 Å Revaluation of Mossman raw sugar milling property, plant and equipment .......................   -      (2 933) 

 
 Å Impairment of Mackay raw sugar milling property, plant and equipment ...........................  (163 953)               - 

 
 Å Impairment of Mossman raw sugar milling property, plant and equipment ........................         (451)  
   
Losses recognised in other comprehensive income:   
 Å Revaluation of Mossman raw sugar milling property, plant and equipment .......................   -               - 

 
 Å Revaluation of Mackay raw sugar milling property, plant and equipment ..........................   -               - 

 

   
Closing balance of property, plant and equipment at period end ....................................................   137 698  304 853 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
May 2019 

(e) Movement in carrying 
amounts during the year 

Land Buildings 
Plant and 
machinery 

Railways 
and rolling 

stock 
Total 

 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 

Carrying amount at the 
beginning of the year..................  

 3 555  30 172  209 829  57 372  300 928 

Additions ....................................   -  2 850  8 724  947  12 521 

Disposals ....................................   -  (3)  (1 932)  (126)  (2 061) 

Depreciation  ..............................   -  (1 197)  (10 957)  (2 407)  (14 561) 

Transfers to investment 
properties ...................................  

 -  -  -  -  - 

Impairment write-down ...............   (1 968)  (17 402)  (113 992)  (30 982)  (164 344) 

Carrying amount at the end of 
the year ......................................  

 1 587  14 420  91 672  24 804  132 483 

(f) Carrying amount of capital 
work-in-progress 

     

Property, plant and equipment 
(includes impairment of $60k) 

     5 215 

      137 698 

 

 
 
May 2018 
 

(e) Movement in carrying 
amounts during the year 

Land Buildings 
Plant and 
machinery 

Railways 
and rolling 

stock 
Total 

 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 
Carrying amount at the 
beginning of the year  ................  

 3 555  31 269  212 855  58 830  306 509 

Additions ....................................   -  214  12 381  1 521  14 116 

Disposals ....................................   -  (2)  (115)  (72)  (189) 

Depreciation  ..............................   -  (1 298)  (12 417)  (2 860)  (16 575) 

Transfers to investment 
properties ...................................  

 -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation adjustment  ............   -  (11)  (2 875)  (47)  (2 933) 

Impairment write-down ...............   -  -  -  -  - 

Carrying amount at the end of 
the year  .....................................  

 3 555  30 172  209 829  57 372  300 928 

(f) Carrying amount capital work-
in-progress 

     

Property, plant and equipment ...       3 925 

      304 853 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(g) Capitalised finance costs:   
Finance costs incurred .......................................................................................   -  - 

Finance revenue earned ....................................................................................   -  - 

Net finance costs capitalised .............................................................................   -  - 

   
(h) If property, plant and equipment were stated at historical costs, the 

amounts would be as follows: 
  

Land   

Cost .........................................................................................................   5 816  5 816 

Total land .................................................................................................   5 816  5 816 

Buildings   

Cost .........................................................................................................   55 644 52 820 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................  (16 393) (14 809) 

Total buildings .........................................................................................  39 251 38 011 

Plant and machinery   

Cost .........................................................................................................  427 257 426 435 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................  (164 665) (153 957) 

Total plant and machinery .......................................................................  262 592 272 478 

Railways and rolling stock   

Cost .........................................................................................................  129 516 128 966 

Accumulated depreciation .......................................................................  (57 470) (53 122) 

Total railways and rolling stock .........................................................................   72 046 75 844 

Property, plant and equipment ..........................................................................  379 705 392 149 

Capital work-in-progress ...................................................................................  5 275 3 925 

Total property, plant and equipment .................................................................  384 980 396 074 

 
References to ñCostò in land, buildings, plant and machinery, and railways and rolling stock above include amounts 
recorded at valuation that were eligible to be declared as deemed cost as at the date of revaluation on transition to 
Australian Financial Reporting Standards on 1 July 2004. 
 
(i) Leased plant and equipment 
 
The Group leases 240 Cane Bins under an arrangement that is not in the legal form of a lease, but is accounted 
for as a finance lease based on its terms and conditions (refer Finance lease liability note 20(f)).  The leased 
equipment secures lease obligations.  At 31 May 2019, the net carrying amount of leased plant and equipment 
was $nil (2018: $nil). 
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Note 17: Investment properties 
Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Investment properties   

Cost ..........................................................................................................   3 485  3 485 

Accumulated depreciation ........................................................................   (438)  (411) 

Total investment properties ............................................................. 20(b)  3 047  3 074 

(b) Movements in carrying amounts during the year    

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  .........................................   3 074  3 101 

Additions ..................................................................................................   -  - 

Disposals  .................................................................................................   -  - 

Depreciation  ............................................................................................   (27)  (27) 

Transfers to assets held-for-sale .............................................................   -  - 

Impairment of investment property ..........................................................   (656)  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  ..................................................   2 391  3 074 

   

 

(c) Income received and expenditure incurred during the year    

Rental income ..........................................................................................   514  487 

Commission .............................................................................................   (40)  (41) 

Rates ........................................................................................................   (75)  (76) 

Repairs and maintenance ........................................................................   (239)  (353) 

  160  17 

   

(d) The cost value model is applied to all investment properties. The fair 
value of investment properties as at the end of the financial year is .......   11 775  11 775 

 

The fair value of investment property has been determined through a market approach under level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  Valuations have been obtained from an independent valuer with experience in the 
location and market of the investment property being valued.  Valuations are updated only when 
management considers that there have been material changes in the valuations of investment properties.  
Many of the investment properties are located in rural areas and are held for strategic purposes rather than 
for optimum rental revenue, capital appreciation or development.  Accordingly, some of the investment 
properties are not being utilised in the highest and best use, upon which the valuations have been based. 
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Note 17: Investment properties (continued) 
 
(e) Impairment of investment property 
 
As at 31 May 2019, the Directors have determined, based on information from management, that the 
Mossman investment property assets were impaired on the basis of an independent third party transaction 
for the sale of Mossman mill on 5 July 2019.  Refer to note 29 for more details in relation to the sale of 
Mossman mill.  The Directors and management have determined that the transaction for the sale of 
Mossman mill provides the most appropriate indicator of fair value of the Mossman investment property 
assets as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The investment property was impaired on 31 May 2019 on the above basis as follows: 
 

Impairment effective 31 May 2019 Mackay assets Mossman assets Total assets 

Value of assets pre-impairment $2 390 568 $656 155 $3 046 723 

Cost / Fair Value amount $2 390 568 Nil $2 390 568 

Impairment write-down Nil $656 155 $656 155 
 

 
 
 
Note 18: Other assets 

Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current    

Deferred sugar pricing losses .........................................................................   -  - 

Prepayments...................................................................................................   1 026  452 

Deferred recapitalisation costs .......................................................................  393 - 

  1 419  452 

   

Deferred sugar pricing losses relate to the net cash paid on the mark-to-market of unrealised sugar options 
contracts.  Outstanding sugar options contracts are marked-to-market on a daily basis with the net movement 
being cash settled with the relevant broker. 

 

Prepayments relate to various expenses (e.g. rates) that have been paid in advance. 

 
Deferred recapitalisation costs are incremental costs directly attributable to a proposed recapitalisation transaction 
currently in progress at the end of the period.  These costs will be deducted from the equity/liability funding 
received if the transaction is completed. 
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Note 19: Trade and other payables     

Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current - unsecured liabilities   

Suppliersô cane payment  ........................................................................................   19 456 22 432 

Trade payables  .......................................................................................................   14 898 13 049 

Sundry payables and accrued expenses  ...............................................................   6 354 9 574 

  40 708 45 055 

 
Note 20: Interest bearing liabilities 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current   

Unsecured liabilities   

Interest bearing deposits .........................................................................................   98  242 

Selected-term unsecured notes ...................................................................... 20(d)  2 982 7 717 

Fixed-rate medium-term unsecured notes (bonds) ......................................... 20(e)  49 964 49 788 

Finance lease .................................................................................................. .20(f)  -  206 

Secured liabilities   

Bank loans ...............................................................................................................  129 895 104 718 

Other loans ..............................................................................................................   -  - 

 182 939 162 671 

Non-current   

Unsecured liabilities   

Selected-term unsecured notes ...................................................................... 20(d)  251  2 151 

Fixed-rate medium-term unsecured notes (bonds) ......................................... 20(e)  -  - 

Finance lease ................................................................................................... 20(f)  -  866 

Secured liabilities   

Bank loans ...............................................................................................................   -  - 

Other loans ..............................................................................................................   -  - 

  251  3 017 

 183 190 165 688 
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Note 20: Interest bearing liabilities(continued)   

 Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Total current and non-current secured liabilities   

Rabo Bank Australia Limited (Rabo) .......................................................................  65 000 52 500 

   Less: Unamortised transaction costs on initial recognition ..................................   (51)  (156) 

 64 949 52 344 

   

National Australia Bank Limited (NAB) ....................................................................  65 000 52 500 

   Less: Unamortised transaction costs on initial recognition ..................................   (54)  (126) 

 64 946 52 374 

 129 895 104 718 

   

(b) The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:   

First registered mortgage   

Other financial assets ...................................................................................... 15(c) 31 927 30 252 

Property, plant and equipment ........................................................................ 16(a) 137 698 304 853 

Investment properties ...................................................................................... 17(b)  2 391  3 074 

 172 016 338 179 

Second ranking mortgage   

Investments accounted for using the equity method ........................................... 12 85 382 81 315 

 257 398 419 494 

 
Collateral provided 
 
The Rabo and NAB loans are secured by a first ranking registered security interest over the Companyôs, QCSôs 
and MCTôs assets, a first ranking real property mortgage over the Companyôs mill sites and a second ranking 
security interest over the Companyôs interest in the refining joint venture. 
 
(c) Covenant requirements 
 
The Rabo and NAB financial covenants include: (i) total liabilities to be a maximum agreed percentage of total 
tangible assets; (ii) minimum requirements for net tangible assets (excluding hedging assets and liabilities); (iii) 
seasonal working capital facility being subject to minimum borrowing base requirements; (iv) senior debt service 
cover ratio (SDSCR) requirements. 
 
All covenant requirements were not satisfied for the financial year ended 31 May 2019.  As part of the 
recapitalisation transaction a new syndicated facilities agreement was established on 3 August 2019 and this 
facilities agreement specifies that the covenant breaches for the period ended 31 May 2019 are deemed to be 
waived by the banks. All covenant requirements under the new facilities agreement have been satisfied at the time 
of authorisation of these financial statements. 
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Note 20: Interest bearing liabilities (continued) 
 
(d)  Selected-term unsecured notes 
 
The unsecured notes are offered under a prospectus lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC). The unsecured notes are held by shareholders, employees and depositors of the former 
interest bearing deposit scheme which was in operation when the entity was a co-operative.  The former interest 
bearing deposit scheme was suspended on 18th July 2008 and the Company no longer accepted deposits after 
that date.  Withdrawals of funds and transfers to unsecured notes are the only operations undertaken in the 
interest bearing deposit scheme. 
 
The unsecured notes are issued for terms of 7 days, 6 months, 12 months, 24 months or 5 years from the date of 
investment.  Interest rates vary depending on the length of the investment and are revised periodically based on 
the comparable prevailing market interest rates at the time.  Interest is calculated daily from the date of the 
investment until the maturity date and paid on 30 June and 31 December in arrears or on the maturity date, 
whichever date is first. 
 
The unsecured notes are not guaranteed by any party or secured over any assets of the Company.  In the event of 
the winding-up of the Company, the unsecured notes rank behind secured loans, but equally with unsecured 
creditors and in priority to deferred cane payment liability and shareholderôs equity. 
 

 Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Opening balance at the beginning of the year ..........................................   9 868  17 915 

Issuances ...................................................................................................   1 466  877 

Interest paid ........................................................................................ 3(a)  297  588 

Repayments...............................................................................................   (8 398)  (9 512) 

Closing balance at the end of the year  .....................................................   3 233  9 868 

Maturity dates Average   

 interest rates   

Within 7 Days................................................................... 2.50%  1 445  3 249 

Less than 6 months ......................................................... 4.25%  555  1 185 

6 months to 12 months .................................................... 5.00%  982  3 283 

12 months to 24 months .................................................. 5.25%  55  51 

4 years to 5 years ............................................................ 6.00%  196  2 100 
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Note 20: Interest bearing liabilities (continued) 
 
(e)  Fixed-rate medium-term unsecured notes (bonds) 
 
On 5 April 2013, the Company issued Notes with an aggregate face value of $50 million due 5 April 2018.  The 
notes were issued under a Subscription Agreement with FIIG Securities Limited and an Information Memorandum 
and Pricing Supplement to eligible investors under section 708(8) of the Corporations Act.  The notes had a fixed 
term of five years and a fixed interest rate of 7.25% per annum.  Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in 
arrears on the 5 April and 5 October of each year. 
 
The notes were rolled-over on 5 April 2018 and extended for a further two year period to 5 April 2020. The fixed 
interest rate increased to 7.75% for the extended period. Interest on the rolled-over notes is payable quarterly in 
arrears on 5 July, 5 October, 5 January and 5 April during the extended period. 
 
The notes are not listed or quoted on any stock or securities exchange, but are able to be traded on the 
Austraclear clearing and settlement system between eligible investors.  The notes are redeemable in full on the 
maturity date.  The notes are classified as a direct, senior, unsubordinated and unsecured debt obligation subject 
to a negative pledge condition.  The notes are also subject to a financial covenant dealing with the total tangible 
assets of the Group.  In the event of the winding-up of the Company, the notes rank behind secured loans, but 
equally with unsecured creditors and in priority to deferred cane payment liability and shareholderôs equity. 
 
There was a potential breach of covenant as at 31 May 2019 which became apparent following the completion of 
the Nordzucker transaction and during the course of finalising the accounts. By that stage the Notes had been 
repaid in accordance with the Conditions of the Notes as amended by the circular resolution of noteholders passed 
on 2 May 2019. 
 
. 
 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Opening balance at the beginning of the year ..........................................   50 000  50 000 

Issuances ...................................................................................................   -  - 

Repayments...............................................................................................   -  - 

Closing balance at the end of the year  .....................................................   50 000  50 000 

Less: Unamortised transaction costs on initial recognition .......................   (36)  (212) 

  49 964  49 788 

   

Interest paid on notes during the year .......................................................   3 875  3 625 

Interest owing on notes at the end of the year ..........................................   595  595 

   

 

Maturity dates 
Average 

  

 interest rates   

5 April 2020...................................................................... 7.75%  50 000  50 000 
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Note 20: Interest bearing liabilities (continued) 
 
(f)  Finance Leases Liabilities 
 
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows: 
 
   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Finance lease commitments   

  - not later than 12 months ......................................................................................   -  294 

  - later than 12 months but not later than 5 years...................................................   -  866 

  - greater than 5 years ............................................................................................   -  - 

Minimum lease payments ........................................................................................   -  1 160 

Less: future finance payments.................................................................................   -  (88) 

Total lease liability/present value of lease payments ..............................................   -  1 072 

 
The fair value of the finance lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount. 
 
Lease of equipment not in the legal form of a lease (Cane Bins) 
 
During the 2015 financial year, the Group entered into an arrangement whereby Cane Bins were purchased, 
modified and assembled by the Group, sold to a transport company and then leased back by the Group for the 
purposes of cane transport operations.  The Group pays the transport contractor a fixed monthly fee for the capital 
component of the bins, plus a variable charge based on the quantity of cane transported over the applicable 
charge period.  The lease period is based on an initial five year period, but can be cancelled at any time provided 
predetermined break-costs are paid which effectively cover the remaining unpaid capital cost of the bins. 
 
Due to the specialised nature of the equipment, the transport contractor is unlikely to be able to use the bins for 
alternative purposes.  Therefore, on the completion or early termination of the lease, it is likely that ownership of 
the bins will pass to the Group.  The contractual agreement also specifies that the Group is responsible for the 
maintenance and insurance of the equipment, the equivalent to if they owned the equipment.  The lessor also 
provides no warranty on the equipment provided.  Accordingly, although the arrangement is not in the legal form of 
a lease, the Group has concluded that the arrangement contains a lease of the equipment, and as the lease meets 
the requirements of a finance lease, it has been classified as a finance lease from the commencement of the first 
lease payment period which was 1 June 2014.  At the inception of the arrangement, payments have been 
allocated into lease payments and payments related to other elements of the arrangement.  The imputed finance 
costs of the lease liability have been determined based on the interest rate implicit in the lease of 9.02%. 
 
The initial five year lease period expired during the financial period and the residual amount was paid in full 
resulting in termination of the lease and the Company taking ownership of the cane bins. 
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Note 21: Other liabilities 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Current   

Deferred sugar pricing gains ......................................................................... 21(a)  266  2 628 

Deferred grant income ................................................................................... 21(b)  969  762 

Deferred cane payment ................................................................................. 21(c)  -  445 

  1 235  3 835 

Non-current   

Deferred grant income ................................................................................... 21(b) 

Deferred cane payment ................................................................................. 21(c) 

 22 709 

18 456 

 20 035 

9 494 

  41 165  29 529 

 

(a) Deferred sugar pricing gains 

Deferred sugar pricing gains relate to the net cash received on the mark-to-market of unrealised sugar futures 
and options contracts.  Outstanding sugar futures and options contracts are marked-to-market on a daily basis 
with the net movement being cash settled with the relevant broker. 

 

 

(b) Deferred grant income 

Deferred grant income relates to government grants received or receivable in relation to capital expenditure 
projects. The grant proceeds are initially recognised as deferred income and subsequently allocated to income 
or expense on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. 

 

 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Government Grants:   

Total grant funding received or receivable .............................................................  28 941  25 298 

Amount recognised in income or expense .............................................................  (5 263)  (4 501) 

Amount deferred in other liabilities .........................................................................  23 678  20 797 
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Note 21: Other liabilities (continued) 
 
(c) Deferred cane payment 
 
The Company implemented a $2 per tonne grower contribution in the form of a deferred cane payment, 
commencing in the 2017 season, for cane supplied at the three Mackay mills.  The contribution applies to all cane 
supplied by sugar cane suppliers whose bargaining agents reached an agreement with the Company.  An 
agreement was reached with the bargaining agents for the significant majority of sugar cane suppliers of the 
Company.  The contribution applies for a two year period for the 2017 and 2018 seasons. 
 
The total tonnes of cane subject to the deferred cane payment agreement during the period (2018 season) were 
4,480,684.93 tonnes.  This equates to a total deferred cane payment of $8,961,370 for the period. 
 
At the end of the period the total deferred cane payment was made up as follows: 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

2017 season ï 4,747,102.16 tonnes ......................................................................   9 494  9 939 

2018 season ï 4,480,684.93 tonnes ......................................................................   8 962  - 

  18 456  9 939 

 
Under the agreement, the funds from the deferred cane payment are repayable to the sugar cane suppliers upon 
the occurrence of certain trigger events.  These trigger events are summarised as follows: 
 
Å Changes in ownership or a merging of the Company; 
Å Certain Insolvency events including the winding-up of the Company, appointment of a liquidator or 

administrator, and entering into a scheme of arrangement with creditors; 
Å Raising funds via the issue of shares; 
Å Declaration of a dividend or similar distribution; 
Å Any other event determined by the Board of the Company to be a trigger event. 
 
Upon the occurrence of an Insolvency event, the repayment of the deferred cane payment will only be made after 
all of the Companyôs secured and unsecured creditors have been fully settled.  Where the amount available to 
meet the deferred cane payments is not sufficient to meet all of the outstanding deferred payments, the deferred 
payments shall be made on a proportional basis based of the total amounts outstanding as deferred payments for 
all seasons. 
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Note 22: Other financial liabilities 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current   

Derivative financial liabilities .......................................................................... 22(a)  415  364 

Non-current   

Derivative financial liabilities .......................................................................... 22(a)  579  - 

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ........................... 22(b)  28 423  27 473 

  29 002  27 473 

   

(a) Derivative financial liabilities comprise of cash flow hedges:   

Foreign exchange contracts ...................................................................................   120  - 

Foreign exchange options ......................................................................................   221  124 

Interest rate swaps and collars ...............................................................................   579  - 

Sugar futures ..........................................................................................................   -  - 

Sugar options..........................................................................................................   74  240 

Sugar price swaps ..................................................................................................   -  - 

Diesel fuel price swaps ...........................................................................................   -  - 

  994  364 

 

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange options, 
interest rate swaps, sugar futures contracts, sugar price swaps, sugar options and diesel fuel price swaps 
designated as hedges are initially recognised directly in equity and are separately included as a hedge reserve in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity. At the settlement date, amounts included in the hedge reserve are transferred 
from the hedge reserve to income or expense. The Statement of Changes in Equity includes transfers to and from 
the hedge reserve.  Derivative financial liabilities are measured at fair value based on mark-to-market valuations at 
balance date. 

 

(b)  Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 

STL share subscription liability (designated on initial recognition as a financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss) $28,422,938 

 

Subscription and option agreement: 

On 10 September 2015, the Group received $26,500,000 through a óSubscription and option agreementô in relation 
to the Sugar Terminals Limited (STL) shares held by the Group (refer note 15(c),(d)).  As part of the arrangement, 
Mackay Sugar has declared that it holds the STL shares on trust, whereby the trust beneficiaries obtain a financial 
interest in the shares; however Mackay Sugar maintains the legal ownership and voting rights of the shares.  The 
term of the agreement is for 8.6 years to 30 April 2024 and at the completion of the agreement the financial 
interest in the shares is able to be repurchased by Mackay Sugar.  The Group has determined that the funds 
received under the agreement does not constitute a sale of the STL shares as Mackay Sugar has retained the 
legal title to the shares and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the shares.  Accordingly, the 
funds have been accounted for as a financial liability and the Group has elected to designate the measurement of 
the liability at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Note 22: Other financial liabilities (continued) 

 

(b)  Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 

STL share subscription liability (designated on initial recognition as a financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss) (continued) 

 

Credit risk: 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The carrying amount of the financial liability represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group has 
individually assessed the liabilityôs credit risk. The review includes external ratings and market information if they 
are available. The Groupôs assessment has determined the credit risk to be negligible. Accordingly, the full 
movement of the fair value of the liability has been recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
Collateral: 
 
Mackay Sugar is required to hold the STL shares (as disclosed in note 15(c),(d)), currently fair valued at 
$29,505,268, in trust during the full term of the agreement.  Dividends received on the STL shares (including any 
franking credits) are required to be passed on in full to the trust beneficiaries. 
 
Valuation: 
 
The fair value of the liability has been determined based on the terms and conditions included in the agreement.  
The agreement includes calculations for determining the value of the liability on termination date and the fair value 
has been based on these calculations.  The termination value is made up of the initial investment amount of 
$26,500,000 plus a share of the increase or decrease in the value of the STL shares.  This amount is determined 
based on the latest financial accounts of STL and will therefore vary over the life of the agreement.  The fair value 
has been determined using the latest STL accounts at the time of the preparation of these financial accounts.  The 
initial additional amount payable on termination has been apportioned to the profit or loss over the term of the 
agreement.  Periodic movements in the additional amount payable are taken up in full in the profit or loss during 
the relevant period.  Based on the latest STL financial statements, the amount that would be payable at the 
completion of the agreement on 30 April 2024 is $28,978,828.  Therefore, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability and the amount the entity would be contractually required to pay at maturity to the 
holder of the obligation is $555,890. 

 

Items of income, expense, gains or losses: 

Finance costs in relation to the liability recognised in profit or loss during the period are as follows: 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Dividend paid ..........................................................................................................   2 258  2 127 

Fair value increment/(decrement)...........................................................................   950  556 

  3 208  2 683 

 

No amounts in relation to the liability were recognised in other comprehensive income during the period. 
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Note 23: Employee benefits 

 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current ........................................................................................................... 23(a)  11 017  10 547 

Non-current .............................................................................................................   2 729  2 752 

  13 746  13 299 

   

Opening balance at the beginning of the year .......................................................   13 299  13 342 

Additional provisions raised ....................................................................................   9 737  8 890 

Amount used...........................................................................................................   (9 290)  (8 933) 

Closing balance at the end of the year  ..................................................................   13 746  13 299 

 
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to annual leave, long service leave, travel 
leave, allowances and preserved sick leave.  The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits 
have been included in note 1(p) employee benefits. 
 
 
(a) Current employee benefits 
 
The current portion of this liability includes all of the accrued annual leave, travel leave, allowances and preserved 
sick leave.  The current portion of this liability also includes the unconditional entitlements to long service leave 
where employees have completed the required period of service.  Based on past experience, the Group does not 
expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months.  The 
following table reflects the proportion of current leave entitlements divided into amounts that are expected to be 
taken or paid within 12 months and those that are expected to be taken after 12 months.  This has been based on 
the probability of annual leave and long service leave being taken, which has been determined from a combination 
of the Groupôs leave policies and historical data. 
 

 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Current leave obligations expected to be settled within 12 months   .....................  4 513  4 431 

Current leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months .........................  6 504  6 116 

Total current employee benefits .............................................................................   11 017  10 547 
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Note 24: Issued capital 

 May 

2019 

$ô000 

May 

2018 

$ô000 

212,879,330 (May 2016: 212,879,330) fully paid investment shares...............  16 498 16 498 

   

a. Investment shares   

 
No of 

shares 
No of 

shares 

Opening balance at the beginning of the year..................................................  212 879 330 212 879 330 

Shares issued during the year  .........................................................................  - - 

Closing balance at the end of the year .............................................................  212 879 330 212 879 330 

 
199,999,991 Investment shares were issued on 22 July 2008 to eligible growers on the restructure of the entity 
from a co-operative to a Company.  5,952,597 Investment shares were issued on 31 May 2013 following the 
conversion of B class investment shares to Investment shares. 
 
6,926,742 Investment shares were issued on 4 June 2012 to Mossman Central Mill Company Ltd as part of the 
consideration for the purchase of the raw sugar milling assets and liabilities of Mossman Central Mill Company Ltd. 
 
Investment shares participate in dividends as determined from time to time by the Directors and, in a winding up or 
reduction of capital, participate equally in the distribution of surplus assets of the Company.  Investment shares are 
able to be traded between eligible shareholders of the Company.  The shares are tradeable on a restricted market 
and are not listed on any stock exchange.  Investment shares have no voting rights. 
 
 
b. Voting shares 
 
Voting shares were issued to grower members of the entity on 21 July 2008 on the restructure of the entity from a 
co-operative to a Company and have no monetary value.  A new voting share is allocated to new growers of the 
Company for no consideration, provided the grower is eligible under the constitution.  A new grower is eligible if 
the farm is a minimum of 20 hectares and produces a minimum of 1,500 tonnes of cane per season.   
 
At the shareholdersô meetings a shareholder with a voting share is entitled to cast one vote when a poll is called 
subject to a maximum of one vote per grower member regardless of the number of shares held.  Voting shares 
can only be held by active growers.  Voting shares are unable to be transferred and are cancelled with no 
compensation when a shareholder ceases to be a grower supplying the Company. 
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Note 24: Issued capital (continued) 

 
c. Capital risk management 
 
Directorsô control the capital of the Group in order to maintain an appropriate debt to equity ratio, provide the 
shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going 
concern. 
 
The Board of Directorsô manages the Groupôs capital by assessing its financial risks and adjusting the capital 
structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market.  These responses include the management of 
debt levels, adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and issues of new shares.  Currently, shares 
are issued under a restricted market arrangement. 
 
The Group does not have a formal capital management strategy, with decisions on issues of capital management 
being made by the Board as required.  These decisions are mainly based on the performance of the Groupôs 
investments and trading activities, and the presence of opportunities for purchases and sales of investments. 
 
The Group does not have any externally imposed capital requirements, apart from those terms listed in note 20(c) 
in relation to the Groupôs covenant requirements under funding arrangements with banks and note 20(e) under the 
fixed-rate medium-term unsecured notes (bonds) documentation. 
 
Details of what the Group manages as capital, including financial liabilities considered to be part of capital, are as 
follows: 
 

Note May 

2019 

$ô000 

May 

2018 

$ô000 

Total borrowings ............................................................................................. 20  183 190  165 688 

STL share subscription funding .................................................................. 22(b)  28 423  27 473 

Less ï cash and cash equivalents ................................................................... 8  (16 924)  (14 793) 

Net debt ..............................................................................................................   194 689  178 368 

Total equity .........................................................................................................   -  204 989 

Total capital ........................................................................................................   194 689  383 357 
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Note 25: Reserves 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Financial assets revaluation reserve 

The financial assets reserve records fair value movements on 
investments in equity instruments, recognised at fair value through other 
comprehensive income .............................................................................  

 

 

 8 666 

 

 

 6 992 

(b) Asset revaluation reserve 

The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets 

 

 - 

 

 - 

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences 
arising on translation of the investment in a foreign associated company. 

 

 

 3 512 

 

 

 2 700 

(d) Hedge reserve 

The hedge reserve records revaluations of items designated as hedges.  

 

 4 875 

 

 22 158 

  17 053  31 850 

   

Reconciliation of Movements in Reserves:   

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(e) Financial assets revaluation reserve 

Balance at beginning of year .....................................................................  
 6 992  6 107 

Revaluation of investments in equity instruments .....................................   1 674  885 

Balance at end of year ..............................................................................   8 666  6 992 

 

 
  

(f) Asset revaluation reserve 

Balance at beginning of year .....................................................................  

 

 - 

 

 - 

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment ...........................................   -  - 

Balance at end of year ...............................................................................   -  - 

 

 
  

(g) Foreign currency translation reserve 

Balance at beginning of year .....................................................................  

 

 2 700 

 

 3 732 

Exchange differences arising on translating the foreign operations ..........       812  (1 032) 

Balance at end of year ...............................................................................   3 512  2 700 

 

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Groupôs foreign operations 
from their functional currencies to the Groupôs presentation currency (i.e. Australian dollars) are recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.  Exchange 
differences previously accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve (in respect of translating the net 
assets of foreign operations) are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation. 
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Note 25: Reserves (continued) 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(g) Cash flow hedging reserve 

Balance at beginning of year .....................................................................  
 22 158  12 874 

   

Gain/(loss) arising on changes in fair value of hedging instruments 
entered into for cash flow hedges: 

  

Sugar price swaps ................................................................................   621  15 825 

Diesel fuel price swaps .........................................................................   -  70 

Forward exchange contracts ................................................................   (344)  (477) 

Foreign exchange options ....................................................................   -  - 

Sugar futures ........................................................................................   184  632 

Sugar options ........................................................................................   -  - 

Interest rate swaps ...............................................................................   (1 093)  261 

Share of Sugar Australia hedge reserve ..............................................   (2 025)  (150) 

Share of New Zealand Sugar Co hedge reserve..................................   273  361 

   

Cumulative (gain)/loss arising on changes in fair value of hedging 
instruments reclassified to profit or loss: 

  

Sugar price swaps ................................................................................   (15 010)  (4 942) 

Diesel fuel price swaps .........................................................................   (63)  166 

Forward exchange contracts ................................................................   806  254 

Foreign exchange options ....................................................................   -  - 

Sugar futures ........................................................................................   (632)  (2 716) 

Sugar options ........................................................................................   -  - 

Interest rate swaps ...............................................................................   -  - 

   

Balance at end of year ..........................................................................   4 875  22 158 

 

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses arising on changes in 
fair value of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges.  The cumulative gain or loss arising on 
changes in fair value of the hedging instruments that are recognised and accumulated under the heading of cash 
flow hedging reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss only when the hedged transaction affects the profit or loss, 
or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the relevant accounting 
policy. 
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Note 25: Reserves (continued) 

 

Cumulative gains/(losses) arising on changes in fair value of hedging instruments reclassified from equity into 
profit or loss during the year are included in the following line items: 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Revenue .................................................................................................   14 836  7 404 

Operating expenses ...............................................................................   63  (166) 

Finance costs..........................................................................................   -  - 

  14 899  7 238 

 

 

Note 26: Capital and leasing commitments 

 

(a) Capital expenditure 

 

(i) Capital expenditure commitments contracted for but not provided for in the accounts: 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Plant and equipment purchases .....................................................................   943  2 962 

  943  2 962 

The amounts are payable within one year.   

 

(ii) Companyôs share of capital expenditure commitments of Joint Ventures contracted for but not 
provided for in the accounts: 

 

Sugar Australia Joint Venture (25% share)     

Plant and equipment purchases .....................................................................   201  58 

The amounts are payable within one year.   
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Note 26: Capital and leasing commitments (continued) 
 

(b) Operating leasing commitments 

 

(i) Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements: 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Payable:   

¶ Not later than 12 months ...........................................................................   56  59 

¶ Between 12 months and 5 years ...............................................................  106  82 

¶ Later than 5 years ......................................................................................  -  - 

 
 

(ii) Share of Joint Venture non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial 
statements: 

 

Sugar Australia Joint Venture (25% share)   

Payable:   

¶ Not later than 12 months ...........................................................................   646  702 

¶ Between 12 months and 5 years ..............................................................   842  1 212 

¶ Later than 5 years .....................................................................................   252  314 
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Note 27: Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Contingent liabilities 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may 
become payable: 

  

   

(i) Share of Joint Venture contingent liabilities: 

Sugar Australia Joint Venture (25% share):  

The joint venture has a contingent liability in the form of bank guarantees.  257  257 

Total contingent liabilities  257  257 

 

 

Contingent assets 

 

Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent assets that will likely 
become receivable: 

 

Insurance claim on Marian Mill Boiler: 

 

On 24 May 2016, a furnace explosion event occurred within No.1 Boiler at 
Marian Mill, resulting in significant damage to the boiler.  As a result of the 
incident the 2016 crush was extended by an additional 10.6 days.  A 
business interruption claim has been lodged for loss of profit, payroll costs 
and increased energy costs arising from the incident.  A progress payment 
of $4,000,000 was received in December 2017 in relation to this claim.  A 
further amount of approximately $3,500,000 was estimated as outstanding 
in relation to this claim as at 31 May 2018. The claim was settled in full 
during the financial year ended 31 May 2019. 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

  

  

 -  3 500 

Total contingent assets  -  3 500 
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Note 28: Cash flow information 

 Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Net cash provided by operating activities   

(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit for the year   

Profit/(loss) for the year  ...................................................................................     (190 192)  (20 427) 

Non-cash flow in profit/(loss) for the year:   

Share of profits of associate and joint venture (not returned in cash) .........   (118)  196 

Depreciation ..............................................................................16(e), 17(b) 14 588 16 602 

Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ....................  2 060 144 

Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property held for sale ..................................  - (214) 

Gain on sale of subsidiary ...........................................................................  - (50) 

Impairment loss on Sugar Australia Joint Venture ......................................  - 6 900 

Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment ................................  164 404 2 933 

Loss on impairment of investment property ................................................  656 - 

Write-off of receivables ................................................................................  24 5 

Doubtful debts expense ...............................................................................   (24)  16 

Fair value adjustment on STL share subscription liability ...........................  950 556 

Lease interest expense ...............................................................................  88 106 

Amortisation of deferred transaction costs ..................................................  535 542 

Deferred loan establishment fees ................................................................  (183) - 

Movement in realised gain/loss on derivatives in Hedge Reserve ..............  515 (720) 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits and other provisions .................   448  (65) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

Decrease/(increase) in receivables .............................................................  2 283 14 851 

Decrease/(increase) in other assets ............................................................   (3 328)  2 907 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories ..............................................................   184  1 706 

Increase/(decrease) in payables .................................................................   (4 348)  (17 727) 

Increase in other liabilities ...........................................................................  11 397 11 735 

 (61) 19 996 
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Note 28: Cash flow information (continued) 

 

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

 

Year ended 31 May 2019 

  
Opening 
Balance 
1-Jun-18 

$'000 

Cash 
Flows 
$'000 

Non-Cash Changes 
Closing 
Balance 

31-May-19 
$'000 

  
 Fair Value 
Changes 

$'000 

 Capitalised 
Interest 

$'000 

  

  

           

Bank loans 105 000 25 000 - - 130 000 

Fixed-rate medium-term 
unsecured notes (bonds) 50 000 - - - 50 000 

Lease liability 1 072 (1 160) - 88 - 

Interest bearing deposits 242 (144) - - 98 

Selected-term unsecured notes 9 867 (6 634) - - 3 233 

STL share subscription liability 27 473 - 950 - 28 423 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 193 654 17 062 950 88 211 754 

 
Year ended 31 May 2018 

  
Opening 
Balance 
1-Jun-17 

$'000 

Cash 
Flows 
$'000 

Non-Cash Changes 
Closing 
Balance 

31-May-18 
$'000 

  
 Fair Value 
Changes 

$'000 

 Capitalised 
Interest 

$'000 

  

  

            

Bank loans 110 000 (5 000) - - 105 000 

Fixed-rate medium-term 
unsecured notes (bonds) 50 000 - - - 50 000 

Lease liability 1 260 (294) - 106 1 072 

Interest bearing deposits 272 (30) - - 242 

Selected-term unsecured notes 17 915 (8 048) - - 9 867 

STL share subscription liability 26 918 - 555 - 27 473 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 206 365 (13 372) 555 106 193 654 
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Note 28: Cash flow information (continued) 

 

(c) Credit standby arrangements and unused credit facilities with banks  

  

Standby arrangements with banks to provide funds and support facilities: 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Credit facility .....................................................................................................   175 175  172 852 

Amount utilised .................................................................................................   134 833  109 833 

Unused credit facility .....................................................................................   40 342  63 019 

 
The facilities are held with Rabo Australia Bank (Rabo) and National Australia Bank (NAB) in a joint lending 
arrangement.  The facilities expired on 2nd March 2019 and were rolled over for a further one year period on the 
same terms and conditions. 
 
 
The finance facilities provided by Rabo and NAB as at 31 May 2019 are summarised as follows: 
 

 

Total 

facilities 

$ô000 

RABO 

facility 

$ô000 

NAB 

facility 

$ô000 

Term debt facility ................................................................  100 000 50 000 50 000 

Seasonal working capital facility .........................................  45 000 22 500 22 500 

Margin call facility (USD$25,000,000) ................................  25 342 12 671 12 671 

Letter of credit facility ..........................................................  4 833 - 4 833 

Total of facilities available ...............................................  175 175 85 171 90 004 

 
(i) Term debt facility - Rabo 
 
This is a $50,000,000 variable interest rate term debt facility.  This facility was fully utilised as at 31 May 2019. 
$2,500,000 is repayable on the 31 May of each year. 
 
(ii) Seasonal working capital facility - Rabo 
 
This is a $22,500,000 variable interest rate seasonal working capital facility for the purpose of covering short term 
cash flow requirements.  At 31 May 2019, $15,000,000 had been utilised under this facility. 
 
(iii) Margin call facility - Rabo 
 
This is a USD$8,750,000 (AUD$12,671,059) variable interest rate margin call facility for the purpose of covering 
margin calls required due to the Groupôs sugar pricing activities. At 31 May 2019, no amounts had been utilised 
under this facility. 
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Note 28: Cash flow information (continued) 
 
(iv) Term debt facility - NAB 
 
This is a $50,000,000 variable interest rate term debt facility. This facility was fully utilised as at 31 May 2019. 
$2,500,000 is repayable on the 31 May of each year. 
 
(v) Seasonal working capital facility - NAB 
 
This is a $22,500,000 variable interest rate seasonal working capital facility for the purpose of covering short term 
cash flow requirements.  At 31 May 2019, $15,000,000 had been utilised under this facility. 
 
(vi) Margin call facility ï NAB 

 
This is a USD$8,750,000 (AUD$12,671,059) variable interest rate margin call facility for the purpose of covering 
margin calls required due to the Groupôs sugar pricing activities.  At 31 May 2019, no amounts had been utilised 
under this facility. 
 
(vii)  Letter of credit facility 
 
This is a $4,833,333 variable interest rate line of credit facility for the purpose of covering any bank guarantees or 
letters of credit required by the Group.  This facility was fully utilised as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The security arrangements for credit facilities are: 
 
The Rabo and NAB loans are secured by a first ranking registered security interest over all of the Groupôs assets, a 
first ranking real property mortgage over the Companyôs mill sites and a second ranking security interest over the 
Companyôs interest in the refining joint venture. 

 

(d) Credit standby arrangements and unused credit facilities with other institutions 

  

Queensland Sugar Limited (QSL) ï Short term financing facility: 
 
A financing facility in the form of a óRaw Sugar Purchase and Sale Agreementô was established during the year to 
provide short term financing to fund cane payments to the Companyôs sugar cane suppliers.  The financing 
available was based on 85% of the value of the sugar stock supplied by the Company as collateral.  The total 
amount borrowed and repaid through this facility during the financial year ended 31 May 2019 was $85,981,448.  
As at 31 May 2019 this facility had expired. 
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Note 29: Events after the end of the reporting period 
 
Recapitalisation 
 
On 29 July 2019, the shareholders of the Company voted in favour of an investment proposal by Nordzucker AG in 
the Company.  This resulted in the implementation of the share subscription agreement between the Company 
and Nordzucker AG which was completed on 31 July 2019.  Nordzucker AG acquired a 70% shareholding in the 
Company through a $60 million equity investment. 
 
The following major transactions and changes are expected to occur as a result of the agreement: 
 

¶ Additional loan funding of up to $60 million on commercial terms has been agreed with Nordzucker AG. 
 

¶ Repayment of the Companyôs $50 million in unsecured notes (bonds) has been made in August 2019.  A 
repayment discount of $25 million has been agreed with the noteholders as part of the Nordzucker 
transaction. 

 

¶ The Companyôs finance facilities with NAB and Rabobank have been renegotiated and extended for a 5 
year term. 

 

¶ Success fees of $2.9 million were paid in August 2019 to Kidder Williams. 
 

¶ The deferred cane payments of $18.5 million owing to sugar cane suppliers of the Company will be repaid 
in full via two equal instalments, the first in August 2019 and the second prior to 31 July 2020. 

 

¶ The significant majority of sugar cane suppliers (circa 99%) have agreed to change the cane payment 
formula for determining cane payments to the Companyôs sugar cane suppliers from the Mackay Sugar 
PRS method to the CCS method. This will apply for the 2019 season. 

 
Sale of Mossman Mill  
 
As part of the conditions of the above recapitalisation, the Company sold Mossman mill to Far Northern Milling Pty 
Ltd on 5 July 2019.  The sale transaction included all assets and specified liabilities associated with the Mossman 
milling business.  The Company transferred the employee entitlements to the purchaser on completion and has 
committed to meet any redundancy payments in the event that Mossman mill is closed before 31 December 2020. 
Under the sale agreement, the Company will provide a range of transitional services to the purchaser, until the 
purchaser is able to fully establish its own accounting and business systems. 
 
Derivative financial positions 
 
Since the end of the financial year, movements in the ICE No.11 Raw Sugar Futures prices and exchange rates 
have resulted in variances to the ñmark-to-marketò values reported in the financial statements. 
 
As the Group has entered into sugar futures and options contracts, foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency 
options, and commodity swap transactions, unrealised gains or losses on these derivatives fluctuate over time in 
line with changes to futures prices and foreign exchange rates. 
 
As at 31 May 2019, the financial accounts reported a net unrealised gain on sugar pricing derivatives of 
$4.4 million.  However, as at 16 August 2019, in anticipation of the Board meeting, this amount would be 
calculated to be an unrealised gain of $7.0 million, based on the quoted rates of the day for derivatives that are still 
outstanding and realised prices for derivatives that have been settled subsequent to year end.  The change is 
mainly due to a reduction in the sugar futures prices, offset in part by movements in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The nature of a hedging relationship means that the above movement in mark-to-market values is realised when 
the raw sugar sales related to these transactions are completed. 
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Note 29: Events after the end of the reporting period (continued) 
 
Racecourse Cogeneration Operations 
 
A failure of the switchboard on the 38Mw alternator at Racecourse mill on 6 July 2019 resulted in a significant 
reduction in the output of the Cogeneration operations of the Company.  An insurance claim is expected to be 
received for a portion of the losses incurred from this event.  At the time of this report, a loss of approximately $1.5 
million after accounting for likely insurance recoveries is expected to be incurred by the Company. 
 
Other matters 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of 
this report, which has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 
 
 
Note 30: Interest in Subsidiaries 
 
(a) Information about Principal Subsidiaries 
 
Set out below are the parent Companyôs subsidiaries at 31 May 2019. The subsidiaries listed below have share 
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Company and the proportion of 
ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Company.  Each subsidiaryôs country of incorporation 
or registration is also its principal place of business. 
 
Name of Subsidiary Principal Place of 

Business 
Ownership Interest Held 

by the Company 
Proportion of Non-

controlling Interests 
      
  At 31 May 

2019 
At 31 May 

2018 
At 31 May 

2019 
At 31 May 

2018 
      
Queensland Commodity 
Services Pty Ltd 

Brisbane, Australia 100% 100% - - 

 
Mackay Commodity 
Trading Pty Ltd 

 
Brisbane, Australia 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
- 

 
- 

 
The subsidiaries were established and commenced operations as follows: 
 
Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd 

- Established on 28 March 2013 by the parent Company. 
- Commenced operations on 31 July 2013. 

 
Mackay Commodity Trading Pty Ltd 

- Established on 28 May 2015 by the parent Company. 
- Has not commenced operations and was inactive during the year ended 31 May 2019. 

 
There was no change in the ownership interests in any of the subsidiaries held by the Group during the year. 
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Note 30: Interest in Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
(b) Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd (QCS) ï Other information 
 
QCS undertakes sugar pricing and marketing on behalf of Mackay Sugar and its sugar cane suppliers.  Mackay 
Sugar Limited has control of the company as it has 100% ownership of the shares and voting rights of the 
company. 
 
Under a contractual agreement, Mackay Sugar must supply 100% of its raw sugar production for the year to QCS.  
The sugar must be free of charges and encumbrances and title of the sugar passes to QCS.  Mackay Sugar is not 
entitled to access the sugar held in stock by QCS.  The carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements to 
which this restriction applies is the value of the sugar stock on hand at the end of the financial year which is $Nil 
(2018: $Nil). 
 
On establishment of QCS, Mackay Sugar provided an inter-company loan for liquidity support.  QCS is also a 
borrower under the Mackay Sugar Limited bank facilities and is utilising a USD facility. 
 
 
Note 31: Parent entity information 
 
As at, and throughout, the financial year ending 31 May 2019, the parent entity of the Group was Mackay Sugar 
Limited.  The following information has been extracted from the records of the parent and has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

(a) Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

 
  

Profit after income tax ................................................................................   (189 677)  (22 526) 

Other comprehensive income....................................................................   (422)  561 

Total comprehensive income .....................................................................   (190 099)  (21 965) 

   

(b) Statement of financial position   

Current assets ...........................................................................................  48 847 47 978 

Total assets ...............................................................................................  277 334 440 704 

Current liabilities ........................................................................................  238 122 220 091 

Total liabilities ............................................................................................  281 754 255 025 

Equity:   

Issued capital .............................................................................................  16 498 16 498 

Asset revaluation reserve ..........................................................................  - - 

Foreign currency translation reserve .........................................................  3 512 2 700 

Financial asset revaluation reserve ...........................................................  8 666 6 992 

Hedging reserve ........................................................................................  384 3 292 

Retained profits .........................................................................................  (33 480) 156 197 

Total equity  ...............................................................................................  (4 420) 185 679 
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Note 31: Parent entity information (continued) 
 
(c) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
 
The parent entity and one of its subsidiaries are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company 
guarantees the debts of the others.  Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee are disclosed in note 32. 
 
(d) Contingent liabilities 
 
The contingent liabilities of the parent entity are disclosed in note 27 of these accounts.  There were no contingent 
liabilities for, or in relation to, subsidiaries. 
 
(e) Capital commitments ï Property, plant and equipment 
 
The parent entityôs contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is disclosed in 
note 26(a) of these accounts.  There were no capital commitments for, or in relation to, subsidiaries. 

 
(d) Significant accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in 
note 1. 
 
 
Note 32: Deed of cross guarantee 
 
The following entities are party to a Deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of 
the others: 
 
Holding Entity: Mackay Sugar Limited 
Group Entity: Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd 
 
By entering into the Deed, Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned entity of Mackay Sugar 
Limited, has been relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgement 
of financial reports and directorsô reports under ASIC Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission (ASIC). 
 
The effect of the Deed is that the parent company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the 
event of winding up the subsidiary under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  If a winding up occurs 
under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor 
has not been paid in full.  The subsidiary has also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is 
wound up. 
 
The above companies represent a óClosed Groupô for the purposes of the Class Order, as there are no other 
parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee. 
 
A consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial 
position, comprising the Company and entities which are a party to the Deed (the óClosed Groupô), after eliminating 
all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, for the year ended 31 May 2019 is set out below.   
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For Entities subject to Deed of Cross Guarantee  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Revenue from operating activities   

Revenue  .....................................................................................................   405 098  450 983 

Finance revenue ..........................................................................................   325  356 

Total revenue .............................................................................................   405 423  451 339 

Changes in inventories of finished goods ....................................................   (564)  (3 748) 

Cost of sales ................................................................................................   (221 212)  (249 457) 

Gross profit ................................................................................................   183 647  198 134 

Revenue from non-operating activities ........................................................   1  307 

   

Maintenance expenses ................................................................................   (53 820)  (50 887) 

Operating expenses ....................................................................................   (83 636)  (84 584) 

Administration expenses .............................................................................   (44 335)  (45 385) 

Distribution and marketing expenses ..........................................................   (8 095)  (8 287) 

Depreciation.................................................................................................   (14 588)  (16 602) 

Finance costs...............................................................................................   (15 468)  (13 301) 

Other expenses ...........................................................................................   (2 193)  (277) 

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV ..................................................   -  (6 900) 

Loss on impairment/revaluation of property, plant and equipment .............   (164 404)  (2 933) 

Loss on impairment of investment property ................................................   (656) - 

Share of profits of associate and joint venture ............................................   13 355  10 429 

Profit/(loss) before income tax .................................................................   (190 192)  (20 286) 

Income tax expense ....................................................................................   -  - 

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense ....................................................   (190 192)  (20 286) 

Other comprehensive income or loss   

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges ...............................................   (15 531)  9 073 

Gain on remeasurement of financial assets ................................................   1 674  885 

Gain/(loss) on translation of foreign associated company ..........................   812  (1 032) 

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associated company ........   273  361 

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of the joint venture ...............   (2 025)  (150) 

  (14 797)  9 137 

Income tax expense relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/(loss) ...............................................................................................  

 

 - 

 

 - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax .......................   (14 797)  9 137 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year....................................   (204 989)  (11 149) 
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Statement of financial position 
For Entities subject to Deed of Cross Guarantee   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Assets   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  ........................................................................   16 924  14 793 

Trade and other receivables ........................................................................   15 495  21 384 

Other financial assets ..................................................................................   4 269  15 707 

Inventories ...................................................................................................   12 797  13 308 

Assets held-for-sale .....................................................................................   -  - 

Other assets ................................................................................................   1 419  452 

Total current assets  50 904  65 644 

 

Non-current assets 

  

Trade and other receivables ........................................................................   593  550 

Other financial assets ..................................................................................   32 493  34 796 

Investments accounted for using the equity method ...................................   85 382  81 315 

Property, plant and equipment ....................................................................   137 698  304 853 

Investment properties ..................................................................................   2 391  3 074 

Total non-current assets ...........................................................................   258 557  424 588 

Total assets ................................................................................................   309 461  490 232 

   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables ............................................................................   40 708  45 055 

Interest bearing liabilities .............................................................................   182 939  162 671 

Other liabilities .............................................................................................   1 235  3 835 

Other financial liabilities ...............................................................................   415  364 

Employee benefits .......................................................................................   11 017  10 547 

Total current liabilities  236 314  222 472 

 

Non-current liabilities 

  

Interest bearing liabilities .............................................................................   251  3 017 

Other liabilities .............................................................................................   41 165  29 529 

Other financial liabilities ...............................................................................   29 002  27 473 

Employee benefits .......................................................................................   2 729  2 752 

Total non-current liabilities ......................................................................   73 147  62 771 

Total liabilities ............................................................................................   309 461  285 243 

Net assets ...................................................................................................   0  204 989 

   

Equity   

Issued capital ...............................................................................................   16 498  16 498 

Reserves ......................................................................................................   17 053  31 850 

Retained profit .............................................................................................   (33 551)  156 641 

Total equity.................................................................................................   0  204 989 
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Note 33: Interests in Unconsolidated Structured Entities 
 
(a) Queensland Sugar Limited (QSL) 
 
The Group has an interest in óQueensland Sugar Limitedô which is a public company limited by guarantee with no 
shareholdings.  QSL undertakes financing, pricing, marketing and logistics for raw sugar produced in Queensland 
for export on behalf of various raw sugar milling companies and sugar cane producers.  QSL operates 6 bulk sugar 
terminals with approximately 130 employees. 
 
No amounts have been included in the Groupôs financial statements in relation to this entity as the Group is not 
entitled to any share of profits/losses or assets/liabilities in this entity.  Under a voluntary agreement, QSL is 
responsible for the marketing, pricing and distribution of a significant portion of the Groupôs raw sugar that is sold to 
export markets.  The Group receives payment for sugar that is sold by QSL less any applicable marketing, 
financing, administrative and transportation costs relevant to the sale.  The Group does not make contributions to 
or sponsor the entity.  No financial or other support has been provided to the entity during the financial reporting 
period. 
 
The amount that best represents the Groupôs maximum exposure to a loss from its interest in the entity is 
$164,366,449 for the 31 May 2019 financial year (2018: $168,453,751).  This amount is based on the actual sugar 
sales earned (received or receivable) from QSL during the financial year.  There are no terms in any arrangements 
that could require the Group to provide financial support to the entity.  There were no losses incurred by the Group 
during the reporting period relating to its interest in the entity. 
 
(b) Other Structured Entities 
 
The Group supports various activities and projects (via cash contributions and the provision of services) that are 
undertaken under arrangements and agreements involving structured entities as follows: 
 

¶ Mackay Area Productivity Services ï sugar cane farming productivity operations and services 

¶ Mossman Agricultural Services ï sugar cane farming productivity operations and services 

¶ Tablelands Canegrowers ï sugar cane farming productivity operations and services 

¶ Australian Sugar Milling Council ï commercial development of the sugar industry 

¶ Sugar Research Australia ï research and development in sugar industry 

¶ Sugar Research Institute ï research and development in sugar milling and refining 

¶ Mackay Sugar Manufacturers Association ï sugar milling services 

¶ Queensland University of Technology ï QUT Mackay Renewable Biocommodities Pilot Plant 

¶ University of Queensland ï Queensland Sustainable Aviation Fuel Initiative project 
 
The Group has determined that it has no interests in any of the above entities as the Group is not exposed to any 
variability of returns from the operations of these entities.  No amounts have been included in the financial 
statements in relation to these entities as the Group is not entitled to any share of profits/losses and 
assets/liabilities in these entities. 
 
There were no losses incurred by the Group during the financial year in relation to these entities.  There are 
minimal risks associated with the Groupôs dealings with these entities and resulting from the direct performance of 
the operations and projects undertaken with these entities.  Apart from some minor income received for services 
provided, there was no revenue or share of profit or loss received during the financial year from these entities. 
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Note 34: Related party transactions 
 
(a) Associated companies 
 
Mackay Sugar has interests in associated companies as follows: 
 

  May 
 2019 

 May 
 2018 

   

New Zealand Sugar Company Pty Ltd.............................................................   25%  25% 

Sugar North Limited .........................................................................................   -  25% 

Oriana Shipping Co Pte. Ltd. ...........................................................................   25%  25% 

M&M Molasses Pty Ltd ....................................................................................   40%  40% 

 
There were no related party transactions between the Group and these associated companies during the financial 
year and thus no amounts owed by any entities at the end of the financial year.  

 
(b) Joint ventures  
 

Mackay Sugar has interests in joint ventures as follows: 
  May 

 2019 
 May 
 2018 

   

Sugar Australia Pty Limited ..............................................................................   25%  25% 

Sugar Australia JV ...........................................................................................   25%  25% 

 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

104 

 
Note 34: Related party transactions (continued) 

 
Sugar Australia Pty Ltd and Sugar Australia JV 

 
A refinery owned by the Sugar Australia JV is situated on the Companyôs Racecourse Mill site and uses 
Mackay Sugarôs resources to operate the refinery. Expenses incurred by Mackay Sugar in relation to the 
refinery are reimbursed by the joint venture and services are charged on a fee for service basis. 
Sugar Australia Pty Limited manages the operations of the Sugar Australia JV on behalf of the members.  
Mackay Sugar sells raw sugar to the refinery owned by the Sugar Australia JV situated on the Racecourse Mill 
site. 
 
  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Reimbursable expenses incurred during the year  ........................................... 300 321 

Service fees charged during the year .............................................................. 8 441 8 576 

Reimbursable expenses and service fees owing at the end of the year  ......... 776 1 089 

   

Raw sugar sales during the year  ..................................................................... 163 767 195 863 

Raw sugar sales owing at the end of the year  ................................................ -  - 

 
(c) Key management personnel 
 

(i) The following individuals and/or entities, which are either owned or significantly influenced by key 
management personnel, are suppliers to the Company who have supplied cane under the Cane Supply and 
Processing Agreement and have received payments for cane supplied. These monies have been calculated 
and paid under the same terms and conditions as all other cane payments: 

 
AS Cappello; LG and JL Bugeja and LG & JL Bugeja Family Trust; AS Cappello, AP Cappello & DF Cappello; 
CA, LM, AM & M Blackburn; N & JJ Blackburn P/L ATF N & JJ Blackburn Family Trust; PA & KR Manning; 
DJ & DM Said; J & DM Grech; JP Grech; P & C Grech; P,C,J & DM Grech; Parmel Farming Pty Ltd ATF 
Parmel Trust; GD & CJ Sandral; Tonbar Qld P/L ATF AR Bartolo Holdings Trust. 
 
  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Payments for the supply of cane ...................................................................  2 453 3 012 

Payments owing for deferred cane payment ................................................  292 153 
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Note 34: Related party transactions (continued) 

 
(ii) The following entities, which are either owned or significantly influenced by key management personnel, 
have monies deposited with the Company under the interest bearing deposit scheme or unsecured notes 
scheme. These monies have been deposited under the same terms, conditions and interest rates as all other 
monies deposited: 

 
AS Cappello; AS & TM Cappello; LG & JL Bugeja; TJ & CA Doolan; DJ & DM Said; J & DM Grech; 
CJ Mansfield. 

 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

   

Interest received on interest bearing deposit accounts and unsecured 
notes..............................................................................................................  

17 45 

Balance of interest bearing deposit accounts and unsecured notes at the 
end of the year  .............................................................................................  

133 567 

 
 

(d) Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 
 

Transactions between related parties are made on an armôs length basis both at normal market prices and on 
normal terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 
 
Outstanding balances owing at the end of the financial year are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in 
cash.  No guarantees have been provided for any related party receivables or payables. 
 
For the year ended 31 May 2019, Mackay Sugar has not made any allowances for doubtful debts relating to 
amounts owed by related parties (2018: $nil). 
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Note 35: Financial risk management 
 
The Groupôs financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, 
investments, accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and derivatives.  The main purpose of non-
derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for the Groupôs operations. The total for each category of 
financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9 as detailed in the accounting policies to these 
financial statements, are as follows: 
 
 Note  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................... 8 16 924 14 793 

Trade and other receivables ...................................................................... 9 16 088 21 934 

Financial assets at fair value through income or expense   

   - Derivative instruments ............................................................................  - 808 

Financial assets designated as cash flow hedges   

   - Derivative instruments ............................................................................  4 835 19 443 

                                                                                                            15(a) 4 835 20 251 

Investments in equity instruments:   

Shares in unlisted investments at fair value ........................................ 15(b) 31 927 30 252 

Total financial assets 69 774 87 230 

 

Financial liabilities 

  

Trade and other payables ........................................................................ 19 40 708 45 055 

Interest bearing liabilities at amortised cost ............................................ 20 183 190 165 688 

Financial liabilities at fair value through income or expense   

   - Derivative instruments ............................................................................  70 364 

Financial liabilities designated as cash flow hedges   

   - Derivative instruments ............................................................................  924 - 

                                                                                                            22(a) 994 364 

Other financial liabilities at fair value through income or expense:   

 - STL share subscription liability ....................................................... 22(b) 28 423 27 473 

Total financial liabilities 253 315 238 580 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(a) Financial risk management policies 

 
The Groupôs activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk 
and sugar price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Groupôs overall risk management program focuses on 
minimising the impact of adverse fluctuations in the financial markets and seeks to maximise the financial 
performance of the Company. The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange 
contracts, currency options, sugar futures and options contracts, over-the-counter (OTC) commodity swaps and 
interest rate swap agreements to hedge certain risk exposures.  The Group uses various methods to measure the 
different types of risk to which it is exposed.  
 
Treasury risk management 
 
An Audit and Finance Committee consisting of Directors and certain senior executives of Mackay Sugar meets on 
a regular basis to analyse interest rate exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of 
the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. Mackay Sugarôs Board provides written directives for overall 
risk management such as sugar pricing mandates, as well as policies covering specific areas such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative financial instruments. 
 
Formal agreements and policies exist between Queensland Commodity Services (QCS) and Mackay Sugar that 
outline the conditions under which QCS is to manage the currency, price risk and marketing of the Groupôs raw 
sugar. The QCS Board meet regularly to analyse commodity and foreign exchange price exposure and to develop 
strategies to manage associated risk. 
 
Financial risk exposures and management 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting period 
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial 
instruments.  The financial instruments which primarily expose the Group to interest rate risk are borrowings, 
interest rate swaps, cash and cash equivalents.  The Groupôs risk management policy for interest rate risk seeks to 
minimise the effects of interest rate movements on its asset and liability portfolio through active management of 
these exposures.  The Groupôs general policy is to fix the rates of its interest bearing liabilities using floating-to-
fixed interest rate swap contracts.  For further details of the actual interest rate swaps undertaken or outstanding 
during the period refer to note 35(c)(i).  The exposure on interest bearing deposits and selected-term unsecured 
notes is managed by Mackay Sugarôs control over the interest rates it offers. 
 
The net effective variable interest rate borrowings (i.e. unhedged debt) expose the Group to interest rate risk, 
which will impact future cash flows and interest charges and is indicated by the following floating interest rate 
financial liabilities: 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Floating rate instruments 

Bank loans ......................................................................................................  130 000 105 000 

Interest bearing deposits ................................................................................  98 242 

Selected-term unsecured notes (within 7 days) .............................................  1 445 3 249 

 131 543 108 491 

 

Foreign exchange risk 
 

Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated 
in a currency that is not the entityôs functional currency. The Group enters into forward exchange contracts and 
currency options to hedge the foreign exchange risk arising from the sale of raw sugar in USD and the purchase of 
goods from overseas vendors.  
 
QCS conducts all USD hedging of raw sugar sales for the Group. The terms under which QCS conducts its foreign 
exchange risk management is governed by the Commodity Marketing Agreement (CMA) that exists between 
Mackay Sugar and QCS. Refer to note 35(c)(i) for further details. The risk management objective is to reduce 
variability in AUD denominated cash flows arising from firm commitments and highly probable forecast USD 
transactions. The risk management strategy is to hedge currency exposure of USD for raw sugar sales using 
forward exchange contracts and currency options. 
 

The Groupôs exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows: 
 

 

 May 

 2019 

 May 

 2018 

 

USD 

$ô000 

USD 

$ô000 

Rabo and NAB pricing accounts ..................................................................   1 131  642 

Rabo/NAB margin loan ................................................................................   -  - 

Macquarie Bank Limited ..............................................................................   690  1 134 

Macquarie Bank Limited ..............................................................................   (184)  (1 990) 
 

 
Commodity price risk: 
 
Sugar price risk 
 
The Group is exposed to sugar price risk through the sale of raw sugar produced by milling assets. This exposure 
is managed by the use of fixed price sales in either USD or AUD, OTC swaps with approved financial 
counterparties in either USD or AUD and No. 11 sugar futures and options contracts traded on the InterContinental 
Exchange (ICE). These derivatives are utilised with the aim of minimising the effects of volatility in the commodity 
markets and to provide a stable and reliable revenue stream to the business. Refer to note 35(c)(i) for further 
details. 
 
QCS conducts price risk management of the Groupôs domestic sugar contract and the millerôs economic interest. 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Diesel fuel price risk 
 
The Group is exposed to diesel fuel price risk through purchases of diesel for use in its operations in the Mackay 
and Mossman regions. The Group has a price risk management policy in place that underpins all diesel hedging 
activities. Hedging may be conducted using a combination of OTC diesel price swaps, as well as caps and zero 
cost collars with approved financial counterparties. This hedging is based on the Singapore Gas and Oil (SGO) 
market, and may be denominated in either AUD$/litre or USD$/litre.  Refer to note 35(c)(i) for further details of the 
derivatives actually undertaken during the financial period.   
 
 
Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks, as well 
as credit exposures to customers. Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-
performance by counterparties of obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Company. 
 

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such procedures include the utilisation of systems 
for the approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and 
monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring to the extent possible that 
customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness.  Risk is also minimised by ensuring 
derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting period, 
excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying amount and classification 
of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position.  Trade and 
other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit quality.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities based on 
Standard and Poorôs counterparty credit ratings. 
 

 

 May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Cash and cash equivalents:   

A+ rated........................................................................................................  1 636 846 

AA- rated ......................................................................................................  15 250 13 909 

Unrated ........................................................................................................  38 38 

 16 924 14 793 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise 
meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.  The Group manages this risk through the following 
mechanisms: 
 

- Preparing forward-looking cash flow forecasts and analysis in relation to its operational, investing and 

financing activities; 

- Monitoring and ensuring an adequate amount of cash and undrawn credit facilities is available; 

- Maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

- Managing credit risk related to financial assets and derivative financial instruments; and 

- Surplus cash is only invested with major financial institutions or used to repay loans. 

 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities as detailed in note 28(b) and 28(c). Management monitors rolling 
forecasts on Mackay Sugarôs liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow. 
 
The Group is subject to significant liquidity risk from the market and price risks associated with raw sugar supply 
agreements and derivative financial instruments (sugar price swaps, sugar futures and options contracts, forward 
exchange contracts and currency options).  The Group has various credit limits on the negative mark-to-market 
positions of these agreements and derivatives.  Depending on the specific contract, if these limits are exceeded 
the Group is subject to margin calls, sales proceeds being withheld, or loan defaults.  To manage this risk, the 
Group reviews the mark-to-market positions regularly and either renegotiates credit limits where available, or 
reduces exposure/limits future exposure to ensure that the likelihood of credit limits being breached is minimal. 
 
An undiscounted contract maturity analysis for financial liabilities is presented below.  The timing of the cash flows 
presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not 
reflect managementôs expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.  The undiscounted amounts 
reported for loans, leases, unsecured notes and deposits includes the contracted and committed interest 
payments expected to be paid on these liabilities. 
 
The maturity of $100 million bank term debt on 2nd March 2020 and the maturity of the $50 million FIIG Securities 
Bond debt on 5th April 2020 exposes the Group to significant liquidity risk. This has required these liabilities to be 
recognised as current liabilities as at 31 May 2019. This is highlighted in the statement of financial position as 
current liabilities are in excess of current assets by $184.6 million.  To rectify this position the Group is required to 
recapitalise, realise assets, reduce liabilities and renew long term funding facilities or some combination of all 
these options. 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Financial liability maturity analysis 

 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

 May May May May May May May May 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 $ô000 

         

Financial liabilities due for 
payment 

        

Rabo/NAB margin loan ................  - - - - - - - - 

Rabo/NAB seasonal loan .............  30 032 5 011 - - - - 30 032 5 011 

Rabo/NAB term loan ....................  103 021 103 441 - - - - 103 021 103 441 

Fixed-rate medium-term notes .....  53 750 53 280 - - - - 53 750 53 280 

Finance Lease .............................  - 1 160 - - - - - 1 160 

Interest bearing deposits ..............  99 245 - - - - 99 245 

Unsecured note investments........  3 035 7 868 265 2 271 - - 3 300 10 139 

Trade and sundry creditors ..........  40 708 45 055 - - - - 40 708 45 055 

STL share subscription liability .....  - - 28 979 - - 28 142 28 979 28 142 

Financial instruments - 
Derivatives ...................................  415 364 579 - - - 994 364 

Total contractual outflow 231 060 216 424 29 823 2 271 - 28 142 260 883 246 837 

Less bank overdrafts - - - - - - - - 

Total expected outflow 231 060 216 424 29 823 2 271 - 28 142 260 883 246 837 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Application of hedge accounting 
 
The Group uses derivatives to reduce exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates 
and certain commodity prices.  These derivatives create an obligation or a right that effectively transfers one or 
more of the risks associated with an underlying financial instrument, asset or obligation.  Derivative financial 
instruments that the Group uses to hedge risks such as interest rate, foreign currency and commodity price 
movements include: 
 

¶ Interest rate swaps; 

¶ Foreign currency contracts; 

¶ Futures contracts (commodity); 

¶ Commodity swaps; and 

¶ Option contracts (currency and commodity). 

 
These derivatives are used primarily for the purposes of hedging and hedge accounting is applied to all derivatives 
unless otherwise stated.  The Group establishes an economic relationship between the hedged item (financial risk 
exposure) and the hedging instrument (derivative) to assess the hedge relationship and effectiveness.  
Effectiveness is assessed both at inception and periodically thereafter as required, by designating a single or 
combination of hedging instruments as cash flow hedges to offset the changes in the cash flows of the hedged 
item, due to movements in the underlying market risk.  The notional amounts of the hedging instrument and the 
hedged item are matched, and all cash flows and dates coincide unless otherwise stated.  The fluctuations in the 
value of the derivative financial instruments are offset by changes in the fair values or cash flows of the underlying 
exposures being hedged and have a 100% hedge ratio in the hedge design unless otherwise stated.  
Ineffectiveness may arise for various reasons which are discussed further in the information about each derivative 
where applicable. 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 

 
Derivative financial instruments are utilised by the Group to hedge exposure to price risk and exchange rate risk 
that arise from sugar sales and interest rate risk associated with movements in interest rates that impact the 
interest bearing liabilities of the Group. All hedging transactions are undertaken with approved financial 
counterparties with sound financial positions. Where derivatives are marked daily on a live market, initial and 
variation margin obligations will apply. This is presently only relevant to ICE No.11 sugar futures and options 
contracts.   
 
Sugar price swaps 
 
The Group enters into OTC sugar price swaps with approved financial institutions to price specified amounts of its 
sugar production in the future at an agreed AUD price. All OTC sugar swap hedging is conducted by QCS. The 
Groupôs hedging policy allows for pricing of a portion of forecast future seasonôs sugar production up to four years 
in advance.  
 
These sugar price swaps contain two elements, these being ICE No.11 sugar futures contracts and a foreign 
exchange contract to convert proceeds received into AUD. The objective in entering these sugar price swaps is to 
protect the Group against unfavourable sugar price and foreign currency movements for both contracted and 
anticipated future sales.  These OTC contracts are carried at fair value, being the mark-to-market valuation as 
quoted by the appropriate financial institutions.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of the outstanding sugar price swap contracts were: 
 

Settlement 
Tonnes of sugar 

(actual) 
Average sugar price per actual 

tonne of sugar  

 May 

2019 

May 

2018 

May 

2019 

May 

2018 

Less than 6 months ....................  152 666 109 279 A$460.23 A$497.24 

6 months to 1 year ......................  152 666 105 114 A$460.23 A$492.95 

1 year to 2 years .........................  104 500 144 885 A$453.07 A$459.37 

2 years to 3 years .......................  28 871 64 920 A$436.97 A$459.60 

3 years to 4 years .......................  - 15 248 - A$434.28 

4 years to 5 yearséééééé... - - - - 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Sugar futures 
 
QCS enters into futures contracts for the Group on the InterContinental Exchange (ICE). The Groupôs risk 
management policy permits hedging of both grower interest sugar and miller economic interest sugar in 
accordance with the groups risk management policy. The policy sets out total volume limits to be hedged and 
minimum and maximum position limits permissible at any given time.   
 
All futures contracts are assessed for effectiveness at inception and periodically as required.  The component 
being hedged is the ICE Sugar No.11 component of the sugar sale price, which is a separately identifiable and 
reliably measureable component of the sugar price.  Whilst all futures trades have a 100% hedge ratio, some 
ineffectiveness arises when there are timing differences in the futures contract month used for the hedging of a 
given delivery period. An example of this would be using a July-2019 futures contract to hedge deliveries to occur 
in the October-2019 delivery period. In these instances, a hypothetical derivative is calculated and used to quantify 
any ineffective portion of the trade. 
 
QCS enters into sugar futures contracts with the objective of a more stable and favourable price outcome for both 
contracted and anticipated future sugar sales. These derivative contracts are carried at fair value, which is defined 
as the market value quoted daily on the ICE.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of outstanding sugar futures were: 
 

Settlement 
Net 

position 
Tonnes of sugar 

(actual) 

Average sugar price 
per tonne actual of 

sugar 

  May 
2019 

May 
2018 

May 
2019 

May 
2018 

Less than 6 months .........  Short 59 466 114 583 A$408.10 A$389.54 

6 months to one year .......  Short  21 349 48 638 A$449.43 A$438.29 

1 year to 2 years  .............  Short - - - - 

2 years to 3 years ............  Short - - - - 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Sugar Options 
 
QCS enters into sugar options contracts for the Group on the InterContinental Exchange (ICE) and through Over-
the-Counter (OTC) products. The Groupôs risk management policy permits hedging of both GEI sugar and MEI 
sugar in accordance with the groups risk management policy. The policy sets out total volume limits to be hedged 
and minimum and maximum position limits permissible at any given time.   
 
All sugar options contracts are assessed for hedge effectiveness at inception and periodically as required. Whilst 
all sugar options trades can have a 100% hedge ratio, partial or total ineffectiveness may arise in the following 
circumstances: 
 

¶ Sale of an uncovered  put or call option; 

¶ Sale of a net revenue generating collar (sold call/bought put) ; and 

¶ Execution of a collar for a differing number of lots or contract month. 
 
 
QCS enters into sugar options contracts with the objective of obtaining a more stable and favourable price 
outcome for both contracted and anticipated future sugar sales. These derivative contracts are carried at fair 
value, which is defined as the market value quoted on the ICE. 
 
At the end of year reporting date, the details of outstanding sugar options positions were:  
 

Settlement 
Net 

position 
Tonnes of sugar 

(actual) 

Average sugar price 
per tonne actual of 

sugar 

  May 
2019 

May 
2018 

May 
2019 

May 
2018 

Less than 6 months .........  Long(Short)  1 715  (7 358)  A$317.28  A$342.26 

6 months to one year .......  Long(Short)  2 036  (228)  A$342.15  A$148.00 

1 year to 2 years  .............    -  -  -  - 

2 years to 3 years ............    -  -  -  - 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Diesel fuel price swaps 
 
The Group has entered into diesel fuel price swaps to purchase specified amounts of diesel in the future at 
stipulated prices.  The objective in entering the diesel fuel price swaps is to protect the Group against unfavourable 
diesel fuel price movements for both contracted and anticipated future diesel purchases. 
 
The diesel fuel price swaps undertaken during the period are cash settled óSGO OTC Commodity Swapsô.    The 
swaps use the Platts Asia-Pacific published index POABC00 as the reference for their settlement.  The Platts 
index is published based on the óSingapore Gas Oilô (SGO) prices and is representative of diesel suitable for the 
Australian market in terms of the cost of material at origin, i.e. it does not include shipping costs or government 
taxes.   
 
The diesel fuel price swaps have been contracted for set amounts of litres per month at fixed US cents per litre 
prices with settlement based on the average SGO price for the month.  Hedge accounting has been fully applied to 
all diesel fuel price swaps.  The monthly diesel quantities in the swaps have been matched to the expected fuel 
usage and payment dates.  The component being hedged is the USD diesel cost at origin (SGO price in USD).  
This component is a separately identifiable and reliably measurable component of the diesel fuel purchase price, 
and is hedged on a one-to-one basis with these swaps.  There were no sources of hedge ineffectiveness expected 
to affect the hedging relationship during its term. 
 
The derivative contracts are carried at fair value, being the mark-to-market valuation as quoted by the appropriate 
financial institutions.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of the outstanding diesel fuel price swap contracts were: 

Settlement 
Litres of diesel fuel 

 
Average diesel fuel price per 

litre of diesel fuel  

 May 

2019 

May 

2018 

May 

2019 

May 

2018 

Less than 6 months ....................  - 300 000 - US$0.4020 

6 months to 1 year ......................  - - - - 

1 year to 2 years .........................  - - - - 

2 years to 3 years .......................  - - - - 

3 years to 4 years .......................  - - - - 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Forward exchange contracts 
The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to buy and sell specified amounts of foreign currencies in the 
future at stipulated exchange rates. QCS executes all OTC foreign exchange contracts for the Group with 
approved financial counterparties. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted USD receipts from our 
customers and highly probable vendor payments in foreign currency. The contracts are timed to mature when the 
receipts for USD denominated sales of raw sugar and payments to vendors are scheduled to be made.  
 
The Groupôs risk management policy permits hedging of both GEI sugar and MEI sugar in accordance with the 
Groupôs risk management policy. The policy sets out total foreign currency volume limits (including both forward 
exchange contracts and foreign exchange options) to be hedged in individual sugar delivery periods, and minimum 
and maximum position limits permissible at any given time.   
 
All forward exchange contracts are assessed for effectiveness at inception and periodically as required. Whilst all 
foreign exchange contracts have a 100% hedge ratio, some ineffectiveness arises when the Group receives 
foreign exchange contracts as the result of the exercise of ineffective foreign exchange currency options. An 
example of this would be when a sold AUD Put option (for which a premium was originally received) is exercised 
resulting in bought AUD foreign exchange contract being received by the Group at the strike of the sold AUD put.   
 
QCS enters into forward exchange contracts with the objective of a more stable and favourable price outcome for 
both contracted and anticipated future sugar sales. These OTC products are carried at fair value, being the mark-
to-market valuation as quoted by the appropriate financial institutions.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of outstanding forward exchange contracts were: 
 
Buy AUD / Sell USD Notional Amounts 

USD 
Average exchange rate 

Settlement May 

2019 

May 

2018 

May 

2019 

May 

2018 

 $ô000 $ô000 $ $ 

Less than 6 months ..................................................................  30 305 67 823 0.71635 0.77394 

6 months to one year ...............................................................  1 805 5 233 0.72919 0.75905 

1 year to 2 years ......................................................................  1 270 4 139 0.73517 0.73610 

2 years to 4 years ....................................................................  - 1 177 - 0.73720 

 
Buy USD / Sell AUD Notional Amounts 

USD 
Average exchange rate 

Settlement May 

2019 

May 

2018 

May 

2019 

May 

2018 

 $ô000 $ô000 $ $ 

Less than 6 months ..................................................................  15 500 40 000 0.72127 0.79087 

6 months to one year ...............................................................  - 1 500 - 0.76686 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Foreign Exchange Options 
 
The Group enters into foreign exchange options to buy and sell specified amounts of foreign currencies in the 
future at stipulated exchange rates. QCS executes all OTC foreign exchange options for the Group with approved 
financial counterparties. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted USD receipts from our customers 
and highly probable vendor payments in foreign currency.  
 
The Groupôs risk management policy permits hedging of both GEI sugar and MEI sugar in accordance with the 
Groupôs risk management policy. The policy sets out total foreign currency volume limits (including both forward 
exchange contracts and foreign exchange options) to be hedged in individual sugar delivery periods, and minimum 
and maximum position limits permissible at any given time.   
 
All foreign exchange options are assessed for effectiveness at inception and periodically as required. Some 
ineffectiveness may arise in the following circumstances:  
 

¶ Sale of an uncovered put or call option; 

¶ Sale of a net revenue generating collar (bought AUD call/ sold AUD put) ; 

¶ Execution of a collar for differing face values of the underlying bought call/sold put; and 

¶ Execution of a collar for differing expiry dates of the underlying bought call/sold put.  
 
QCS enters into foreign exchange options with the objective of a more stable and favourable price outcome for 
both contracted and anticipated future sugar sales. These OTC products are carried at fair value, being the mark-
to-market valuation as quoted by the appropriate financial institutions.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of outstanding foreign exchange options were: 
 
 
 

Settlement Type Direction

Face Value 

$USD

Delta Value 

$USD Ave. Strike Type Direction

Face Value 

$USD

Delta Value 

$USD Ave. Strike

Less than 6 Months Put/Call Sold 16,000,000 8,252,197 0.7070 Put/Call Sold 5,500,000 16,049,228 0.7635

6 Months to one Year Put/Call Sold 11,000,000 4,724,545 0.7168 Put/Call Sold 10,500,000 1,773,854 0.8036

May 2019 May 2018
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Interest rate swaps 
 
Interest rate swap and collar contracts are entered into by the Group to exchange variable and fixed interest 
payment obligations to protect long-term interest bearing liabilities from the risk of increasing interest rates.  The 
Group has variable interest rate debt and enters into swap contracts to receive interest at variable rates and to pay 
interest at fixed rates. 
 
The interest rate swaps have been contracted for set notional amounts at fixed interest rates over the expected 
term of the loan arrangements, with settlement occurring monthly when the expected loan interest payments are 
due, based on the Australian bank bill swap bid rate (AUD-BBR-BBSY).  Hedge accounting has been fully applied 
to all interest rate swaps.  The component being hedged is the periodic interest payments due on the nominated 
variable-rate loans.  This component is a separately identifiable and reliably measurable component of interest 
expense, and is hedged on a one-to-one basis with these swaps.  The notional amounts of the interest rate swaps 
have not exceeded the actual amount outstanding on the variable-rate loans at any stage during the period, and 
the settlement dates of the swap contracts have corresponded with interest payment dates of the interest bearing 
liabilities.  There were no sources of hedge ineffectiveness expected to affect the hedging relationship during its 
term.  The swap contracts require settlement of the net interest receivable or payable and are brought to account 
as an adjustment to finance costs. 
 
The derivative contracts are carried at fair value, being the mark-to-market valuation as quoted by the appropriate 
financial institutions.   
 
At the end of the year reporting date, the details of outstanding interest rate swap and collar contracts were: 
 
Interest rate swaps 

 Effective average 
Interest rate payable 

Notional principal 

 May 2019 May 2018 May 2019 May 2018 

 % % $ô000 $ô000 

Less than 12 months .....................................................  - - - - 

1 to 2 years ....................................................................  - - - - 

2 to 3 years ....................................................................  1.7775 - 30 000 - 

3 to 4 years ....................................................................  - 1.7775 - 30 000 

 
Interest rate collars 

 
Effective average interest rate payable 

 
Notional principal 

 
May 2019 May 2018 

 
May 2019 May 2018 

 

Floor rate Cap rate Floor rate Cap rate 

   

 
% % % % 

 
$'000 $'000 

Less than 12 monthséé - - - - 
 

- - 

1 to 2 yearséééééé. - - - -  -  

2 to 3 yearséééééé. 1.3000 2.4775 - - 
 

30 000 - 

3 to 4 yearséééééé. - - 1.3000 2.4775 
 

- 30 000 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(ii) Details of hedging amounts included in financial accounts: 
 
Year ended 31 May 2019 
 
Hedging Instrument 
 

 
Nominal Amount of the Hedging 

Instrument 
Carrying Amount of the Hedging 

Instrument 

Line item in the statement of 
financial position where the 

hedging instrument is 
located 

  
Assets (ó000) Liabilities (ó000) 

 

Cash Flow Hedges 
    

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Price swaps (hedging forecast 

sales) 

 
 

438,703 tonnes  

 
 
 4 651 

 
 

 - 

 
Other financial 

assets 

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Futures (hedging forecast sales) 

 
80,815 tonnes 

 
 184 

 
 - 

Other financial 
assets 

Diesel Fuel Price Risk 
- Diesel Fuel Price swaps (hedging 

forecast purchases) 

 
Nil litres 

 
 - 

 
 - 

 
 

 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
- Forward currency contracts (hedging 

forecast sales) 

 
 

Sell USD $33.379 
million 

 
 
 - 

 
 
 344 
 

 
 

Other financial 
liabilities 

Interest Rate Risk 
- Interest Rate Swaps/collars (hedging 

forecast variable interest 
payments) 

Loan Principal 
$ 60 million 

 
 - 

 
 579 

 
Other financial 

liabilities 

 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

121 

Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Hedged Item and hedge reserve 
 

 
Changes in value of 
Hedging Instrument 
used for calculating 

hedge ineffectiveness 
for 31 May 2019 

(ó000) 

Changes in value of 
Hedged Item used for 

calculating hedge 
ineffectiveness for 31 

May 2019 
(ó000) 

Cash Flow Hedge 
Reserve (Continuing 
Hedges) at 31 May 

2019 
(ó000) 

Cash Flow Hedge 
Reserve 

(Discontinued 
Hedges) at 31 May 

2019 
(ó000) 

Cash Flow Hedges Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) 

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Price swaps (hedging forecast sales) 

 
 621 

 
 621 

 
 621 

 
 - 

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Futures (hedging forecast sales) 
-  
- Sugar Options (hedging forecast sales) 

 
 184 
 
 - 

 
 184 
 
 - 

 
 184 
 
 - 

 
 - 
 
 - 

Diesel Fuel Price Risk 
- Diesel Fuel Price swaps (hedging forecast 

purchases) 

 
 - 

 
 - 

 
 - 

 
 - 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
- Forward currency contracts (hedging forecast 

sales) 
- Foreign currency options(hedging forecasts 

sales) 

 
 (344) 
 
 
 - 

 
 (344) 
 
 
 - 

 
 (344) 
 
 
 - 

 
 - 
 
 
 - 

Interest Rate Risk 
- Interest Rate Swaps (hedging forecast variable 

interest payments) 

 
 (1 093) 
 

 
 (1 093) 
 

 
 (1 093) 
 

 
 - 

 
 

 
Hedge ineffectiveness 
recognised in profit or 

loss 
for 31 May 2019 

(ó000) 

Line item in profit or 
loss (that includes 

hedge ineffectiveness) 
for 31 May 2019 

Amount reclassified 
from the cash flow 

hedge reserve to profit 
or loss 

 for 31 May 2019 
(ó000) 

Line item affected in 
profit or loss because 
of the reclassification 

for 31 May 2019 

Cash Flow Hedges Gain/(Loss)  Gain/(Loss)  

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Price swaps (hedging forecast sales) 

 
 - 

 
N/A 

 
 15 010 

 
Revenue 

Sugar Price Risk 
- Sugar Futures (hedging forecast sales) 

 
- Sugar Options (hedging forecast sales) 

  
 - 
 
 (74) 

 
N/A 

 
Revenue 

 
 631 
 
 - 

 
Revenue 

 
N/A 

Diesel Fuel Price Risk 
- Diesel Fuel Price swaps (hedging forecast 

purchases) 

 
 
 - 

 
 

N/A 

 
 
 63 

 
Operating 
Expenses 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
- Forward currency contracts (hedging forecast 

sales) 
- Foreign currency options (hedging forecasts 

sales) 

 
 225 
 
 (221) 

 
Revenue 

 
Revenue 

 
 (806) 
  
                   - 

 
Revenue 

 
N/A 

 

Interest Rate Risk 
- Interest Rate Swaps (hedging forecast variable 

interest payments) 

 
 - 

 
N/A 

 
 - 

 
N/A 
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(c) Financial instruments 
 
(iii) Net fair values 
 

Fair value estimation 
 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the statement 
of financial position and in the notes to the financial statements.  The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents 
and nonïinterest bearing monetary financial assets and liabilities of the Group approximates their net fair value.  
This value is based upon market prices where a market exists or the expected future cash flow, discounted where 
appropriate by current interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles.  The carrying value of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  The fair value of current borrowings 
approximates their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position have been analysed and 
classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.  
The fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels: 
 
a. quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 

b. inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and 

c. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3). 

The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value: 
 

As at 31 May 2019 
 

Note  Level 1 
 $ô000 

 Level 2 
 $ô000 

 Level 3 
 $ô000 

 Total 
 $ô000 

Financial assets     

Financial assets at fair value through income or 
expense 

    

   - Derivative instruments ............................. 15(a)  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets designated as cash flow hedges     

   - Derivative instruments ............................. 15(a)  184  4 651  -  4 835 

Investments in equity instruments:     

   - Unlisted investments ............................... 15(b)  -  31 927  -  31 927 

Total financial assets ...................................... 15  184  36 578  -  36 762 

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities at fair value through income     
or expense 

    

   - Derivative instruments ............................. 22(a)  -  70  -  70 

   - STL share subscription liability ................ 22(b)  -  28 423  -  28 423 

Financial liabilities designated as cash flow hedges      

   - Derivative instruments ............................. 22(a)  -  924  -  924 

Total financial liabilities  ................................. 22  -  29 417  -  29 417 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
  
As at 31 May 2018 
 

Note  Level 1 
 $ô000 

 Level 2 
 $ô000 

 Level 3 
 $ô000 

 Total 
 $ô000 

Financial assets     

Financial assets at fair value through income or 
expense 

    

   - Derivative instruments ................................ 15(a)  -  808  -  808 

Financial assets designated as cash flow hedges     

   - Derivative instruments ................................ 15(a)  112  19 331  -  19 443 

Investments in equity instruments:     

   - Unlisted investments .................................. 15(b)  -  30 252  -  30 252 

Total financial assets ........................................ 15  112  50 391  -  50 503 

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities at fair value through income     
or expense 

    

   - Derivative instruments ................................ 22(a)  -  364  -  364 

   - STL share subscription liability ................... 22(b)  -  27 473  -  27 473 

Financial liabilities designated as cash flow hedges     

   - Derivative instruments ................................ 22(a)  -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities .................................... 22  -  27 837  -  27 837 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is 
based on quoted market prices as at end of the reporting period.  The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by Mackay Sugar is the current settlement price.  If there were any such instruments as at the end of 
the reporting period these would have been included in level 1. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, OTC derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques.  Mackay Sugar uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that 
are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.  Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used to estimate fair value where available.  Other techniques, such as 
estimated discounted cash flow, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.  The fair 
value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flow.  The fair value of 
forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates as at end of the reporting 
period.  These financial assets and liabilities are included in level 2 and comprise investments and derivative 
financial instruments.   
 
In the circumstances where a valuation technique for these instruments is based on significant unobservable 
inputs, such instruments are included in level 3. There were no such instruments as at the end of the reporting 
period. 
 
There were no movements in financial instruments between the levels in the fair value hierarchy during the year. 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments 
 
(iv) Sensitivity analysis 
 
Sugar price, currency and interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 
 
Mackay Sugar has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to sugar price, currency and interest 
rate risk as at the end of the reporting period. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year 
results and equity which could result from a change in these risks. 
 
The following table summarises the sensitivity of Mackay Sugarôs financial assets and financial liabilities to sugar 
price, currency and interest rate risk as at 31 May 2019. 
 
 May 

2019 
May 
2018 

 Change $ô000 Change $ô000 

Sugar price change sensitivity   
  

Change in income or expense  .........  +$50/t in sugar -287 +$50/t in sugar -331 

Change in income or expense éé.. -$50/t in sugar +61 -$50/t in sugar -93 

Change in equity ...............................  +$50/t in sugar -14 149 +$50/t in sugar -21 942 

Change in equity ...............................  -$50/t in sugar +14 664 -$50/t in sugar +21 774 

Currency change sensitivity      

Change in income or expense ..........    +10% in AUD/USD -21   +10% in AUD/USD -1 357 

Change in income or expenseééé -10% in AUD/USD -510 -10% in AUD/USD +484 

Change in equity ...............................      +10% in AUD/USD +1 373     +10% in AUD/USD +3 954 

Change in equity ...............................  -10% in AUD/USD -1 120 -10% in AUD/USD -3 209 

Interest rate change sensitivity      

Change in income or expense ..........  +1% -861 +1% -679 

Change in income or expense ..........  -1% +861 -1% +679 

Change in equity ...............................  +1% -170 +1% +311 

Change in equity ...............................  -1% +170 -1% -311 

Diesel fuel price change 
sensitivity 

    

Change in income or expense  .........  +$0.05/l in diesel - +$0.05/l in diesel - 

Change in income or expense éé.. -$0.05/l in diesel - -$0.05/l in diesel - 

Change in equity ...............................  +$0.05/l in diesel - +$0.05/l in diesel +20 

Change in equity ...............................  -$0.05/l in diesel - -$0.05/l in diesel -20 
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Note 35: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
The sugar price change has been based on a A$50 per tonne (approximately 10%) movement in sugar prices as 
at the end of the reporting period.  The foreign currency change has been based on a 10% movement in the 
significant currencies as at the end of the reporting period.  The sugar price and foreign currency sensitivities have 
been calculated based on the effect of the relevant change on the commodity and foreign exchange derivative 
valuations on the income statement and financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The interest rate change has been based on a 1% movement in interest rates as at the end of the reporting period.  
The interest rate sensitivities include the amounts by which the annual net interest expense would change based 
on the net debt of the Group as at 31 May 2019 that is subject to variable interest rates; and the effect of the 
interest rate change on the interest rate swap valuations on the financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2019. 
 
The percentage changes reported in the sensitivity analysis above reflect a reasonable level of overall volatility of 
sugar prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which is based on managementôs assessment of 
reasonable possible fluctuations taking into consideration movements over the last six months. The above 
sensitivity analysis assumes that current positions as at the end of May 2019 are maintained throughout the 
simulated market moves, and that no active management of these positions is undertaken.  
 
Sensitivity amounts involving changes in income and expense accounts have been calculated using the 
percentages of the Groupôs positions that were considered to be effective or ineffective under AASB 9 at year end. 
 
These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables.  The 
Groupôs sensitivity to these risks as at the end of the reporting period are not representative of the sensitivity 
throughout the year as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year due to the timing of 
hedging transactions. 
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Note 36: Segment reporting 
 
(a) Basis for segmentation 
 
The Group has the following four strategic divisions which have been determined by management to be its 
reportable segments.  These divisions offer different products and services, and are managed separately because 
they require different technology, resources and marketing strategies. 
 
The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment: 
 

Reportable segments Operations 

Raw Sugar Milling Manufacture of raw sugar from sugar cane, including by-products molasses 
and electricity, in Queensland, Australia 

Refined Sugar Manufacture and distribution of refined sugar from raw sugar in Australia and 
New Zealand 

Commodity Trading Marketing, pricing and trading of raw sugar and related financial products  

Other Investments Investment activities not related to the operations of the above segments   

  
The CEO of Mackay Sugar Limited has been determined to be the óChief Operating Decision Makerô of the Group.  
The CEO reviews the internal management reports of each division on a regular basis and strategic decisions are 
made based on these reports.  The Commodity Trading segmentôs activities and strategic decisions are managed 
by a subsidiary (Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd) which has a separate Board and management. 
 
There are varying levels of integration between the Raw Sugar Milling, Refined Sugar, and Commodity Trading 
segments.  This integration includes the transfers of products and shared services as explained below.  Inter-
segment pricing is determined on an armôs length basis. 
 
(b) Information on inter-segment activities and aggregation of business units: 
The segment amounts included in this note have been determined on the same basis as that reported to the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.  The 
major business units included within each segment are as follows: 
 
Raw Sugar Milling: 
This segment derives revenues from the manufacture and distribution of raw sugar, molasses and electricity.  Raw 
sugar sales are managed and undertaken through the Commodity Trading segment on behalf of this segment.  
The segment includes the operations of four raw sugar mills in Queensland, Australia (three Mills in Mackay and 
one Mill in Mossman). 
 
Refined Sugar: 
This segment derives revenues from the manufacture, distribution and marketing of refined sugar and related 
products.  The segment is made up of three separate entities - Sugar Australia joint venture, New Zealand Sugar 
Company Pty Ltd, and Oriana Shipping Co. Pte Ltd.  For further information on these entities refer to notes 13 and 
14.  The entities operate from different geographical regions, but have been combined into one segment as their 
activities have similar economic characteristics and they are generally monitored as a whole.  The entities are 
accounted for in the financial statements as equity-accounted investments as the Company has a 25% stake in 
each entity. 
 
Commodity Trading: 
This segment provides certain financial support services to the Group and third party customers.  A significant 
portion of this segmentôs activities involves the marketing and sale of raw sugar obtained from the Raw Sugar 
Milling segment.  Pricing and hedging services are provided through the use of various sugar and exchange rate 
trading strategies on global markets.  A significant portion of the raw sugar from the Mackay region is sold to a 
business unit within the Refined Sugar segment. 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 
 
Other Investments: 
This segment includes a number of material investments whose activities have been considered to be unrelated to 
the above segments.  These investments include Sugar Terminals Limited, Racecourse Projects Pty Ltd, and 
M&M Molasses Pty Ltd.  For further information on these entities refer to notes 13 and 15.  The segment also 
includes the operations of the Companyôs investment properties (refer note 17).  Revenue from this segment is 
obtained from dividends and rental income. 
 
 
(c) Information about reportable segments 
 
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below.  Segment results are generally evaluated on a 
profit before interest, corporate expenses and tax basis.  This is used to measure performance because 
management believes that this information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective 
segments.  The Group manages its net debt, net finance costs and income taxes on a Group basis and these 
measures are therefore not reported internally at a segment level.  Accordingly, various amounts included in the 
Groupôs financial statements have not been allocated between the segments as explained below. 
 
Unallocated amounts 
In relation to the segment information below, certain amounts from the Groupôs financial statements have not been 
allocated on the basis that they relate to the Group as a whole and it would be difficult to allocate the amounts 
between the segments on a reasonable or justifiable basis.  This includes some or all amounts in the following 
areas: 
 

¶ Finance revenue 

¶ Finance costs 

¶ Corporate expenses 

¶ Cash at Bank 

¶ Interest bearing liabilities 

¶ Other financial liabilities 
 



 

Mackay Sugar Limited 
ABN 12 057 463 671 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 May 2019 

 

128 

Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 

 Reportable segments 

Year ended 31 May 2019 Raw Sugar 
Milling 

$ô000 

Refined 
Sugar 

$ô000 

Commodity 
Trading 

$ô000 

Other 
Investments 

$ô000 

Total 

 

$ô000 

Revenue      

From external customers ......................................   45 272  158 119  200 619  2 893  406 903 

Finance revenue from external customers ............   -  125  56  -  181 

Discontinued operations .......................................   -  -  -  -  - 

Inter-segment revenue ..........................................   347 364  -  147 527  -  494 891 

Total Segment revenue .........................................   392 636  158 244  348 202  2 893  901 975 

      

Profit/(loss)      

Segment profit/(loss) before tax ............................   (187 425)  -  (515)  2 656  (185 284) 

Share of profit/(loss) of equity-accounted 
investments ...........................................................  

 

 - 

 

 13 305 

 

 - 

 

 50 

 

 13 355 

Total segment profit/(loss) before tax ....................   (187 425)  13 305  (515)  2 706  (171 929) 

      

Other reportable items included in profit/(loss)      

Interest income .....................................................   -  125  56  -  181 

Interest expense ...................................................   -  (7)  (2 052)  -  (2 059) 

Depreciation and amortisation ..............................   (14 561)  (4 409)  -  (27)  (18 997) 

Income tax expense ..............................................   -  (1 922)  -  -  (1 922) 

Other material non-cash items:      

- Impairment losses on Sugar Australia JV ........   -  -  -  -  - 

- Loss on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment ..........................................................  

 -  -  -  -  - 

- Impairment losses on property, plant and 
equipment........................................................  

 (164 404)  -  -  -  (164 404) 

- Impairment losses on investment property.......           (656)  -  -  -  (656) 

 

Segment assets 
     

Derivatives ............................................................   -  -  4 835  -  4 835 

Trade & other receivables .....................................   5 721  -  10 368  -  16 089 

Other assets ..........................................................   150 498  -  2 743  34 973  188 214 

Equity accounted investments ..............................   -  85 382  -  -  85 382 

Total segment assets  156 219  85 382  17 946  34 973  294 520 

      

Other reportable items included in assets      

Capital expenditure ...............................................   13 872  3 293  -  -  17 165 

      

Segment Liabilities      

Derivatives ............................................................   579  -  415  -  994 

Trade & other payables .........................................   36 198  -  4 510  -  40 708 

Other liabilities ......................................................   85 774  -  373  -  86 147 

Total segment liabilities   122 551  -  5 298  -  127 849 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 

 Reportable segments 

Year ended 31 May 2018 Raw Sugar 
Milling 

$ô000 

Refined 
Sugar 

$ô000 

Commodity 
Trading 

$ô000 

Other 
Investments 

$ô000 

Total 

 

$ô000 

Revenue      

From external customers ......................................   55 685  182 180  205 266  2 721  445 852 

Finance revenue from external customers ............   -  77  61  -  138 

Discontinued operations .......................................   -  -  -  -  - 

Inter-segment revenue ..........................................   381 595  -  178 144  -  559 739 

Total Segment revenue .........................................   437 280  182 257  383 471  2 721  1 005 729 

      

Profit/(loss)      

Segment profit/(loss) before tax ............................   (9 905)  -  2 238  2 391  (5 276) 

Share of profit/(loss) of equity-accounted 
investments ...........................................................  

 

 - 

 

 3 524 

 

 - 

 

 5 

 

 3 529 

Total segment profit/(loss) before tax ....................   (9 905)  3 524  2 238  2 396  (1 747) 

      

Other reportable items included in profit/(loss)      

Interest income .....................................................   -  77  61  -  138 

Interest expense ...................................................   (655)  (5)  (435)  -  (1 095) 

Depreciation and amortisation ..............................   (16 575)  (3 520)  -  (27)  (20 122) 

Income tax expense ..............................................   -  (1 735)  -  -  (1 735) 

Other material non-cash items:      

- Impairment losses on Sugar Australia JV ........   -  (6 900)  -  -  (6 900) 

- Loss on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment ..........................................................  

 (2 933)  -  -  -  (2 933) 

- Impairment losses on property, plant and 
equipment........................................................  

 -  -  -  -  - 

 

Segment assets 
     

Derivatives ............................................................   577  -  19 674  -  20 251 

Trade & other receivables .....................................   12 913  -  9 020  -  21 933 

Other assets ..........................................................   318 329  -  1 846  33 326  353 501 

Equity accounted investments ..............................   -  81 285  -  31  81 316 

Total segment assets  331 819  81 285  30 540  33 357  477 001 

      

Other reportable items included in assets      

Capital expenditure ...............................................   12 281  3 809  -  -  16 090 

      

Segment Liabilities      

Derivatives ............................................................   -  -  364  -  364 

Trade & other payables .........................................   41 786  -  3 270  -  45 056 

Other liabilities ......................................................   50 039  -  2 696  -  52 735 

Total segment liabilities  91 825  -  6 330  -  98 155 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 
 
(d) Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to amounts reported in the financial statements 
 
 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Revenues   

Total revenue for reportable segments .....................................................   901 975  1 005 729 

Revenue of equity-accounted investments ...............................................   (158 244)  (182 257) 

Unallocated amounts:   

- Finance Revenue ...................................................................................   269  295 

Revenue for other segments .....................................................................   -  - 

Elimination of inter-segment revenue ........................................................   (338 577)  (372 517) 

Elimination of discontinued operations ......................................................   -  - 

Consolidated revenue  405 423  451 250 

   

Profit before tax   

Total profit before tax for reportable segments .........................................   (171 929)  (1 747) 

Profit before tax for other segments ..........................................................   -  - 

Elimination of inter-segment profit (dividend) ............................................   -  - 

Elimination of discontinued operation  .......................................................   -  - 

Unallocated amounts:   

- Corporate expenses ...............................................................................   (5 116)  (6 763) 

- Finance costs .........................................................................................   (13 416)  (12 212) 

- Finance revenue .....................................................................................   269  295 

Consolidated profit before tax from continuing operations  (190 192)  (20 427) 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 
 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Assets   

Total assets for reportable segments ........................................................   294 520  477 001 

Assets for other segments .........................................................................   -  - 

Unallocated amounts:   

-  Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................................   14 941  13 231 

Consolidated total assets  309 461  490 232 

   

Liabilities   

Total liabilities for reportable segments .....................................................   127 849  98 155 

Liabilities for other segments .....................................................................   -  - 

Unallocated amounts:   

- Interest bearing liabilities ........................................................................   153 189  159 615 

- Other financial liabilities ..........................................................................   28 423  27 473 

Consolidated total liabilities  309 461  285 243 

 
 

 

Other material items 

Year ended 31 May 2019 Reportable 
segment totals 

$ô000 

Adjustments 

(Variance) 

$ô000 

Consolidated 
totals 

$ô000 

    

Interest income  181  144  325 

Interest expense  (2 059)  (13 409)  (15 468) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (18 997)  4 409  (14 588) 

Income tax expense  (1 922)  1 922  - 

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV  -  -  - 

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

Impairment losses on non-financial assets  -  -  - 

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  (164 404)  -  (164 404) 

Impairment losses on investment property  (656)  -  (656) 

Capital expenditure  17 165  (3 293)  13 872 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued)  
 

 

Other material items 

Year ended 31 May 2018 Reportable 
segment totals 

$ô000 

Adjustments 

(Variance) 

$ô000 

Consolidated 
totals 

$ô000 

Interest income  138  218  356 

Interest expense  (1 095)  (12 206)  (13 301) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (20 122)  3 520  (16 602) 

Income tax expense  (1 735)  1 735  - 

Loss on impairment of Sugar Australia JV  (6 900)  -  (6 900) 

Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  (2 933)  -  (2 933) 

Impairment losses on non-financial assets  -  -  - 

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

Capital expenditure  16 090  (3 809)  12 281 

  
 
(e) Revenue from external customers for each product and service 
 
An analysis of the Groupôs revenue from external customers for each major product and service category is as 
follows: 
 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

    

Raw sugar sales ........................................................................................   200 571  205 084 

Refined sugar sales ...................................................................................   158 119  182 180 

Electricity sales ..........................................................................................   13 379  20 578 

Molasses sales ..........................................................................................   24 681  28 254 

Sundry sales ..............................................................................................   459  292 

Transport, storage and handling services .................................................   1 758  1 797 

Sundry services revenue ...........................................................................   61  47 

Rental revenue ..........................................................................................   619  571 

Dividends received ....................................................................................   2 258  2 127 

Insurance proceeds ...................................................................................   4 060  4 030 

Other revenue ............................................................................................   938  891 

Finance revenue ........................................................................................   181  139 

Total revenue from external customers  ...............................................   407 084  445 990 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued)  
 
(f) Geographic information 
 
The Raw Sugar Milling segment and Other Investments segment operate in Mackay and Mossman in Queensland, 
Australia, and obtain all revenue from within Australia.  The Refined Sugar segment operates throughout Australia 
and New Zealand, with the majority of revenue coming from the country of operations.  The Commodity Trading 
segment operates from Mackay, Queensland, Australia and obtains revenue from varying countries around the 
world on a yearly basis.  The geographic information below analyses the Groupôs revenue, profit before tax, and 
non-current assets by the companyôs country of domicile and other countries.  In presenting the following 
information, segment information has been based on the geographic location of the assets and operations in which 
the segment activities take place. 
 
 

   May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 

 $ô000 

Revenue from external customers   

Australia .....................................................................................................   357 444  395 010 

All foreign countries   

- New Zealand ..........................................................................................   47 334  48 898 

- Singapore ...............................................................................................   2 306  2 082 

  407 084  445 990 

   

Profit before tax   

Australia .....................................................................................................   (176 861)  (6 246) 

All foreign countries   

- New Zealand ..........................................................................................   4 825  4 389 

- Singapore ...............................................................................................   107  110 

  (171 929)  (1 747) 

Non-current assets   

Australia .....................................................................................................   222 292  389 589 

All foreign countries   

- New Zealand ..........................................................................................   32 863  31 982 

- Singapore ...............................................................................................   3 402  3 017 

  258 557  424 588 

 
(g) Major customer 
 
Revenues from one external customer of the Groupôs Raw Sugar Milling segment represented approximately 
$164,366,449 (2018: $168,453,751) of the Groupôs total revenues. 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 
 
(h) Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Groupôs revenue from contracts with customers by segment: 
 

 Reportable segments 

Year ended 31 May 2019 Raw Sugar 
Milling 

$ô000 

Refined 
Sugar 

$ô000 

Commodity 
Trading 

$ô000 

Other 
Investments 

$ô000 

Total 

 

$ô000 

Type of goods or services      

Raw sugar sales ...................................................   -  -  309 854  -  309 854 

Electricity sales .....................................................   21 655  -  -  -  21 655 

Molasses sales .....................................................   24 681  -  -  -  24 681 

Sundry sales .........................................................   343  -  -  -  343 

Transport, storage and handling services .............   1 758  -  2 475  -  4 233 

Refinery services ..................................................   511  -  -  -  511 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   48 948  -  312 329  -  361 277 

      

Timing of revenue recognition      

Goods transferred at a point in time ......................   30 097  -  309 854  -  339 951 

Goods and services transferred over time ............   18 851  -  2 475  -  21 326 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   48 948  -  312 329  -  361 277 

      

Reconciliation of revenue from contracts with customers to segment revenue   

Total segment revenue .........................................   392 636  158 244  348 202  2 893  901 975 

Adjustments and eliminations:      

Non-contract revenue ...........................................   (5 111)  -  (35 873)  (2 893)  (43 877) 

Revenue of equity-accounted investees ...............   -  (158 244)  -  -  (158 244) 

Inter-segment revenue ..........................................   (338 577)  -  -  -  (338 577) 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   48 948  -  312 329  -  361 277 
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Note 36: Segment reporting (continued) 
 
(h) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 

 Reportable segments 

Year ended 31 May 2018 Raw Sugar 
Milling 

$ô000 

Refined 
Sugar 

$ô000 

Commodity 
Trading 

$ô000 

Other 
Investments 

$ô000 

Total 

 

$ô000 

Type of goods or services      

Raw sugar sales ...................................................   -  -  342 189  -  342 189 

Electricity sales .....................................................   29 111  -  -  -  29 111 

Molasses sales .....................................................   28 254  -  -  -  28 254 

Sundry sales .........................................................   168  -  -  -  168 

Transport, storage and handling services .............   1 797  -  2 204  -  4 001 

Refinery services ..................................................   546  -  -  -  546 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   59 876  -  344 393  -  404 269 

      

Timing of revenue recognition      

Goods transferred at a point in time ......................   37 048  -  342 189  -  379 237 

Goods and services transferred over time ............   22 828  -  2 204  -  25 032 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   59 876  -  344 393  -  404 269 

      

Reconciliation of revenue from contracts with customers to segment revenue   

Total segment revenue .........................................   437 280  182 257  383 471  2 721  1 005 729 

Adjustments and eliminations:      

Non-contract revenue ...........................................   (4 887)  -  (39 078)  (2 721)  (46 686) 

Revenue of equity-accounted investees ...............   -  (182 257)  -  -  (182 257) 

Inter-segment revenue ..........................................   (372 517)  -  -  -  (372 517) 

Total revenue from contracts with customers .   59 876  -  344 393  -  404 269 
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Note 37: Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
(a) Revenue  
 
The Group has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the statement of profit or loss: 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 
 $ô000 

Revenue from contracts with customers:     

Raw sugar sales ...............................................................................................  309 854 342 189 

Electricity sales .................................................................................................  21 655 29 111 

Molasses sales and services ............................................................................  24 681 28 254 

Sundry sales .....................................................................................................  343 168 

Transport, storage and handling services ........................................................  4 233 4 001 

Refinery services ..............................................................................................  511 546 

Total revenue from contracts with customers ............................................   361 277  404 269 

 

Revenue from other sources: 

  

  

  

 

Finance revenue ...............................................................................................  325 356 

Lease and rental income ..................................................................................  587 594 

Sugar pricing gains / (losses) ...........................................................................  35 816 38 834 

Dividend income ...............................................................................................  2 258 2 127 

Government subsidy income ............................................................................  845 773 

Insurance revenue ............................................................................................  4 060 4 030 

Other miscellaneous income ............................................................................  255 267 

Total revenue from other sources ................................................................   44 146  46 981 

   

Total revenue ..................................................................................................   405 423  451 250 

 
A disaggregation of the Groupôs revenue from contracts with customers by segment is set out in note 36(h). 
 
Included in the above amounts in relation to revenue from contracts with customers are the following: 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 
 $ô000 

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the 

beginning of the period .....................................................................................  

 

Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous 

periods: 

Raw sugar sales ...............................................................................................  

Molasses sales .................................................................................................  

   

- 

 

 

  

283 

 110 

   

 - 

 

 

 

973 

 217 

 
The above revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods relates to the finalisation 
of prices in the current period for raw sugar and molasses sales that were made in the previous period.  
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Note 37: Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
(b) Contract receivables, assets and liabilities 
 
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract receivables, assets and liabilities: 
 
 

  May 

 2019 

 $ô000 

 May 

 2018 
 $ô000 

Opening balances as at the beginning of the period:     

Contract receivables .........................................................................................  11 998 16 400 

Contract assets .................................................................................................  - - 

Asset recognised for costs incurred to fulfil contracts ......................................  - - 

Contract liabilities .............................................................................................  - - 

 

Closing balances as at the end of the period: 

  

Contract receivables .........................................................................................  11 652 11 998 

Contract assets .................................................................................................  - - 

Asset recognised for costs incurred to fulfil contracts ......................................  - - 

Contract liabilities .............................................................................................  - - 

 
The Group recognises a contract asset during the period in relation to a contract where control transfers to the 
customer prior to physical delivery.  As the Groupôs financial period has been setup to align with its operating 
season and revenue cycle, all physical deliveries have been completed by period end and thus no contract asset 
is required to be recognised at period end. 
 
A significant portion of the contract receivables at period end relate to variable consideration from various 
contracts where the Group has supplied sugar and molasses and completed its performance obligations, but is 
waiting on the finalisation of pricing before full and final consideration is determined and received. 
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Note 37: Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
(c) Unsatisfied performance obligations 
 
The aggregate amount of the transaction prices allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied as at 31 
May 2019 is $193,880,428  (2018: $440,661,375). 
 
An analysis of when the Group expects the above amounts to be recognised as revenue is as follows: 
 

 $ô000   

 

Unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 May 2019: 

During the next financial year ended 31 May 2020 ..........................................  

During the financial year ended 31 May 2021 ..................................................  

During the financial year ended 31 May 2022 ..................................................  

After 31 May 2022 ............................................................................................  

  

 

192 280 

1 600 

- 

- 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Total unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 May 2019 ..................  193 880  

 

Unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 May 2018: 

During the next financial year ended 31 May 2019 ..........................................  

During the financial year ended 31 May 2020 ..................................................  

During the financial year ended 31 May 2021 ..................................................  

After 31 May 2021 ............................................................................................  

 

 

298 661 

142 000 

- 

- 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Total unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 May 2018 ..................  440 661  

 
The Group has significant variable consideration across a number of revenue contracts.  The variability is primarily 
due to future sugar and molasses prices which are determined by global markets; and sugar and molasses sale 
quantities which can vary due to weather and other seasonal conditions.  The above amounts have been based on 
the minimum revenue expected to be received for the unsatisfied performance obligations on these contracts 
assuming current economic and operational conditions.  As such, it is possible that these assumptions may not 
reflect the actual conditions that result in the future and the above revenue amounts may not be realised.  As 
conservative estimates have been used in these assumptions, a significant amount of variable consideration has 
been constrained and not included in the above amounts. 
 
The Group has a significant long term contract with 51.75 years remaining as at the end of the period.  The Group 
believes that for as long as it remains a going concern it will need to continue to supply under this arrangement.  
The future quantities to be supplied under this contract are unknown until the beginning of an operating season, at 
which time the exact quantities for that year are determined.  Therefore, in relation to this contract, only expected 
revenue from unsatisfied performance obligations for the next financial year have been included in the above 
figures.  Expected revenue from performance obligations in the remaining years has been fully constrained as 
minimum quantities to be supplied have not been stipulated in the contract. 
 
 
(d) Costs incurred in relation to revenue contracts  
 
The Group has not incurred any costs in relation to revenue contracts that have been required to be capitalised as 
an asset.  Accordingly, there has not been any amortisation or impairment losses of contract revenue costs 
recognised as an asset during the period. 
 
Note: Further disclosures required by AASB15 are included in óNote 1(t) Revenue from contracts with customersô.  
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Note 38:  Economic dependency 
 
Mackay Sugarôs raw sugar production is dependent on the supply of sugar cane from the Mackay and Mossman 
regions sugar cane farmers and the continuing government and community support for the Mackay and Mossman 
regions as sugar producing regions. 
 
Note 39:  Company details 
 
The registered office of Mackay Sugar is: 
 
 Mackay Sugar Limited 

ABN  12 057 463 671 
Corporate office 
Peak Downs Highway 
Racecourse via Mackay 
Queensland   4740 
Australia 
 

The principal places of business are: 
 

Mackay Sugar ï Farleigh Mill 
Armstrong Street 
Farleigh via Mackay 
Queensland   4741 
Australia 
 
Mackay Sugar ï Marian Mill 
Anzac Avenue 
Marian 
Queensland   4753 
Australia 
 
Mackay Sugar ï Pleystowe Mill 
Eungella Road 
Pleystowe via Mackay 
Queensland    4741 
Australia 
 
Mackay Sugar ï Racecourse Mill 
Peak Downs Highway 
Racecourse via Mackay 
Queensland   4740 
Australia 
 
Mackay Sugar ï Mossman Mill 
Mill Street 
Mossman 
Queensland   4873 
Australia 
 
Queensland Commodity Services Pty Ltd ï Brisbane 
Level 5, 444 Queen Street 
Brisbane 
Queensland   4000 
Australia
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